

Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime: a London Case Study **dr jonathan githens-mazer and dr robert lambert mbe**



Contents

About the authors	3
About the EMRC	4
Dedication	5
Foreword	6
Preface	7
Acknowledgements	9
Abbreviations	10
Executive Summary	II.
Research methodology	14
Terminology	17

Research findings

1	Introduction	18
2	Serious anti-Muslim hate crimes	20
2.1.	Significance of David Copeland case and Stephen Lawrence Inquiry	20
2.2.	Neil Lewington: extremist nationalist convicted of bomb plot	23
2.3.	Terence Gavan: extremist nationalist convicted of manufacturing nail bombs	25
2.4.	Gang attack on Muslim students at City University	26
2.5.	Gang attack on Yasir Abdelmouttalib	32
2.6.	Murder of Ikram Syed ul-Haq	34
2.7.	Serious assault on Imam at London Central Mosque	36
2.8.	Arson attack on Greenwich Islamic Centre	37
3.	Low level street assaults, abuse and intimidation of Muslims	38
3.1.	Death threats and threats of harm	40
3.2.	Unreported anti-Muslim hate-crimes	41
3.3.	Impact of British National Party	42
4.	Conclusion: Londoners' resilience and good citizenship	43
		15
Appendix: Islamophobia: Islamophobic Hate Crime by Tim Parsons		45
Bibliog	raphy	48

2

About the Authors

Jonathan Githens-Mazer and Robert Lambert became research partners in October 2007. Since then and prior to this current project they have conducted numerous interviews with Muslim Londoners, especially those with family backgrounds in North Africa. This earlier research project sought to understand how myths, memories and symbols of the past affected contemporary forms of political activism - literally how stories that grandparents tell grandchildren about the colonial past make a difference to worldviews and the politics of the 'street'. What began as a project to chart how these stories created a basis for violence, through radicalisation, rapidly became a study that examined how colonial and contemporary political repression reverberated through European North African communities today. It became apparent that these communities chafed at the popular use of terms such as 'radicalisation', believing that they unfairly stigmatised Muslims who feel an obligation to become politically active in the present to prevent the what they perceive as the horrors of the past recurring today.

These research observations suggested that the popular and pejorative notions of politically active Muslim Londoners as subversive and sectarian threats did not match the reality on the ground. Instead, according to our research, the small number of Muslim Londoners who in the last decade could be accurately described as threats to the well being of the city – perhaps Abu Hamza a former Khatib at the North London Central Mosque is the most well known figure in this category – had been effectively challenged by the very same Muslim Londoners who had most often been wrongly conflated with them. The authors rapidly concluded that this was not only grossly unfair, but also liable to be tangibly counter-productive in terms of London's security and the enhancement of community cohesion. For this reason they have argued that the UK government's strategy to prevent violent extremism has at times been undermined by advisors, most notably the Quilliam Foundation, who target mainstream London-based Muslim organisations as subversive threats when the evidence suggests they are often credible and effective opponents of violent extremism (Githens-Mazer and Lambert, 2009a,b,c and d).

Both authors have personal experience of the power and effectiveness of cross-cultural alliances against bigotry, in one case in support of disadvantaged and alienated black citizens in Baltimore and the other in support of disadvantaged and alienated Muslim citizens in London. It is not surprising therefore that their partnership should be characterised by a notion of empowering marginalised and disadvantaged communities. This report represents the beginning of a research project that is planned to investigate the adverse community impact of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime across Europe over a ten year period. The authors are determined to influence government, media, police, public servants and public attitudes and thereby contribute to solutions to the problem before it escalates further. In doing so they will maintain a daily presence in London, their research hub, in support of which the University of Exeter Streatham campus provides an ideal location for supportive reflection and analysis.

About the European Muslim Research Centre (EMRC)

Our core value is that a growing European Muslim population makes significant and valuable contributions to the safety, prosperity and cohesion of European communities and countries and to the well being of Europe as a whole.

We reject, as fundamentally flawed, the position currently held by too many commentators: that European Muslims, Islam and strict adherence to Islam poses a threat to the safety, cohesion and well being of communities and countries in Europe. The research undertaken and sponsored by the EMRC builds upon this value – seeking to highlight and constructively engage with communities, practitioners and policy makers where these contributions seem especially relevant and valuable to the development of 21st century Europe. This means that research conducted by the EMRC is 'action' oriented – seeking not only to make methodologically rigorous academic contributions to understandings of the roles that Muslim communities play in European society, but also engaging with practitioners, policy makers and the public to translate this work into practice. The EMRC research agenda is posited on the belief that overly negative or non-constructive analyses of the contribution of Muslim communities to European society, if left unchallenged, may create the conditions necessary by which these pernicious ideas become a self-fulfilling prophecy.

We therefore aim to share with European citizens a far more optimistic, and we would argue, far better informed analysis of the roles played by their Muslim neighbours. We will do so by contributing research findings that are based on in-depth engagement with Muslims themselves, so that Muslim voices can be heard on their own terms, not relegated or obscured by outside and top-down commentators. We will therefore be joining a small but important body of academics who have been working tirelessly to the same end for a number of years. We acknowledge their influence and have every intention of building partnerships with them and of highlighting the results of research projects they have undertaken.

However, in addition, we have an original contribution to make. EMRC's core guiding principles derive from the findings of close engagement with Muslim communities in the UK's capital city over a long period and to a lesser extent with Muslim communities in other UK and European towns and cities. In contemporary London we assess that the overwhelming majority of Muslims who interpret Islam as directing and informing their public political behaviour as well as their personal and private behaviour do so to the benefit of the city and their fellow Londoners. These benefits, in our experience, extend across many fields of civic conduct but most especially in regard to security and social cohesion, in London and beyond. We therefore admit to being 'London-centric' and although this is a valuable perspective it is one we aim to expand in the future, not least by working with key partners in other UK and European towns and cities.

EMRC shares Muslim communities' concern with political agendas that view Muslims principally through lenses of 'security' or 'cohesion' – agendas which, unchecked, can serve to stigmatise, alienate and isolate inhabitants of European countries who happen to be Muslim. EMRC is particularly concerned about the use of the 'war on terror' and counter-insurgency paradigms, as well as blasé attitudes towards the use of torture and the infringement of civil liberties which are blunt and counter-productive tools for tackling terrorist threats. Moreover, EMRC does not accept that Islamically inspired political thought or politics pose inherent threats to the West. In our experience radical Muslim leaders have often played valuable and undervalued roles in support of the values shared by fellow citizens of different faiths and no faith. Just as radical Christians interpret the New Testament as providing a positive framework for their public, political activity so too do many contemporary Muslims regard Islam as a basis for positive political engagement with national and local political institutions. Nor do we suggest that all Muslims should feel this way about their religion - merely that there be space for those who do to be politically active.

For these reasons and more, we launch our first research report in January 2010: *Islamophobia and Anti Muslim Hate Crime: a London case study;* an introductory report that highlights the issues we will present and analyse in a ten year research project involving towns and cities across Europe. A more detailed analysis of our London data alongside an analysis of data from other UK towns and cities will be included in our next report *Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime in the UK* which will be published in July 2010. Whereas our first report is concerned with highlighting the problem of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime, our follow-up report will contain detailed proposals to facilitate long term solutions.

Both in this research project and our other ventures we intend to produce rigorous qualitative research that reflects the realities of day to day life for Muslims in Europe. The overwhelming

majority of European Muslims live in underprivileged urban areas of towns and cities and that is where our research focus lies. Over the next ten years we aim to illuminate those lives and to address the political issues that surround them. By selecting a case study of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime in London for our first report we do not suggest that these are the only serious problems facing European Muslims nor that London faces an especially acute problem. Rather we assess that Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime, like the terrorist threat that often motivates it, has a devastating and disproportionate adverse impact on communities and community cohesion and is often wrongly diagnosed. London, we assess, is an appropriate starting point for our research because Londoners have a long history of experiencing and confronting bigotry and hate crimes and because it has become an important hub of analysis of the problem.

The content and the methodology chosen for the report illustrate our central purpose: to produce high quality, long-term, empirical research on the experience of Muslims in European towns and cities. We have chosen the topic of Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime because it has become a serious problem in many European towns and cities. In our assessment Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime require the same kind of urgent and thorough attention that policy makers, public servants and researchers have afforded to the problems of racism, anti-Semitism and homophobia in recent years. Our starting point is London but we aim to compare and contrast experience here with experience in key towns and cities across Europe in the months and years ahead.

Jonathan Githens-Mazer and Robert Lambert Co-directors, European Muslim Research Centre For further details contact the European Muslim Research Centre at: **www.exeter.ac.uk/emrc/**

Dedication

This report is dedicated to Yasir Abdelmouttalib, a talented and committed PhD student, whose prospects of an exciting and productive academic career were cut short when he was brutally attacked and seriously injured by a gang of youths while on his way to Friday jumma prayer at the London Central Mosque in June 2004. During the assault he was struck several times on the head with a road sweeper's broom. As a result Yasir was in a coma for three months and his doctors feared he would not recover consciousness. Mercifully, he did but as a result of brain injuries he has remained partially paralysed, partially blind, largely housebound, frequently bedridden, and reliant on constant nursing care provided by his family. Nevertheless, the commitment he showed before he was attacked still shines through the disabilities he has been forced to endure and he has made a small but significant recovery.

We are therefore honoured to be working closely with Yasir and his family to establish ways in which we can help him recommence his academic studies and ensure that his legacy is a positive one, which serves to reduce the risk of other young Londoners becoming victims of anti-Muslim hate crime. We also dedicate this report to known and unknown Londoners who have been attacked and abused during the last decade because their assailants thought, rightly or wrongly, that they were Muslims. Clearly, most times, the assailants were right. Moreover, if in 2001 anti-Muslim hate crime was sometimes misdirected towards Sikhs and Hindus, by 2009 that kind of error on the part of attackers had generally been remedied by them. Evidence in this report suggests that gangs and individuals had by the end of the decade become reasonably competent in identifying their intended Muslim targets.

Whereas in the past Londoners became accustomed to attacks on vulnerable victims that their assailants described as 'Paki bashing' or 'queer bashing', it is now clear that 'Muslim bashing' has become an anti-social and dangerous London street phenomenon in its own right. Policy makers, police, public servants generally and academics owe it to Muslim victims and their families to analyse and respond to the threat effectively. That would be a task Yasir Abdelmouttalib could help guide and inform.

Foreword

Over the Centuries many ethnic and religious groups have become the subject of hatred and vilification because they in some way threatened British identity. At various times Germans, Roman Catholics, Jews and West Indians have all fallen into this category.

Today this unenviable outcast role is occupied by British Muslims. There are special rules of discourse when it comes to Muslims. It is permissible to fabricate malicious falsehoods and therefore ferment hatred against Muslims in a way which would be regarded as immoral and illegal if perpetrated against any other vulnerable section of society.

One of the achievements of Jonathan Githens-Mazer and Robert Lambert's very powerful study is to expose the shocking consequences of this inhumane culture of contempt. One of them is violence. The constant assault on Muslims from certain politicians, and above all in the mainstream media, has created an atmosphere where hate crimes, ranging from casual abuse to arson and even murder, are bound to occur and are even in a sense encouraged by mainstream society. These ugly rules of public discourse are also a gift to far right political parties and in particular the BNP, which increasingly singles out Britain's Muslim community for special attack.

These violent attacks will only grow worse, and the anti-Islamic rhetoric will intensify, unless wider society takes action – and at present many decent people are not even aware of the problem. So this study, and indeed the creation of the European Muslim Research Centre, answers an urgent need to expose the lies, falsehoods and abuse which has become such a natural part of public discourse.

More than that, the authors have opened up a public debate about the actions that all of us – politicians, police, media and all decent citizens – urgently need to join if we are to halt this inhumane and dangerous contempt for British Muslims.

Peter Oborne

Political Commentator, Dispatches: War on Terror – 'It Shouldn't Happen to a Muslim', Channel 4 Co-Author of the Essex Report and Journalist, Daily Mail

Preface

Be under no illusion, we are at war. And it is a war we are losing badly.... I am so sick and tired of hearing nationalists talk of killing Muslims, of blowing up mosques, of fighting back... the time has come to stop the talk and start to act...

Martin Gilleard, violent extremist nationalist, convicted of manufacturing nail bombs in 2008 [Hasan, 2009]

The perils of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime threaten to undermine basic human rights, fundamental aspects of citizenship and co-existing partnerships for Muslims and non-Muslims alike in contemporary Europe. Routine portrayals of Islam as a religion of hatred, violence and inherent intolerance have become key planks for the emergence of extremist nationalist, anti-immigration politics in Europe – planks which seek to exploit populist fears and which have the potential to lead to Muslim disempowerment in Europe. Sections of the media have created a situation where the one serves to heighten the unfounded claims and anxieties of the other - such that politicians from Austria to the Britain, and the Netherlands to Spain, feel comfortable in using terms like "Tsunamis of Muslim immigration", and accuse Islam of being a fundamental threat to a "European way of life". While in many cases, the traction of this populist approach reflects an ignorance of Islamic faith, practice and belief, there are many think-tanks which are currently engaged in promoting erroneous depictions of Islam and Muslim political beliefs through unsubstantiated and academically baseless studies, and a reliance on techniques such as 'junk-polling'.

Prior to researching Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime in London, we worked with Muslim Londoners to research the contested notion of what is widely termed by academics and policy makers as "violent radicalisation" (Githens-Mazer, 2010, Lambert 2010). To a large extent it was that prior research experience that persuaded us to embark on this new project. That is to say, there is an important link between the two areas of work which we should explain at the outset. Since 9/11 Muslim Londoners, no less than Muslims in towns and cities across Europe, have often been unfairly stigmatised as subversive threats to state security and social cohesion, sometimes characterised as a fifth column (Cox and Marks 2006, Gove 2006, Mayer and Frampton 2009). We do not suggest that this stigmatisation did not exist before 9/11, still less do we argue that it revolves solely around the issues of security and social cohesion, but we do claim that the response to 9/11 – 'the war on terror' - and much of the rhetoric that has surrounded it has played a significant part in increasing the public perception of European Muslims as potential enemies rather than potential partners and neighbours.

From our perspectives and experience, both academic and practitioner, the rise of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime is morally abhorrent and needs to be countered. Muslim communities in the UK and Europe have important contributions to make to the local communities and broader societies in which they live. Yet to date, these communities, and Islam more broadly, are often the subject of misunderstanding and vilification. Whereas Islamic legal and political traditions have, at key points, inspired and informed Western political and intellectual traditions, and Muslims in Europe have historically made, and especially today continue to make, important contributions at every level of British and European society, portrayals of their religion and identity still often seem to focus on terrorism, intolerance, and issues such as the veil. While such portrayals are unjust and empirically untrue, they still appear to academically, politically and popularly inform perceptions of Islam in Britain and Europe. This insidious phenomenon runs the very real risk of driving deep divisions through European societies, and of alienating friends, neighbours and political partners.

Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime: a London case study represents an initial and introductory first report for the newly formed European Muslim Research Centre (EMRC). Initial and introductory because this is a long-term ongoing project, and what follows here is only the tip of the iceberg. We are particularly pleased to be presenting the report at the London Muslim Centre (LMC) in Whitechapel on 28 January 2010. In important respects both the venue and location are symbolic. At the end of the nineteenth century and again in the twentieth century Whitechapel has been at the hub of resistance to anti-Semitic and anti-racist violence (Catterral, 1994; Malek 2006). Most famously in the 1930s in opposition to Oswald Mosley's fascist Blackshirts (Dorril, 2007), and again in the 1970s and 1980s in opposition to the National Front (NF), Londoners united in Whitechapel to defeat the sectarian street violence that invariably accompanies fascist, neo-Nazi politics (Hann and Tilsey 2003). After analysing our research findings we anticipate that Londoners will once again need to unite in Whitechapel against a violent, sectarian threat during the next decade. Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime: a London case study is therefore our first contribution to what we anticipate will again be a successful,

long-term grass roots campaign against the politics of hate. The extremist nationalist politics that once targeted Jews and Asians in East London is now unambiguously aimed at Muslims (BNP 2006, 2009).

Suffice to say Whitechapel is now home to many poor Muslim families in the way that it once was home to poor Jewish families. LMC is at the hub of numerous good citizenship initiatives in Whitechapel and surrounding areas and serves local Muslims and other local citizens well (Jameson 2009, Green and Silver 2009). The LMC itself binds together different sections of London Muslim communities, and stands as a key site of social, cultural and political organisation - an Islamically inspired form of political organisation which is occasionally portrayed as a threat by key commentators and policy makers. Not only does our research challenge this kind of analysis of Islamically inspired political organisation, it suggests that Muslim Londoners and their neighbours and allies will need to overcome mainstream as well as extremist bigotry before they can claim any kind of success. This is why we have set aside the next ten years to monitor and facilitate progress.

For us, the method to counter Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime is clear: education. By creating an unimpeachable body of academic work, and by creating mechanisms to empower Muslim communities to put forward their positions now and in the future, we hope to help dispel the ignorance that has thus far fuelled the populist appeal of Islamophobia and the hate crimes it spawns, and challenge those individuals and organisations that seek to pursue agendas that demonise and alienate European Muslims. At its most basic, the European Muslim Research Centre (EMRC) will seek to engage these kinds of falsehoods, and seek to explore, teach and examine the nuances of Muslim contributions in the European context. As an interdisciplinary centre, such a focus will mean contributing to debates about the role of Muslims and Islam from the perspectives of politics, history, law, business studies/economics, sociology, anthropology, literature, English, cultural studies, theology and the sciences. In this way, we hope to take academically sound research and introduce it as a corrective to the current debates over the role of Muslims in contemporary European society.

Finally, we have contributed in recent years to what has become a dense and over-populated field of study: radicalisation, counterradicalisation and de-radicalisation. Nearly 100% of this crossdisciplinary study is focused on Muslims and it has the tendency, both intentionally and unwittingly, to problematise Muslims and their faith. It is our hope that this report will encourage scholars to return to a wider view of the problem of political violence one in which the 'radicalisation' of convicted members of a violent extremist nationalist milieu such as ex-British soldier Terence Gavan receive as much detailed scholarly attention as convicted British Muslims who lacked Gavan's sophisticated bomb making skills.

Jonathan Githens-Mazer and Robert Lambert European Muslim Research Centre January 2010



Acknowledgements

This report is the product of a team effort in which Naima Bouteldja, Musa Danquah, Raja Khan and Ruhul Tarafder have been star players. We have also benefitted enormously from guidance from our advisory board: Anas Altikriti, Mohamed Abdul Bari, Rachel Briggs, John Esposito, Andy Hull, Oliver McTernan, Basheer Nafi and Tim Niblock. The team will inevitably grow as we undertake research in other parts of the UK and then in towns and cities across Europe. However, we are confident that we have assembled a core group of expertise that will provide direction, momentum and quality reporting throughout this new decade.

Several fellow academics have helped and inspired us, none more so than Basia Spalek, Salwa el Awa and Laura McDonald at the University of Birmingham, and we look forward to developing our collaboration with their new Communities, Securities and Justice grouping. We have also benefitted from collaboration with Mary Hickman's Suspect Communities project at London Metropolitan University. Similarly Matthew Goodwin, Stuart Croft, Gwen Griffith-Dickson, Tariq Ramadan, Paddy Hillyard, Marie Breen-Smyth, Richard Jackson and Jeroen Gunning have been inspirational and influential.

Since the Runnymeade Trust first published *Islamophobia: A Challenge For Us All* in 1997, a number of academics and activists in the UK have illuminated what has become a complex and contested topic and without their pioneering work we would not have been equipped to undertake this project. In this category we should mention the invaluable contributions made by Tahir Abbas, Chris Allen, Saied Reza Ameli, Humayan Ansari, Mohammed Aziz, Yahya Birt, Tufyul Choudhury, Liz Fekete, Arun Kundnani, Tariq Madood, Nasar Meer, Tehseen Noorani, Elizabeth Poole and Pnina Werbner.

We have also been informed and instructed by the work of numerous London based community projects concerning Islamophobia, including work by the Muslim Safety Forum (MSF), Forum against Islamophobia and Racism (FAIR), Islamophobia Watch, Engage, Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC), Muslim Public Affairs Committee (MPAC) UK, the Federation of Islamic Student Societies (FOSIS), and the Muslim Council of Britain and its many affiliates.

Less well known but equally valuable has been the work of individual police officers in the Metropolitan and City of London Police. Most notably and providing tangible benefits to this project has been the experience and expertise of Chief Inspector Tim Parsons, Head of Diversity Policing in the City of London Police.

Several London journalists have also become valuable sources of information on the topic, most notably Peter Oborne, Vikram Dodd, Seumas Milne and Madelaine Bunting. As always, Carl Arrindell, Director of Programming at Islam Channel, has been especially helpful.

We also wish to thank the trustees of Islam Expo and the Cordoba Foundation who have provided the funding to launch the European Muslim Research Centre (EMRC) and enabled us to carry out the research for this report. Other groups and individuals have expressed the same interest in funding this research project as it develops throughout the UK and Europe and we welcome their generosity. Not least during an economic recession it behoves academic institutions to look beyond conventional sources of funding to facilitate important and original research. British Muslim businesses are looking to emulate British Jewish businesses that have supported research and monitoring projects concerning anti-Semitic hate crimes. Readers who may also be potential EMRC fundraisers or benefactors or have friends who might be should contact us.

There is a natural tendency when dealing with a corrosive social problem like urban hate crime to overlook the positive impact ordinary decent citizens have when they treat their neighbours with dignity and respect. Therefore, at the outset, we should pay tribute to the overwhelming majority of Londoners who have at important times defended their neighbours from vilification and attack from a minority of Londoners who have been influenced by the politics of hate. Sometimes good citizenship of this kind has involved sacrifice and bravery yet on most occasions it occurs unremarked in daily encounters where common courtesies are extended to members of minority communities who are otherwise subjected to abuse. We include individual Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers and staff in this tribute because we have compelling evidence of so much outstanding work they have done to help victims of hate crime achieve justice and recovery. This acknowledgement of outstanding police work is important because it has inevitably often been overshadowed by a small number of notable failings. However, outstanding commitment from individual police officers alone will not remedy a problem that requires the same kind of impetus John Grieve brought to bear on the problem of racist hate crime in London. Brave leadership and partnership of the kind provided and epitomised by Doreen Lawrence and John Grieve will be required during the next decade.

Most importantly we wish to thank the victims of hate-crimes and their friends and associates who have taken part in interviews and discussions for this report. Their experience is what matters and any merit in the report is due to it. Any mistakes in the report are entirely our own and if readers bring them to our attention we will look to remedy them in future reports on the same topic.

Jonathan Githens-Mazer and Robert Lambert European Muslim Research Centre January 2010

Abbreviations

ACPO	Association of Chief Police Officers
ACPO TAM	ACPO Terrorist and Allied Matters Committee
ACSO	Assistant Commissioner Specialist Operations (MPS)
BMI	British Muslim Initiative
BNP	British National Party
CSC	Centre for Social Cohesion
CST	Community Security Trust
DCLG	Department for Communities and Local Government
EDL	English Defence League
ELM	East London Mosque
GLA	Greater London Authority
HT	Hizb ut Tahrir (UK)
HMIC	Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabularies
IAG	Independent Advisory Group (MPS)
	Islamic Cultural Centre (London)
IFE	Islamic Forum Europe
IHRC	Islamic Human Rights Commission
IIPT	Institute of Islamic Political Thought (London)
IPCC	Independent Police Complaints Commission
LMC	London Muslim Centre
MAB	Muslim Association of Britain
МСВ	Muslim Council of Britain
MCU	Muslim Contact Unit
MPA	Metropolitan Police Authority
MPAC UK	Muslim Public Affairs Committee UK
MPGB	Muslim Parliament of Great Britain
MI5	Security Service
MI6	Secret Intelligence Service
MPS	Metropolitan Police Service
MPSB	Metropolitan Police Special Branch
MSF	Muslim Safety Forum
MWH	Muslim Welfare House
NAMP	National Association of Muslim Police
NBPA	National Black Police Association
NCTT	National Community Tension Team
NF	National Front
NSY	New Scotland Yard
PVE	Preventing Violent Extremism
WTC	World Trade Centre
UAF	United Against Facism
UMO	Union of Muslim Organisations

10

Executive Summary

In this report we introduce empirical evidence that demonstrates tangible links between Islamophobia or anti-Muslim bigotry in both (i) mainstream political and media discourse and (ii) extremist nationalist discourse and anti-Muslim hate crimes. That is to say the report provides *prima facie* and empirical evidence to demonstrate that assailants of Muslims are invariably motivated by a negative view of Muslims they have acquired from either mainstream or extremist nationalist reports or commentaries in the media. Moreover, the evidence is clear that the major motivating factor for violence against Muslims is a negative and false belief that Muslims pose a security or terrorist threat. The evidence arises from compelling and original primary data: interviews with victims, perpetrators and witnesses of hate crimes in London.

Muslim Londoners face a threat of violence and intimidation from three arenas. Firstly from a small violent extremist nationalist milieu that has broadly the same political analysis as the British National Party (BNP) and the English Defence League (EDL). BNP influence is significant but so is the influence of mainstream political commentators. Moreover, whereas the experienced London based *Searchlight* monitors of this same milieu focus on the BNP and the dirty water it swims in as racist and anti-Semitic, this report highlights new tendencies towards anti-Muslim bigotry that have hitherto been understated. Secondly from London gangs who have no allegiance with or affinity to the BNP or the violent extremist nationalist milieu that surrounds that party. Thirdly from ordinary Londoners and visitors to London who have become convinced and angry by negative portrayals of Muslims as terrorists and security threats.

The purpose of the report is to highlight the nature and extent of the problem to politicians, public servants, police, media and the public. It is an initial attempt at identifying what we feel are key issues for further investigation rather than the definitive work on Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime in London, the UK or Europe. As such, it is only the first of what we hope will be many steps in ramping up academic capacity to understand European Muslim communities' experiences in the 21st century. Our next report in July 2010 Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime in the UK will continue along this line, presenting more detailed evidence and making detailed recommendations. For now, politicians, public servants and journalists may wish to reflect on the initial evidence from London which points in places to their own witting and unwitting roles in fostering the Islamophobic climate that gangs and individuals use to justify their attacks on Muslim Londoners. Our research findings are presented

thematically for ease of reference. They are also intended to have a cumulative impact and a clear purpose in terms of policy recommendations. In doing so we hope to reverse a trend that gained momentum in the last decade: the stigmatisation of Muslims as a threat to security.

Just as researchers of racist, anti-Semitic or homophobic attacks in London have never sought to rule out the possibility that a black, Asian, Jewish or gay Londoner might conceivably be attacked in the street for reasons wholly unconnected with his or her ethnicity or lifestyle, neither do we seek to argue that every single assault on a Muslim Londoner is motivated by anti-Muslim bigotry. However, our findings do strongly suggest that politicians and public servants, especially police, should begin to develop policies to ensure attacks on Muslim Londoners are treated with exactly the same seriousness and urgency as all other hate crimes in the capital. To achieve that goal it will be necessary to create a clear category of hate crime: anti-Muslim hate crime (which we think is more accurate) or Islamophobic hate crime.

The following is a summary of the report's main findings:

Nature and scale of anti-Muslim hate crimes in London

- In the last year alone Muslim Londoners have suffered serious anti-Muslim attacks which include murder, serious assaults and arson.
- Less serious assaults, abuse and intimidation of Muslims, occur on a regular basis in the capital.
- The overwhelming majority of anti-Muslim hate crimes consist of spitting and threatening or abusive words and behaviour.
- The majority of anti-Muslim hate crimes are not reported to police either because of a lack of confidence in the police or because victims are unaware of a police interest.
- Significant non-reporting of anti-Muslim hate crimes by victims makes it difficult to assess or quantify the scale of the problem.
- Despite the severity of the problem the overwhelming majority of Londoners display courtesy and respect to their neighbours irrespective of religion or race.
- Anti-Muslim hate crimes are confined to the margins but have increased dramatically during the last decade and have a debilitating impact on victims, families, friends and neighbours.
- Since 9/11 Anti-Muslim hate crimes appear to have become more prevalent than racist hate crimes where black and Asian Londoners are the victims.
- Anti-Muslim hate crimes have not been afforded the same priority attention government and police have invested in racist hate crimes.

Motivation of anti-Muslim hate crimes

- Islamophobic, negative and unwarranted portrayals of Muslim London as *Londonistan* and Muslim Londoners as terrorists, terrorist sympathisers and subversives in sections of the media appear to provide the motivation for a significant number of anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- In a number of cases perpetrators of anti-Muslim hate crimes appear to be motivated to attack their Muslim victims because they associate their victim with Osama bin Laden.
- Members of a violent extremist nationalist milieu are additionally motivated by the politics of the BNP, EDL and other groups in their arena.
- Members of London street gangs are additionally motivated by local animosities with 'Muslim' gangs and a perceived threat to their lifestyle from local convert Muslims.

Location and timing of anti-Muslim hate crimes

- One manifestation of a pejorative and ill-founded association of Muslims with terrorism is the increased prevalence of anti-Muslim hate crimes in the immediate aftermath of terrorist incidents.
- Muslims are generally at less risk of attack when they are in areas of high Muslim population and close to their homes.
- Many anti-Muslim hate crimes occur late in the evening when assailants have been drinking or are drunk.

Identity, description and behaviour of anti-Muslim assailants

- Some gangs and individuals in London who previously engaged in racist hate crimes have now re-focused their criminal attention on Muslim targets.
- Some gangs and individuals in London who have not previously engaged in attacks on racial or other minority communities are now targeting Muslim victims.
- There are two main kinds of attack: either by a gang or by an individual.
- Gangs may sometimes restrict their behaviour to threatening words and behaviour and this can often be extremely intimidating when, typically, a solitary Muslim passenger is being vilified as a terrorist by a gang in an underground train carriage.
- Assailants, whether gangs or individuals, invariably indicate their sentiments and motivation by an explanatory insult linking the victim to terrorism.

Identity and descriptions of Muslim victims

- Anti-Muslim hate crimes are invariably random in nature and so individual victims are not targeted except to the extent that a victim may be briefly targeted when he or she is spotted in a public place.
- Muslim Londoners have family connections in all parts of the world and so victims can have varied and diverse ethnic appearances, just the same as their attackers.
- When a Muslim woman wearing a nicab or burka is attacked the assailant will not always be aware of the ethnic identity of his victim.
- High profile Muslim figures and Muslim organisations are regularly targeted with threatening and abusive hate mail and hate emails.
- Many Muslim Londoners with a distinctive Muslim appearance have been threatened or abused on numerous occasions.

Relationship between racist hate crimes and anti-Muslim hate crimes

- Several perpetrators of anti-Muslim hate crimes have no association with racism and are solely focused on Muslims as targets for violence.
- Motivations for "Paki bashing" and other racist attacks have given way to motivations for attacks on Muslims.
- Whereas victims of racist attacks were invariably men, victims of anti Muslim attacks are often women.

Relationship between British National Party and anti-Muslim hate crimes

- Perpetrators of anti-Muslim hate crimes often share the same political analysis as the British National Party (BNP).
- Although BNP hostility is directed against refugees and Muslims it is Muslims rather than refugees generally who are more often victims of hate crimes.
- A small number of BNP supporters have committed anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- BNP leadership legitimates anti-Muslim hate crimes in eyes of perpetrators.

Preliminary recommendations: police

 Outstanding conduct of majority of Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers are undermined by poor behaviour of a small minority.

- John Grieve's police leadership post Stephen Lawrence Inquiry needed to enhance Muslim community confidence in MPS.
- MPS should engage with critics in Muslim community in same positive way it has done with minority ethnic communities post Stephen Lawrence Inquiry.
- MPS should develop urgent anti-Muslim hate crime strategy with the Muslim Safety Forum (MSF).

Preliminary recommendations: politicians

- Bush and Blair legacy of 'with us or against us' war on terror still has adverse impact in terms of unwittingly promoting and licensing anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- Counter-terrorism strategy still wrongly conflates al-Qaida threat with other Islamist groups which in turn licences anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- Minority of mainstream politicians display Islamophobic attitudes that unwittingly license anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- Government should afford same recognition and status to anti-Muslim hate crimes as all other hate crimes.

Preliminary recommendations: media

- Sections of media unwittingly provide Islamophobic motivation for anti-Muslim hate crimes.
- Media should embrace and promote victims of anti-Muslim hate crimes in the same way as victims of other hate crimes.

Research Methodology

The purpose of this report is to introduce some key issues that will be addressed over a ten year period through an initial and preliminary analysis of data gathered in London. Research participants and interviewees have been chosen because of their expertise. For example, one of our interview team has been active in the anti-racist movement in London for two decades and is able to draw on that experience to approach and interview individuals known to have relevant experience. Similarly we have interviewed former members of London's violent extremist nationalist milieu – a milieu which encourages violent and aggressive behaviour by a small but diverse range of London citizens towards another small but diverse range of London citizens who are Muslims in the name of a narrow form of ultra-ethnic nationalism, defined by race, religion, language and ethnicity. These 'activists' have a long track record of experiences on the opposite side of the police cordon - so to speak - who can also shed original and important light on the topic. The most important interviews conducted for this report, however, have been interviews with victims of hate crimes and we have been indebted to Muslim organisations in London who have helped facilitate them.

Subsequent reports will deal with the same experiences and perspectives in other UK and European towns and cities as well, so as to be able to make comparisons in experiences and responses across Europe. In this introductory report we seek to identify and highlight the key issues emerging from the initial research interviews, meetings and discussions conducted in London between September 2009 and January 2010. To date we have collected data that amounts to over 150 hours of recorded or summarised interviews and discussions. That figure will increase in the months ahead and we will provide a more detailed analysis of the data in our next report (EMRC July 2010).

To introduce key elements of policing as part of our research in this arena Tim Parsons has kindly produced an informed and articulate overview and we have included it in this report as an appendix. In fact *Islamophobia: Islamophobic Hate Crime and the Challenge that Western Societies must rise to* extends well beyond a purely policing role and provides valuable insights for politicians, media and public throughout Europe. Parsons' use of the more familiar term 'Islamophobic hate crime' also serves to remind readers that our 'anti-Muslim hate crime' is merely a suggested alternative. Parsons is a highly experienced and respected police officer who has served in recent years as Head of Diversity Policing in the City of London Police Service. While the report he has prepared for us is very much his personal view it is nevertheless imbued with the unrivalled experience he has of the topic. Parson's report will also be especially helpful when we extend our research interest across Europe because he is one of the few practitioners to have compared issues between towns and cities in different parts of Europe. Last but not least Parson's report benefits from the academic study he has undertaken in this field at Kings College. Due to retire from the police in 2010 and to commence an academic career we sincerely hope Parsons will have time to contribute to this research project as it develops throughout the decade.

Based on bottom-up, ethnographic, qualitative research our project is supported and to a large extent triangulated by reference to other research that is more survey oriented such as the Open Society Institute report Muslims in Europe (Open Society Institute, 2009), Gallup Coexist Index A Global Study of Interfaith Relations (Gallup Coexist, 2009), Gallup's Who Speaks for Islam?: What a Billion Muslims Really Think (Esposito and Mogahed, eds., 2008), the 1990 Trust's Survey, Muslim Views: Foreign Policy and its Effects (1990 Trust, 2006) and the Mayor of London's Muslims in London (Mayor of London, 2006). In addition we recommend readers assess our project in the light of recent rigorous qualitative research that focuses on discrimination in Europe from an ethnic rather than Muslim perspective namely Ethnic Profiling in the European Union: Pervasive, Ineffective and Discriminatory (Open Society Justice Initiative, 2009).

To gain the fullest possible understanding of the community impact of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime we have asked those Muslim Londoners who have agreed to share their experiences and analyses with us to be long-term participants in the research project. This means that instead of merely providing an interview, our participants will utilise a range of research methods: interviews, audio diaries, focus groups and discussion forums.

Most crucially they have been encouraged to reflect at length on the significance of their experiences over a long period. Not only are we keen to gain a better understanding of the topic over the last two decades and throughout this new decade we are also excited by the prospect of enabling London Muslim voices to speak for themselves on the subject and thereby help their London neighbours to better understand the problems they face. In keeping with the overwhelming majority of Muslim Londoners most of the participants in our research project have ethnic origins that made them vulnerable to racist bigotry in the past. Consequently, some of them are able to compare the impact of being physically attacked or verbally abused as a 'paki' or a 'nigger' in the past with the impact of being physically attacked or verbally abused as a 'Muslim terrorist' in the present.

We are especially interested to probe the impact of the British National Party (BNP), the English Defence League (EDL) and a fringe violent extremist nationalist milieu on Muslim Londoners. For at least ten years the BNP has campaigned as an anti-Islam, anti-Muslim party. More recently the EDL has launched a single issue street protest against what it calls 'radical Islam'. Where do these ideas come from? How has the focus shifted from attacks on ethnic minorities to attacks on one single faith community? To help us unpack these questions we have asked former members of the BNP and other extremist nationalist groups like the National Front (NF) and Combat 18 to contribute their experience of London street politics to the study. Serving and retired Metropolitan Police and City of London Police officers have also provided practitioner insights to ensure that the study benefits from a wide range of street experience in the capital. This aspect of the research assumes particular significance with Nick Griffin, leader of the BNP, standing to become the BNP's first MP at the next general election in the London Borough of Barking – nine stops from Whitechapel on the District Line and an East London neighbour of Newham, Waltham Forest, Redbridge, Hackney and Tower Hamlets where most Muslim Londoners live (Mayor of London, 2006).

Gillespie highlights relevant dilemmas with participant research concerning judgments about the validity, veracity and status of research data (Gillespie, 2006). In particular Gillespie focuses on tensions between the subjectivity and objectivity of the researcher; intimacy and distance, i.e. 'how researchers handle the intimacy required to understand social lives and the distance required to stand back and analyse them'; 'relations of power between researchers and researched'; and 'wider questions about the politics and ethics of doing fieldwork and writing ethnography' (Gillespie, 2006: 913).

We are therefore involved in reflexivity and reflection, a research approach that has two basic characteristics: 'careful interpretation' where all 'references to empirical data are the results of interpretation' and 'reflection' which focuses attention 'inwards' towards 'the person of the researcher and 'the relevant research community' (Alvesson and Sköldberg, 2000). Central to a reflective approach, is a concern to explore and document Muslim Londoners' own experiences and perceptions thereby giving access to voices that have largely been overlooked by the welter of policy-driven terrorist and counter-terrorist discourse post 9/11 (Spalek and Lambert, 2008). In a post 9/11 world, Muslims are often viewed with suspicion by the media, politicians, security services and by agencies of the criminal justice system (Poyting and Mason, 2006). Moreover, particular minorities within the Muslim population, notably Salafis and Islamists, are often viewed as problem groups (Spalek and Lambert, 2008). By highlighting neglected and marginalised Muslim voices this project may help to forge new approaches within social science research, in the same way that a focus upon 'race', ethnicity, and indeed gender, previously carved out new pathways within research.

Wherever possible the researchers recorded interviews and/or made contemporaneous notes during interviews and participant observation but on many occasions this was not possible owing to the prevailing environment. As a rule in these circumstances, notes were written up within twenty-four hours and regularly checked and discussed with participants. Recorded interviews were transcribed by a Muslim Londoner with extensive knowledge of the development of local Muslim communities in the capital. Her knowledge of context and idiom enhanced the quality of the transcriptions. Following Kenney's method, the researchers double-checked the accuracy of transcripts by listening to the audio-tapes while reading the transcripts, stopping to ponder inaudible comments before sometimes discussing them with the transcriber or participants (Kenney, 2008: 143). As Kenney suggests this two-staged transcription work is time-consuming but 'essential to ensure the reliability and integrity of critical primary source data' (Kenney, 2008: 143). Again following Kenney in interview transcriptions respondents' 'false starts, filler syllables, pauses, run-ons, and verbal fragments' ('er', 'um', etc) are removed so as to make them easier to read, 'without changing the content of what was said during interviews' (Kenney, 2008: 144).

At particular points in certain interviews documents and videos are discussed. In these cases documentary analysis follows the same criteria applied to an analysis of participant observation and interviews – that is to say, the texts 'do not speak for themselves' but acquire significant meaning when situated within a context set by vigorous analytical and methodological assumptions' (Burnham *et al*, 2004: 188). Texts, like interviewee's recollections of events, are therefore located in a political, community, and chronological context in an effort to authenticate them. However, as Peter Burnham and his co-authors caution, 'the most serious challenge facing users of documentary sources concerns their response to questions of representativeness and meaning' (Burnham *et al*, 2004: 187). Every effort has therefore been made to ensure that the documents and tapes consulted are 'representative of the totality of relevant documents' (Scott, 1990). As recommended by Scott, the researcher has sought to establish 'as much as possible about the conditions under which the text was produced and, on that basis, make sense of the author's situation and intentions' (Scott, 1990).

The researchers also follow Kenney's method by coding primary data after carefully re-reading transcripts and notes line-by-line, 'inductively coding the documents according to themes and concepts', both those he had already identified and those that emerged from the data (Scott, 1990). Although still at an early stage in the process by January 2010 the researchers had assembled an index containing twenty five categories and fifty

sub-categories arising from 'pre-established and newly emergent themes' in the primary data (Kenney, 2008). By July 2010 when we intend to publish our next report, the index will have expanded further and enable us to publish a detailed analysis of the data. During this process the researchers listen repeatedly to audio recordings of Nick Griffin and other key figures alongside primary data so as to better comprehend similarities and differences. This helps the researchers to expand their written notes documenting reflections on the research themes and methodological issues, a process Kenney and other qualitative researchers refer to as 'memoing' (Kenney, 2008: 145). In consequence further amendments, improvements and connections between different themes gradually emerge so as to begin to convert them into what Kenney calls a 'coherent theoretical narrative' (Kenney, 145). That narrative extends from the specific themes that emerge in each interview through to a cumulative analysis. We aim to introduce that cumulative analysis in this report but to provide a fuller account of it in our next report in July 2010.



Terminology

There are four terms we use consistently in the report that require a brief comment: Islamophobia; hate crime; anti-Muslim hate crime; and violent extremist nationalist milieu.

Islamophobia

We fully appreciate the significance of both nuanced and reductive academic, policy, media and public debates about the meaning, application and deficiencies of the term 'Islamophobia'. Yahya Birt offers a particularly insightful overview of current academic perspectives concerning the term which we found extremely helpful (Birt, 2009). Birt is surely right when he anticipates the potential value of three new books due to be published on the topic later in 2010. There is every reason to expect that Chris Allen's *Islamophobia* to be published by Ashgate will prove to be a seminal text and confirm his position as one of the most experienced and respected scholars in the field. Like Birt we have been immensely impressed with Maleiha Malek's 2009 collection 'Anti-Muslim Prejudice in the West: Past and Present', published as a special issue of the academic journal Patterns of Prejudice. Non-academic readers will be pleased to learn that this outstanding collection will be published by Routledge this year as Anti-Muslim Prejudice: Past and Present. Birt himself is one of several important contributors to *Thinking* Through Islamophobia edited by S. Sayyid and Abdoolkarim Vakil, to be published this year (2010) by Hurst.

We will make our own contribution to this valuable discussion in our next research report in July 2010: *Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime in the UK.* For now and for the purposes of this introductory report we would remind readers that the term Islamophobia was originally defined rather broadly and loosely in the Runnymeade Trust's 1997 report *Islamophobia: A Challenge For Us All* as having eight components:

- Islam is seen as a monolithic bloc, static and unresponsive to change;
- Islam is seen as separate and 'other'. It does not have values in common with other cultures, is not affected by them and does not influence them;
- Islam is seen as inferior to the West. It is seen as barbaric, irrational, primitive and sexist;
 Islam is seen as violent, aggressive, threatening, supportive of terrorism and engaged in a 'clash of civilisations';
- 5) Islam is seen as a political ideology and is used for political or military advantage;
- Criticisms made of the West by Islam are rejected out of hand;
- Hostility towards Islam is used to justify discriminatory practices towards Muslims and exclusion of Muslims from mainstream society; and
- 8) Anti-Muslim hostility is seen as natural or normal.

We agree with 'al-Maktabi', quoted on the *Islamophobia Watch* website homepage, that 'the term Islamophobia does not adequately express the full range and depth of antipathy towards Islam and Muslims in the West today' (Islamophobia Watch, 2010). Al-Maktabi suggests that 'a more accurate expression would be 'anti-Islamic racism' [because] it combines the elements of dislike of a religion and active discrimination against the people belonging to that religion.' We have reservations about the term 'anti-Islamic racism' not least because it fails to acknowledge the prevalence of 'anti-Muslim prejudice' – Maleiha Malek's better term – where racism is sometimes absent. However, despite its shortcomings, Islamophobia is such a well known term that we have decided to use it.

Hate crime

The term 'hate crime' has been embraced by police, policy makers and academics to describe violent crimes that are deemed to be aggravated when the victim has been targeted because of his or her ethnicity, race, lifestyle or religion. The term has gained wide usage in the UK since the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry and has become synonymous with this landmark case. Although we have adopted the term because it is so widely known, we are conscious that it often fails to adequately describe attacks by violent extremist nationalists on their victims. In many cases of this kind London policing has over a century of experience of monitoring and investigating extremist political street violence, often a more telling description that has fallen from wide usage.

Like Islamophobia, hate crime is a relatively new concept for academics, policy makers and practitioners to unpack and interpret. Here we are indebted to the clarity of conceptual thought brought to bear on the topic by Paul Iganski, Neil Chakraborti, Jon Garland and Nathan Hall. Not least because of its focus on hate crime in London Iganski's *Hate Crime in the City* (2008) has been especially instructive.

Anti-Muslim hate crime

We use 'anti-Muslim hate crime' in preference to the more familiar term 'Islamaphobic hate crime' simply because many attacks on Muslims appear to be motivated by a crude political belief that Muslims are a security threat rather than any fear or hatred of Islam *per se*. However, we accept that 'Islamophobic hate crime' is more widely used and generally adequate for its purpose.

Violent extremist nationalist milieu

We think 'violent extremist nationalist milieu' properly describes a fringe political scene in London. However crude and violent it is important to note that it has long political antecedents in the capital. 'Far right extremism' is generally less accurate when describing the street politics involved.

I. Introduction

At the beginning of the new millennium John Grieve, an inspirational London police officer, signalled a new approach to tackling racist hate crime:

In Britain after Stephen Lawrence, every individual and institution has a responsibility to examine their behaviour, perception and prejudices. The defence of unwitting racism is closed. As a member of my Independent Advisory Group explained: 'Passive non-racism is no longer acceptable'. For the Met this is a time of profound change. We have made terrible mistakes and my determination is that, in working more closely than ever before with the communities we serve, we seek to build a police service ready to face the challenges of the new millennium – a millennium that is hostile to racists (Grieve and French, 2000).

Notwithstanding some notable and praiseworthy exceptions, post 9/11 politicians, public servants, police, think-tanks and journalists generally failed to recognise the extent to which unfair and unrepresentative portrayals of Muslims as terrorist and security threats fuelled Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crimes. As a result Grieve's new policing model was not so easily applied to Muslim Londoners as it was to minority ethnic Londoners generally during the same period (Lambert 2010). Londoners therefore owe it to the victims of anti-Muslim hate crimes to extend Grieve's pledge to them so that the new decade becomes hostile to anti-Muslim bigots.

Interviewees with long experience of extremist nationalist street violence in London are unequivocal in their assessment that Muslim Londoners are now a prime target for serious violence and intimidation in the way that Londoners from minority ethnic communities once were.¹ Similarly, interviewees with experience of London street gangs that have no connection or affinity with extremist nationalist politics are adamant that Muslims have become prime targets for serious attacks.² In addition well informed interviewees are clear that the main perpetrators of low level anti-Muslim hate crimes are not gangs but rather simply individuals from a wide range of backgrounds who feel licensed

to abuse, assault and intimidate Muslims in terms that mirror elements of mainstream media and political comment that became commonplace during the last decade.

Since the Runnymeade Trust's seminal report Islamophobia: A Challenge For Us All was published in 1997, many small scale community initiatives have tried unsuccessfully to bring government, police, media and public awareness of hate crimes against Muslims to a tipping point that would result in the kind of pro-activity that followed the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry in respect of racist hate crimes and institutional racism in 1999 (Macpherson, 1999; see also Sharp, 2002 and Souhami, 2007). Both conceptually and practically, Islamophobia is a diverse and complex phenomena that will continue to benefit from the penetrating insights key scholars bring to it (see for example Allen 2010; Birt 2010; Malek 2010). However, to do justice to the victims of the City University attacks we believe it is vital to introduce a clear conceptual sub-field to the study of Islamophobia that is understood on the same terms that assailants and their Muslim victims understand it. On London streets during the last decade the football derived chants "we hate Muslims, and we hate Muslims" and "Muslim terrorists off our streets" became familiar accompaniments to anti-Muslim hate crimes that were solely focused on Muslims. The attackers targeted Muslim victims because of a wrongly perceived link between being Muslim and being a terrorist. In this new decade, that phenomenon deserves to be identified, presented, investigated and prosecuted as anti-Muslim hate crime that is motivated by a popular Islamophobic account of Muslims as terrorists. That at least is our assessment of the evidence presented in this report.

During the course of our prior research into 'violent radicalisation' it became clear to us that some of the most effective Muslim Londoners in countering al-Qaida propaganda were also at greatest risk of being stigmatised as subversive threats (Lambert 2008a and 2008b). We heard countless stories of unheralded individuals who, though profoundly 'orthodox' in their religious orientation, or highly 'politicised' because of their Islamic faith, bravely stood up to individuals who were recruiting to, and engaging in terrorist activities despite threats to their personal safety. That these individuals, because of their politics or

^I Interview references AMHC 30-33; 40-43.

^{2} Interview references AMHC 25 – 27.

religious practice were coming under scrutiny from those that disputed their commitment to integration or allegiance to the state seemed profoundly unfair, as well as being inherently counter-productive. In our experience terrorists who conspire to bomb Londoners are best defeated if Londoners with the ability to reduce their effectiveness are embraced as partners not alienated and excluded. There is of course an important caveat to this rule: if any Londoner – Muslim, Christian, Atheist, Jew, Buddhist, whoever - displays hatred towards other Londoners then partnership with public servants for a security or any other civic purpose should be withheld. That is a test usefully suggested by Dean Godson of Policy Exchange (Godson 2007a) but one we assess he has applied wrongly to several London based Muslim organisations. Co-incidentally, some of the same Muslim organisations Godson compares to the BNP have impressive track records of tackling Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime.

Regrettably, our evidence suggests, again with laudable exceptions, that politicians, public servants, think-tanks and journalists who led an effective campaign throughout the last decade to rid London of the scourge of racist violence in the wake of the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, have failed to extend that campaign to the benefit of Muslim Londoners. On the contrary, in some instances, committed anti-racist campaigners have refused to acknowledge that Muslims faced a distinguishable threat or a significant threat at all. This blind spot was most evident to our interviewees when they watched a television panel of Westminster's elite enthusiastically confront Nick Griffin, leader of the BNP, for being a racist and then hesitate when Griffin demonstrated instead his hatred for Muslims (BBC, 2009c).³

Whereas Jack Straw as Home Secretary sent the strongest possible signal to police to give urgent attention to racist hate crimes in the wake of Lord Macpherson's report in 1999, there was no suggestion in his televised panel debate with Nick Griffin in 2009 that he recognised, as Justice Secretary, the need to galvanise the same police support for victims of anti-Muslim hate crimes (BBC, 2009c). Instead, perversely, Straw's insistence on focusing on the BNP's racist credentials provides licence to a growing number of extremist nationalists who are only too willing to prove their anti-racist credentials by targeting Muslims instead. Indeed, when groups like the English Defence League (EDL) are reliably informed that politically active Muslims are the same kind of fascist threat as the BNP then they have a licence for anti-fascist street violence.⁴ As an interviewee with twenty years anti-fascist street activity in London explained:

We stood shoulder to shoulder against the Nazi scum in Welling [reference to a major anti-fascist demonstration intended to close the BNP bookshop in Welling on 16 October 1993]. 50,000 minimum. More like 100,000. Got violent, very violent! But it was solid. United. And every night action against the BNP. Try and get those numbers now, won't happen. Not if you say BNP is anti Muslim. Defend the Muslims. Won't work. ... Its been poisoned by a few Islamophobic voices in the movement. That's why what you hear from UAF [United Against Facism] is more anti-racist than anti-Islamophobic ...its why the BNP is more popular... they [BNP] get away with what they say about Muslims because it's what you can read in the papers.⁵

There are no quick fixes here. The negative impact of a decade of pejorative Islamophobic discourse in mainstream politics and the mainstream media will not be rolled back without a massive collective public effort in the new decade. We hope to make a significant academic contribution to empower and facilitate it.

³ Interview references AMHC 01-09.

⁴ Interview references AMHC 30, 40, 41.

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Interview reference AMHC 11.

2. Serious anti-Muslim hate crimes

We have decided to deal with the issue of serious anti-Muslim hate crimes first not - mercifully - because they are more prevalent than less serious incidents but because they cause death and serious, permanent injuries to victims, major suffering to their families and fear and tensions in communities. To this extent, serious anti-Muslim hate crimes are no different to other serious hate crimes committed in the capital. However, whereas a huge investment has been made to support and reassure victims of serious racist hate crimes in the wake of Lord Macpherson's finding of institutional racism against the MPS in 1999 nothing similar has been undertaken to support Muslim victims. On the contrary, interviews with past and present members of the MSF suggest that it has been extremely difficult to persuade police that Islamophobic or anti-Muslim hate crimes should be treated as a significant phenomenon in their own right and not merely as an adjunct to racist or religiously motivated hate crime.⁶ Similarly, Muslim youth workers we have interviewed are concerned that the support offered to other victims of serious hate crime is not always readily available to Muslim victims.⁷ The main reason for this failure appears to be a refusal to accept that Muslims have become the prime target for serious hate crimes in the capital.8

It will therefore be helpful to illustrate key issues with reference to seven cases: Neil Lewington, a violent extremist nationalist convicted in July 2009 of a bomb plot (2.2); Terence Gavan, a violent extremist nationalist convicted in January 2010 of manufacturing nail bombs and other explosives, firearms and weapons (2.3); a gang attack in November 2009 on Muslim students at City University (2.4); a gang assault in June 2004 on PhD student Yasir Abdelmouttalib to whom this report is dedicated (2.5); the murder in September 2009 of Muslim pensioner, Ikram Syed ul-Hag (2.6); a serious assault in August 2007 on the Imam at London Central Mosque (2.7); and an arson attack in June 2009 on Greenwich Islamic Centre (2.8). For the purposes of this introductory report we will focus mainly on the City University attack but before examining these illustrative cases it will be helpful to recall lessons learned in the David Copeland case and the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, both in 1999, so as to begin to trace a shift in focus in the last decade from serious racist street violence to serious anti-Muslim street

violence (2.1). In this way we hope to make recommendations for urgent action by politicians, policy-makers, police and media. To set the scene we will quote a former member of the violent extremist nationalist milieu in London:

Well there you have it! [brandishing copy of *Daily Mail* II January 2010 report: Islam divides us say the majority of Britons (Doughty 2010)]. We don't like Muslims its official! Hooray. Another fistful of money to researchers to tell us what we already knew. Islam not nice. Muslims pain in the arse. But the down side to it is the way A******* and company [violent extremist nationalists] will use it to justify hitting them or burning down their mosques. Or on the way to football [Chelsea] two women with all the clobber on [burkas] and up goes the chant! 'We hate Muslims, and we Muslims, we are the Muslim haters!' That's not too bad. But one of them said something and then it got silly. Old Bill [police] stepped in. Its getting nastier too. Some of those EDL – every bit as evil as B****** and C******** [Combat 18 veterans].⁹

2.1. Significance of David Copeland case and Stephen Lawrence Inquiry

Londoners know from recent experience that one individual acting entirely on his own can can cause significant harm and suffering to minority communities. In 1999 David Copeland, 'the nail bomber', single-handedly launched an effective terrorist campaign against black, Asian and gay Londoners. Copeland was inspired to carry out bomb attacks in Brixton, Whitechapel and Soho by fringe, extremist nationalist politics in London (Hopkins and Hall 2000). Immediately prior to his arrest MPS resources were stretched to the limit in an effort to detect him and to protect and reassure minority communities in London (BBC, 2000). According to MPSB detectives who monitored the violent nationalist milieu that spawned Copeland he was entirely typical in the way he personalised the propaganda of extremist nationalist politics.¹⁰ In the words of one former detective:

[Copeland's] reasons for carrying out the attacks were exactly what he read and heard from that [extremist nationalist] scene. You know, whites were under threat from blacks, Asians, gays. Threats to their way of life,

⁶ Interview references AMHC 01-09.

⁷ Interview rerefences AMHC 11-13.

⁸ Interview references AMHC 07, 08, 12.

⁹ Interview reference AMHC 31.

¹⁰ Interview reference AMHC 40.

their culture, livelihoods..... I saw many cases where the same reasons or motives were given for assaults in the street. Copeland went further but it was the same justification.¹¹

A former member of the violent, extremist nationalist scene adds insight and context:

Copeland did what most of them [violent extremist nationalists] wanted to do. He was right to act on his own so he didn't have to worry about being grassed.... and he had the f****** skill to make bombs that went off. That was something different.... Lots of them [violent extremist nationalists] talked about doing the same but mainly all they did was talk and hit people in the street. When he [Copeland] started in Brixton [first bomb attack] and Brick Lane [second bomb attack failed] they were convinced they would know who was doing it but really he [Copeland] was hardly known [in violent extremist nationalist circles].¹²

At the conclusion of an accurate, in-depth television documentary *The Nailbomber,* the final word is given to Gerry Gable, editor of *Searchlight*, an established, investigative antifascist journal:

I think you have to look at a young man like Copeland and think here's a young guy who's done terrible damage to our society. He's killed. He's done terrible damage to himself and his family as well. Who at what point is responsible for all of this? Who wrote those terrible ideas up in that boy's mind? And I think you just go and see who produces this hate material and you know (BBC 2000).

In our interviews both police and activist interviewees noted that the same violent extremist nationalist milieu that spawned Copeland was now – ten years later – almost exclusively fixated with Muslims as targets for attack. Similarly, they suggested, a series of cases in 2009 where violent extremist nationalists were suspected of planning bomb attacks (Dodd, 2009; Leppard 2009) were now likely to be aimed exclusively at Muslim targets.¹³ Other interviewees with the same expert experience

11 Ibid.

¹⁴ Ibid. ¹⁵ Ibid. concurred that any future bombing campaigns of the kind adopted by Copeland were likely now to be aimed at Muslim targets and not at black, Asian or gay targets as in the Copeland case.¹⁴ Asked to explain why the target had changed respondents were unanimous: Copeland was motivated by the extremist nationalist propaganda of his day when blacks, Asians and gays were singled out for vilification whereas throughout the last decade those minorities were replaced as targets for vilification by Muslims.¹⁵ The switch from demonising and attacking ethnic groups to one particular religious group -Muslims – follows the lead set by the BNP after the Bradford riots in July 2001. What is worse now, according to a former activist who shared Copeland's political views in the 1990s, is the fact that 'the thugs in EDL think they can kick shit out of Muslims and the whole f***** public will be cheering them on.' 'Look at them on the f****** rampage in Luton¹⁶ [reference to an EDL video showing their search for Muslim targets in Luton after a demonstration in Summer 2009], they look like Millwall let loose in the Shed [reference to extreme violence in London football hooliganism scene]'.17

Practitioner interviewees are acutely aware that the small number of individuals involved in the violent extremist nationalist milieu in and around London are no bigger today than in Copeland's day.¹⁸ It is precisely for that reason that the real risk of another attack in the style of Copeland should not be overstated but equally cannot be discounted – especially because Copeland is understood to have been hugely successful in that milieu.¹⁹ However, as we will see demonstrated, the threat of serious violence to Muslim Londoners does not just come from the milieu that spawned Copeland. Significantly, serious violence against Muslim Londoners is now being inflicted by gangs and individuals who do not have even the remotest connection to extremist nationalist politics.

As well as the Nailbomber attacks many Londoners also remember 1999 as the year that a police investigation of a fatal random racist attack on Stephen Lawrence was subject to authoritative disapprobation for being institutionally racist itself (Macpherson 1999). The extent to which mainstream politicians and media have supported the victim's parents' quest for retrospective justice is highlighted by an ongoing campaign by the *Daily Mail* (Pendlebury and Wright 2010). This level of support

¹⁶ Luton is thirty miles outside our purview in this report. That said, a significant number of Luton residents commute to London every day and so like several towns in Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Essex, Kent, Surrey and Berkshire with fast train links to London it is effectively a London suburb. In any event, we will be focusing on significant events in Luton and other UK towns and cities in our next report in July 2010.

¹² Interview reference AMHC 30.

¹³ Interview references AMRC 31-33, 40-44.

¹⁷ Interview reference AMHC 41.¹⁸ Interview references AMHC 30-33.

has been reflected in unprecedented resources being made available to the police to help ensure no minority ethnic London parents ever endure the same fate as Doreen and Neville Lawrence (Sharp 2002; Souhami 2006). Financial resources have been matched by outstanding organisational leadership, initially from a highly respected detective, John Grieve (Lambert 2010).

Interviewees are concerned that the remedies that have been made in policing as a result of the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry in respect of investigations of racist hate crimes are not yet sufficiently embedded in police culture and procedures so as to benefit victims of anti-Muslim hate crimes in the same way.²⁰ Given that Muslim Londoners are now at greater risk of serious or fatal injuries from extremist nationalist violence than black, Asian, Jewish or gay Londoners, interviewees express concern that political constraints appear to inhibit police from reassuring Muslim Londoners as effectively as they have other minority communities since Lord Macpherson's report in 1999.²¹ The nature of these political constraints is explored more fully later in the chapter but for now it suffices to note that Muslim Londoners have reason to be concerned about the risk of serious attacks and the efforts that are being made to reduce it.

Available evidence from cases reported in 2009 suggests that attempts to carry out bomb attacks of the kind made infamous by Copeland, are more likely to be carried out by groups and individuals inspired, as Copeland was, by violent, extremist nationalist politics (Dodd, 2009; Leppard 2009). MSF interviewees confirm Dodd's report in the Guardian:

Scotland Yard's counter-terrorism command fears that right-wing extremists will stage a deadly terrorist attack in Britain to try to stoke racial tensions, the Guardian has learned. Senior officers say it will be a 'spectacular' that is designed to kill. The counter-terrorism unit has redeployed officers to increase its monitoring of the extreme right's potential to stage attacks. Commander Shaun Sawyer told a meeting of British Muslims concerned about the danger to their communities that police were responding to the growing threat. Sawyer

- 22 Interview references AMRC 01 04.
- $^{\rm 23}$ Interview reference AMHC 10.

said of the far right: 'I fear that they will have a spectacular... they will carry out an attack that will lead to a loss of life or injury to a community somewhere. They're not choosy about which community.' He said the aim would be to cause a 'breakdown in community cohesion' (Dodd, 2009).²²

According to a former MSF member this analysis by police is still wrongly focused on 'racial tensions' rather than Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime.²³ 'To say they [right wing extremists] are not choosy about which community they attack', he argued, 'flies in the face of ten years BNP and far right campaigning against Islam and Muslims... to say nothing of media pundits like Richard Littlejohn.'²⁴ Dodd's report also captures MSF concerns about the influence of the BNP:

The meeting at which Sawyer spoke was staged by the Muslim Safety Forum, whose chair, Abdurahman Jafar, said: "Muslims are the first line of victims in the extreme right's campaign of hate and division and they make no secret about that. Statistics show a strong correlation between the rise of racist and Islamophobic hate crime and the ascendancy of the BNP (Dodd, 2009).

Expert interviewees caution that there is an important difference between 1999 and 2009: mainstream political and media coverage. Copeland, they suggest, knew that he was motivated by a political vision that was increasingly unfashionable and that both his views and actions would be universally condemned by mainstream politicians and the media in the way that they were.²⁵ That is to say, not just condemnation for his actions but also for the political analysis that inspired them.²⁶ In contrast, they suggest, there is a climate of hostility to Muslims in sections of mainstream politics and the media in 2009 that would allow an attacker in Copeland's mould to believe that although his methods might be condemned his motivation would strike a popular chord.²⁷ 'This is a vital difference', an experienced analyst of extremist nationalist politics in London suggests, 'the strategists who write the propaganda for these groups realise that they are merely echoing and sometimes amplifying a political analysis that can be read every day in the Express and The Sun'.28

²⁵ Interview references AMRC 30-32, 41-43.

²⁷ Ibid.

 $^{^{\}rm 20}$ Interview references AMRC 01 - 03, 41, 42.

²¹ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁸ Interview reference AMRC 31.

Members of the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry who watched the covert video recordings of racist thugs suspected of killing Stephen Lawrence will recall the extent to which the suspects felt they were licensed to attack black and Asian Londoners for unsophisticated political reasons that were strongly linked to the nationalist politics of the NF and the BNP (Macpherson, 1999): Neil Acourt, now 34, was understood to be the gang's leader and in the video he talks about 'chopping up' black Londoners or 'niggers' (Macpherson, 1999). After Lawrence's murder Acourt was convicted of a racist attack on a black policeman and, separately, of possessing an offensive weapon. To a large extent Acourt was the product of the world he grew up in and explains why the BNP opened their bookshop in nearby Welling. It was also the world former NF and BNP activist Matthew Collins knew well:

The [BNP] shop had a big effect on Bexleyheath and the surrounding areas. That area of south London was known as the Deep South and the atmosphere contributed to the Stephen Lawrence murder (Taylor, 2008).

There is a quantum leap from the BNP bookshop to Lawrence's murder but it is one that many academics and commentators have endorsed in the last decade. Our interviewees agree that Collins' published recollections appear to be authentic for the main part²⁹ and germane to this report. Interviewees also accept that the threat of serious racist violence to minority ethnic Londoners has not disappeared but they do insist that there has been a real shift in focus to target Muslims instead. However, that shift in focus by violent and non-violent extremist nationalists does not appear to account for the motivation in each of the serious cases we will discuss next.

Whereas Acourt and his accomplices personify the popular image of 'casual' white racist South Londoners the assailants of London Muslim victims in five of our case studies are substantially different. Indeed, it is not fanciful to suggest that some of the assailants of London Muslims in these and other current cases would have been minority ethnic targets for Acourt and his associates in an earlier but still recent era of London street violence. As such these same cases enable us to examine links between serious racist violence and serious anti-Muslim

²⁹ Interviewees do suggest that Collins' account of BNP supporters attacking elderly Asian women in 1989 is untypical; fights with anti fascist activists and attacks on Asian youths were far more commonplace; AMRC 41. violence. Overall we have chosen cases that highlight the diverse range of groups, gangs and individuals that currently pose threats of death or serious harm to Muslim targets. The individuals in the first two cases might reasonably be described as direct descendents of David Copeland.

2.2. Neil Lewington: extremist nationalist convicted of a bomb plot

In July 2009 Neil Lewington was convicted of terrorism and explosives offences:

Neil Lewington, 44, an unemployed electrician whose heroes were the nail bomber David Copeland and the Oklahoma bomber Timothy McVeigh, was told by a judge that he faced a long prison sentence (O'Neil, 2009).

Lewington had not been on any terrorist intelligence radar but instead was arrested by chance:

Lewington, from Tilehurst, Berkshire, was arrested in October after causing a disturbance on a train travelling to Lowestoft, Suffolk. His holdall was found to contain components for two incendiary devices, including digital clocks, batteries, wiring, firelighters and ignition mechanisms. There were also tools to complete assembly of the firebombs. In his wallet were notes headed "device I" and "device 2" with lists marked: "date", "place", "target", "weather", "device used: solid fuel incendiary", "delay" and "detonated?" (O'Neil, 2009).

A police search of Lewington's bedroom revealed the following items:

Chemical mixtures labelled "igniter", weed killer, firelighters, fuses, pyrotechnic boosters and books entitled Homemade Ammo: How to Make It, How to Reload It, How to Cache It and The Do-It-Yourself Gunpowder Cookbook. There were tennis balls with diagrams of how they might be turned into shrapnel bombs. Police also found a notebook labelled "Waffen SS UK Members' Handbook" in which were writings and

diagrams under the headings "picking target areas", "transporting devices", "targeting/attacking parts" and "counter-surveillance" (O'Neil, 2009).

Neil Lewington drew inspiration from David Copeland's successful bombing campaign in London (O'Neil, 2009). Like Copeland he lived a short distance from London and like his hero he is included in this report because there is a real possibility that if he had not been arrested he would have carried out bomb attacks in the capital. We do not seek to link him evidentially to an attack on London merely to highlight the fact that London is generally a prime target for violent extremist nationalists and other terrorist bombers as it was for Copeland. However, we accept that he posed a wider threat to community safety throughout the UK, as Deputy Assistant Commissioner John McDowall, head of the Met's Counter-Terrorism Command, made clear:

While our inquiries did not uncover any details about intended targets, we do not underestimate the impact that Lewington's actions and extremist beliefs may have had on communities nationwide (O'Neil, 2009).

We found it instructive to discuss Lewington's case with interviewees with both first-hand experience of the violent extremist nationalist milieu in and around London and with former police officers who have monitored the threat throughout their careers. In both cases they recognised important similarities between Lewington and Copeland. As one former police officer explains:³⁰

Both capable of working on their own, both heavily into the business of making devices, you know, the skill involved, hours of patient work, not something most people have got patience for... Both seriously ill adjusted socially but find the extremist politics makes them more important. Walking round with their secret.³¹

Clearly, like Copeland, Lewington posed a threat to more than one minority ethnic community, and we do not seek to suggest that Muslim targets would have featured more prominently on

³² Interview references AMHC 30-34, 40-43.

his target list than others. However, our expert interviewees do suggest that in 2009 he would have been far more likely to specifically target Muslims than Copeland was ten years earlier.³² In this sense Muslim Londoners may be said to face a double risk: a threat of attack from apolitical street gangs and individuals unconnected to violent extremist nationalist politics (see examples below) and an entirely separate threat from individuals like Lewington with a racist pedigree who would include Muslims as part of their target group or who might prioritise Muslim targets in the same way that non-violent extremist politicians like Nick Griffin do.³³

Current and former MSF members we interviewed reported widespread frustration amongst Muslims that Lewington's case received precious little media attention – especially when compared with Muslims suspected or convicted of terrorism offences.³⁴ They acknowledged that the problem was highlighted extremely well in a New Statesman article written by Muslim journalist Mehdi Hasan. 'Imagine, for a moment,' Hasan begins, 'that Neil Lewington, who is on trial at the Old Bailey for preparing for a "campaign of terrorism" ...was a British Muslim' (Hasan, 2009). 'The story' he suggests, 'would be splashed across the front page of every newspaper in Britain, and Sky News would be rolling a loop of images of his scowling, bearded, dark face':

The reality, however, is that you've probably never heard of Lewington (who denies all eight charges of terrorism) because he is not Muslim, or black, or of Asian origin. He is white. And our gloriously impartial, truth-seeking, "colour-blind" media don't seem to care. The coverage of the Lewington trial has been negligible – a few short stories buried deep inside a handful of newspapers, but, as I write, no rolling coverage on Sky News, and not a peep on the main BBC news bulletins or on *Newsnight*. (Hasan, 2009)

Hasan quoted a 'veteran home affairs correspondent' who had asked his editors why the Lewington trial wasn't being covered. "They didn't want to hear about it," he said. "They just weren't interested. It's outrageous." Hasan's article goes on to draw

³³ *Ibid.*³⁴ Interview references AMHC 1 - 9.

³⁰ Interview references AMHC 30-34, 40-43.

³¹ Interview reference AMHC 43.

attention to a series of similar convictions that attracted minimal media interest: Robert Cottage, a former BNP candidate jailed in July 2007 for possessing explosive chemicals in his home -'described by police at the time of his arrest as the largest amount of chemical explosive of its type ever found in this country'; Martyn Gilleard, a Nazi sympathiser 'jailed in June 2008 after police found nail bombs, bullets, swords, axes and knives in his flat, as well as a note in which he had written, "I am so sick and tired of hearing nationalists talk of killing Muslims, of blowing up mosques, of fighting back... the time has come to stop the talk and start to act;" Nathan Worrell, a 'neo-Nazi, described by police as a "dangerous individual", who hoarded bomb-making materials in his home, and was found guilty in December 2008 of possessing material for terrorist purposes and for racially aggravated harassment'; Neil MacGregor, who pleaded guilty to 'threatening to blow up Glasgow Central Mosque and behead a Muslim every week until every mosque in Scotland was closed' (Hasan, 2009).

Current and former MSF members we interviewed also drew attention to this final point from Hasan's important article, 'Robert Cottage was charged under the Explosive Substances Act 1883, not the panoply of modern anti-terror laws now at the disposal of the police and the Crown Prosecution Service' (Hasan, 2009). 'We want to see the police take terrorism against Muslims as seriously as terrorism by Muslims' one said.³⁵ After Lewington's conviction the MSF explained to police that there were widespread Muslim community concerns that the threat of terrorism specifically aimed at Muslim or minority ethnic communities may have been neglected and under-resourced.³⁶

Hasan also makes an important point about the European context which we will develop when we develop our studies across European towns and cities later in the year:

Figures compiled by Europol, the European police agency, suggest that the threat of Islamist terrorism is minimal compared with "ethno-nationalist" and "separatist" terrorism – terrorism committed by white people, in other words. According to Europol, in 2006, one out of 498 documented terrorist attacks across Europe could be classed as "Islamist"; in 2007, the figure rose to just four out of 583 – that's less than 1 per cent of the total. By contrast, 517 attacks across the continent

³⁸ Ibid.

were claimed by or attributed to nationalist or separatist terrorist groups, such as ETA in Spain (Hasan, 2009).

Finally, we should draw particular attention to a response from a veteran of the violent extremist nationalist milieu when we showed him Hasan's article.³⁷ He was struck by Martyn Gilleard's reported comment "I am so sick and tired of hearing nationalists talk of killing Muslims, of blowing up mosques, of fighting back... the time has come to stop the talk and start to act'.³⁸ 'How many times have we heard that?' he asked rhetorically. 'F****** always the same. Bollocks to the meetings. Lets f******* do something, egh?'.³⁹ Equally experienced police officers concurred that frustration with extremist nationalist political meetings - 'especially with the BNP wanting to be so legit' [legitimate]' was often a precursor to street or terrorist violence (as it often was in other arenas of political violence).⁴⁰ It would appear that Simon Darby, a BNP spokesman is making the same calculation if not the same point when commenting on the conviction of former BNP member Terence Gavin, the case we will examine next:

If people are going to build up large arsenals then they will get stiff sentences. It's the inevitable consequence of enforced multiculturalism. You are going to get more and more incidents like this. It sounds like this was a lucky escape (Roberts, 2010).

Interestingly, Darby can be construed as making exactly the same kind of veiled threat that Omar Bakri Mohammed and Anjem Choudary, apologists for an al-Qaida terrorist threat to London, have made several times during the last decade (Lambert 2010).

2.3. Terence Gavan: extremist nationalist convicted of manufacturing nail bombs

On 15 January 2010 Terence Gavan, a former BNP member and soldier, was convicted of manufacturing nail bombs and a staggering array of explosives, firearms and weapons. It was, Mr Justice Calvert-Smith said, the largest find of its kind in the UK in modern history (BBC 2010). The fact that Copeland used nail bombs to deadly effect (see 2.1. above) makes this an especially disturbing case. Gavan had previously pleaded guilty to 22 charges at Woolwich Crown Court:

³⁹ *Ibid.* ⁴⁰ Interview references AMHC 40-43.

³⁵ Interview reference AMHC 4.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Interview reference AMHC 32.

Police discovered 12 firearms and 54 improvised explosive devices, which included nail bombs and a booby-trapped cigarette packet, at the home Gavan shared with his mother. He told detectives he had "a fascination with things that go bang", the Old Bailey heard. After the case, head of the North East Counter Terrorism Unit Det Ch Supt David Buxton said Gavan posed a significant risk to public safety. "Gavan was an extremely dangerous and unpredictable individual," he said. "The sheer volume of home-made firearms and grenades found in his bedroom exposed his obsession with weapons and explosives...."Gavan used his extensive knowledge to manufacture and accumulate devices capable of causing significant injury or harm" (BBC, 2010).

Unlike Lewington, Gavan is reported as having specifically Muslim targets in mind, in particular he is reported to have planned to 'target an address he had seen on a television programme that he believed was linked to the 7 July bomb attacks in London' (Guardian, 2010). In one hand written note he explained, 'the patriot must always be ready to defend his country against enemies and their governments' (Guardian, 2010). Again, like Lewington, he would have posed a threat to Muslim communities throughout the UK, especially those areas like Bradford and East London most popularly associated with large Muslim populations. However, for one of our interviewees with experience of this violent extremist nationalist milieu Gavan's view of himself as a 'patriot' ready to 'defend his country' against its 'enemies' is familiar.⁴¹ 'He's an ex-squadie, of course he wants to defend his country, especially when his mates are fighting Muslims all the time,' he said speculatively yet based on experience.42

Given the proximity of Gavan's conviction to the publication of this report we will defer making further observations on the case until we report on the same topic nationally in July 2010. Suffice to note at the time of writing that Gavan was receiving far less media attention as a threat to UK social cohesion and security than Anjem Choudary: a fringe, extremist publicity seeker Gavan would surely have regarded as a prime target to attack in defence of 'his country' had he still been at liberty to use his carefully crafted bombs.

⁴¹ Interview reference AMHC 33.

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Interview references AMHC 30-34, 40-43.

Our expert interviewees are convinced that Gavan, Lewington, Cottage, Gilleard, Worrall and MacGregor will be joined by many more colleagues from the violent extremist nationalist milieu as convicted bombers and bomb makers during the course of the new decade.⁴³ To date good fortune and good police work has prevented that threat resulting in death, injury, and intimidation in the way David Copeland demonstrated was possible. Those planning future attacks will therefore take heart from Copeland's example and the fact that they share a negative view of Muslims, their prime targets, with many in the mainstream.

The same interviewees are also convinced that this new decade will see individuals from the violent extremist nationalist milieu carrying out serious assaults on Muslim Londoners (both targeted and random), without recourse to bombs.⁴⁴ Thus just as Stephen Lawrence was stabbed to death at a London bus stop in 1993 because he was black, so now in 2010 Muslim Londoners face an increased risk of the same kind of attack by the same kind of attackers.

We turn next to gangs who have no connection to or affinity with the violent extremist nationalist milieu yet have one thing in common – they carry out serious assaults on Muslims.

2.4. Gang attack on Muslim students at City University

We have decided to give this case extended attention in this report so as to highlight key concerns that have emerged throughout our research in the capital to date. Our decision is also based on the quality and clarity of a compelling account provided to us by a leading member of the Muslim student community at City University. In our next report in July 2010 we will update our report on this case and also extend our coverage of other serious anti-Muslim hate crimes in London and elsewhere in the UK.

On Thursday, 5 November 2009, three Muslim students were stabbed in an attack by a multi ethnic gang in a street near City University in the London Borough of Islington.⁴⁵ These serious assaults were the culmination of a sustained campaign of violent intimidation by the same gang against Muslim students at City University that started on Monday, 2 November.⁴⁶

44 Ibid.

⁴⁵ Interview reference AMHC 16.

⁴⁶ Ibid.

The focus of this campaign of violent intimidation were two Muslim prayer rooms (male and female) which are situated in the basement of City University's Gloucester Building in Whiskin Street, a short walk from the main campus building in Northampton Square. The gang appeared to be aware of the regular presence of Muslim students at this venue and laid siege to it. On Monday 2 November the gang attacked Muslim students as they left the Gloucester Building after prayers shouting "get those Muslims". Three students required hospital treatment for facial and head injuries after the gang attacked them with bricks and other projectiles. Although representatives of the City University Islamic Society reported the incident to the University and police immediately they did not receive pro-active support until after the second attacks on Thursday 5 November.

Between 2 and 5 November the Muslim prayer rooms at City University became the focus of attack for a local gang.⁴⁷ All the available evidence clearly indicates that the motivation for the gang's violent actions was hatred towards Muslims in general, who they regarded as terrorists or supporters of terrorism; not towards any individual Muslim students who they did not know.⁴⁸ Clearly, according to English criminal law, even if their victims had been convicted or suspected of terrorism, such facts would not have afforded the gang any basis for defence. Instead, their victims' sustained injuries and hurt that was inflicted on a totally false premise. Thus, one of the key features of this kind of attack is that victims are wrongly targeted as having some specific or general association with terrorists such as the London tube bombers.

Although especially serious in its outcome, this attack is typical of many that are now taking place in the capital. For that reason it will be helpful to recount the events in some detail. Our interviewee is a Muslim student at City University who was closely involved in organising a defence to the violent gang threat during the period 2 to 5 November and beyond.

First we asked him to describe the events on Monday 2 November. Here he describes how a local gang first attacked a Muslim student in the street outside the Gloucester Building:

They came from different council estates, but there was maybe a group of ten of them? Fifteen of them? ...they were on their bikes, there was a mixture of black and white youths, with the majority being black. X****** [Muslim student] was on his way to the building, got attacked; punched repeatedly in the face, his nose was bleeding. And he came into the...[building] because you have to swipe your card to get into the building...he managed to get away from them and swipe his card. Got in, and they couldn't follow him. And they started shouting things: 'We'll get you when you come out'. Things like that. 'You terrorist...paki...' All this stuff. And once he was in the building, he was kind of subdued. He was very nervous, scared to leave. There's a little corridor in the prayer room, and he was just sat there with his head bowed, nose was still bleeding. He hadn't cleaned himself up. And after all the prayers and everything, everyone was about...well, everyone was still in the building, and then a couple of the other students saw him, and just said to him: 'What's wrong?' And he wouldn't say anything. Eventually he told them, and he was like: 'Can we leave as a group, together? Will you guys walk me to Angel?' he said. Angel tube station, which is not too far; it's just a five minute walk up north, St John Street.49

Clearly the students were exercised by the problem of how to safely escort their injured colleague away from the building. Our student interviewee resumes his account by describing how the students attempted to do that:

So, as a group of about five or six of the Muslim students are leaving the prayer room...there's only one entrance and exit...and as soon as you come out, you have the council estates right next to you [where the gang members were understood to live]. And you turn left and you come towards the main university building.⁵⁰

However, instead of successfully leaving the building the students were immediately confronted by the gang:

As they [the students] came out, the president of the Islamic Society was there; he saw the group [the gang] and he wanted to go and just ask them what happened, why they attacked them. And there was no malice in his intent, nothing.he's not someone who's going to walk up and...he's not an intimidating guy [the president]. If I was walking towards someone, maybe. But not him. And he walked towards with his hands up,

⁴⁷ Ibid. ⁴⁸ Ibid. ⁴⁹ Ibid. ⁵⁰ Ibid.

saying: 'we don't want a fight, we just want to talk.' But as soon as they saw him approaching them, they... there's a lot of building work in the area. There was bricks and stuff. So they picked up a lot of the bricks and threw them at the Muslim students. They were on their bikes, like I said. And a lot of them took the seats off their bikes and used them as weapons. One of them had a police baton, similar to a police baton...⁵¹

It is worth noting that the gang was made up of members from different majority and minority ethnic backgrounds who expressed their antipathy towards Muslims in the clearest possible terms. The Muslim students were themselves equally diverse in their ethnic origins and appearance. Anyone witnessing the attack would have observed only one visible difference between the assailants and their victims: both male and female victims were dressed in a way that signified they were Muslims. Observers would also have noted that the attackers had targeted the Gloucester Building because it housed the Muslim student prayer room. Our interviewee continues to describe the attack outside the Gloucester Building:

A lot of the students, the Muslim students...because these people who attacked them weren't students from the university. So a lot of the students kind of ran and a few of them were attacked...quite severely injured. One of them...they all pretty much had bricks across their faces and things like that. One of the students had severe swelling to his knee...was hit on the knee with a baton. He was walking with a limp for several weeks. Another student received guite a lot of head injuries, to the extent that when he went to the hospital for a check-up, they told him: 'had you received another head blow, it could have caused paralysis.' All of them went to the hospital after the attack; one of them was OK pretty much, just a lot of cuts and bruises. The other two...like I said, one of them with the knee, the other one with the bruising to the head. And then they were released the same evening, the same night.⁵²

Not surprisingly our interviewee was upset when recounting this episode. He said he is British through and through, has many non-Muslim friends and he loves studying in London. To be

⁵¹ Ibid. ⁵² Ibid. confronted, he explained, by a gang that hates you and wants to harm you because you are a Muslim is extremely troubling. Like many other young Muslims this kind of incident makes him question whether the country and the city he loves is any longer a place he can call home. Fortunately, he recounts, a neighbour came to their aid:

The fight only stopped when a local man...maybe he was Irish...he shouted: 'I've called the police, the police are coming.' And then the youths just ran. They live local, because we see them around; we've seen them around quite a lot. So, obviously, they'll know how to get away from the scene and stuff like that. So they ran and they shouted things: 'Oh, the terrorists are going to get it; you're going to get it, this isn't over.' And things like that. So we told the police everything that happened, and they said they'd increase the patrols in the area. We told the university; they said as well that they'd increase security in the area.⁵³

As student representative our interviewee saw some of the victims afterwards in the accident and emergency department at University College Hospital:

I saw them in the aftermath; a lot of them had cuts. One of them, he – from a brick that was thrown – had a huge cut here that was kind of glued together. And on his head, as well, he had quite a deep cut that was glued up as well. The others, just bruises and a bit of blood on their clothes. And rips in their clothes.⁵⁴

Unfortunately neither police nor the university provided proactive support at this stage, as our interviewee makes clear:

The Tuesday, the following day, nothing really happened. We didn't even see them [the gang]. There was very little actual evidence police or security increased patrols that they said. I mean, two police officers on bikes, motorbikes, came down the road where the prayer room is, went around...because the road kind of curls round, and then...in a cul-de-sac...and then goes off again. So they went around it, and then drove off, and we saw them maybe once, in an hour and a half/two

⁵³ Ibid. ⁵⁴ Ibid. hour period. And we were outside...a lot of the male students; basically we stood outside while the female students were leaving. Because obviously they're an easy target, if you like. We were worried for their safety, so we stood outside and kind of along the route as they headed towards Angel. Most of them were going towards Angel. So nothing happened on Tuesday.⁵⁵

It is noteworthy that the serious incident on Monday may well have gone largely unremarked by the police and university had not the situation deteriorated further. Most disturbingly, for the Muslim students, they were now under siege and insufficiently supported. Albeit Wednesday provided some breathing space:

Wednesday most students aren't in university; Wednesday finishes... all classes finish at one. Most people don't even have classes, I don't have classes on a Wednesday, so I didn't come in.⁵⁶

Unfortunately when the students returned on Thursday so did their attackers:

The Thursday is when the second attack happened. Basically, around four o'clock, some of the students, again, stood outside to let the female students go. And then after they'd gone and the male students were coming back into the building, the gang of youths came again, and the Muslims went inside the building and called security...of the university. I went in a different direction...we'll come to that. So we went inside the building again, on Thursday. They were throwing rocks and things like that at the entrance to the building. There was quite a bit of damage to the exterior. And, you know, they were just outside; there was about fifteen of them again, maybe even more. Maybe even a bit more.⁵⁷

This is when the sense of being under siege became palpable. Students were understandably fearful:

We went inside the building, down to the prayer room, called the security, the university security. And they said, OK, they'd call the police. A couple of hours later... maybe an hour and a half later, we tried leaving again, and there's only one exit...one entrance and exit...so we're kind of bottle-necked, if you like. So we tried leaving again, and they were there, once more [the gang]. We came outside this time, and then we saw

them, after we'd all come out. We saw them; they were just around the corner. And there was less of them this time, maybe five of them, six of them. And they threw fireworks towards us. And, you know, early November, fireworks are all being sold. So they threw fireworks at us...more bricks, more stones and such. To the extent that a couple of the Muslim students kind of lost it a little bit and ran after them. Just to kind of scare them away. They got to a certain...they got round...it's difficult to describe, but there's a park towards Exmouth Market. There's a park around there, and as they were chasing the group towards this park, the police came.⁵⁸

Clearly the belated arrival of police helped frighten off the gang. However, it was now a very dangerous situation with individual students at risk of encountering individual gang members in the surrounding area. Our interviewee continues:

The rest of their group was all there [the gang], so it could have been really dangerous for them [the students]; the two or three students who ran after them. There was probably between twenty and twenty-five of them [the gang], just around the corner, waiting almost for the other five [gang members]. So the police came, told the students to go back. So basically, the students with the police went back to where the rest of the students were, outside of the building.⁵⁹

The fact that police did not appear to have an awareness of the recent background and the extent to which Muslim students were under siege, was disappointing for the students. Nevertheless, they co-operated fully with the police:

We went back into the building, to get our bags and everything like that, that some people had dropped. And the police said: 'Look: everyone just split up, and go home.' They said as a large group, we could be inciting the problems. Or intimidating them, or scaring some of the locals or something like that. They told us to split up and they'll take care of it, and then everyone go home. So a group of us went towards Angel, a group went towards Barbican, a group went towards Farringdon. I was going towards Barbican; so at the same time that I was going, the group who were headed towards Angel...maybe only six or seven/eight of them...half way along the route, down St John's Street; on the route to St John's Street, there's a couple of roads and alleyways and I don't know if you know the Sadler's

Wells Theatre? It's quite famous, along there as well. As they were walking along, they saw a couple of the youths [the gang], and the youths told them: 'Come here.' And the Muslim students, they didn't want any trouble, so they said 'no' and they carried on walking. And then, eventually, they walked on a little bit further, and there's another alleyway, just ahead. And they'd got people coming from in front [gang], and some came from behind [gang], and they were actually attacked there, by about fifteen of the group [gang]. And that's where three of the students were stabbed; a couple of them on the back, one of them on his side.⁶⁰

In the event separating the students in the way police suggested proved costly. At least mobile phone contact enabled the students to provide mutual support as they struggled to get their wounded colleagues to hospital:

One of them wasn't too severely stabbed [student], but the other two [had] guite deep wounds. And the group...one of the group [student] from Angel or going towards Angel called one of the group that were heading towards Farringdon [by mobile phone]. Now, Farringdon is also on St John's Street, but going in the opposite direction. Now this [student] group turned around, because they heard about the attack...this was after the attack had happened. And they said: 'Look, come, three of us have been stabbed.' So they went up towards Angel, to see how everyone was...you know, obviously they were concerned. As they were walking up St John's Street, they were actually ambushed outside one of the university buildings, the Social Science building. Several of them, they were repeatedly kicked and punched. And there was maybe twenty of the gang and only five or six of the students. And they were quite badly injured. One of them had memory loss and was struggling to speak. It was pretty bad, severe. Quite severe injuries. And only when the police sirens came did the group flee.61

Needless to say, the fact that this second attack occurred at least in part because the Muslim students were following police advice did not go unremarked:

⁶⁰ Ibid. ⁶¹ Ibid.

So a lot of the disappointment was down to the fact that police told us to split up, and that's pretty much when we were attacked...when we left the safety of numbers. And they told us that they'd take care of it, and we were attacked. And speaking to a lot of the police afterwards, they know who these kids are, especially the community support officers. They work in the area; they know who these kids are. And still, even after telling us they'd take care of it, the attacks happened. After that, obviously there was a huge increase in police presence. It was almost as if they didn't take Monday serious...like, after we told them what had happened, and that they'd threatened to come back, it was almost like they didn't...they were like: 'OK...yeah, alright.' They didn't really...obviously, they can't put all of their energy into it. But it was almost like it was a back issue to them. And then, after three students get stabbed, obviously it gets highlighted.62

The serious nature of the injuries sustained by the students caused shock amongst the Muslim students:

....after Thursday, I was in the group that was heading towards Barbican. When we heard, the guys that were injured had already gone to hospital. So I went straight to the hospital. Again, it was University College Hospital. After an hour or so, or maybe a bit more, we saw them...because we couldn't go in to where they were. A couple of them were on crutches, walking on crutches, because of stabbing in the back. I didn't ask them to show me their injuries, but it was quite clear that they...and the guy who had the memory loss and was mumbling. He had recovered a little bit by then; he wasn't mumbling but he was still dazed and confused. His eyes were just kind of like wobbling and it wasn't good. It wasn't good.⁶³

It was at this point that the plight of the Muslim students at City University became more widely known:

word...news of the attack spread amongst the Muslim students in particular, like on forums and things like this. Local newspapers got in touch with us; I was actually

⁶² Ibid. ⁶³ Ibid. appointed as the official spokesman, if you like, for the incident. Maybe because I'm a bit older than everyone, a little bit wiser perhaps. And also I'm on the committee of the Islamic society. And all the students who were attacked are Muslims. The majority of them have a beard and wear the thobe and things like that...are easily identifiable as Muslims.⁶⁴

It was also at this point that the university had their first in-depth discussions with the students:

Then the university held meetings with us, after it had kind of escalated and said: 'Oh, we're going to do this, we're doing this.' It was a bit like: 'We told you on Monday, then this happened. We told you on Thursday that they were outside; you said you'd increase security. We didn't see a single security member. They said that they would increase patrols; we didn't see anyone. After that Thursday incident, the following Friday...like I said, we held meetings with the local police and the university...the police were actually very good at that meeting. They accepted and appreciated our disappointment that despite us telling them and the university what had happened on Monday: the threats that it wasn't over, as they said. We told them on Thursday, we called them on Thursday; we were only attacked after following the police instructions. We told them that we weren't happy that even after all that, we were still attacked.65

In-depth discussions also took place now with police for the first time.

The police were...there was one head of the local team. Sergeant F****, I think. She's very, very good; very supportive. Very, very helpful and understanding. She gave us numbers for her team, phone numbers, so that if anything else happened, we're in the area; we know about it now. The Friday, we saw loads of police. The police actually agreed to place a couple of officers outside the doors in the evening. And we saw that for that Friday and for the following week as well. There were always one or two community support officers outside the building as we were leaving. There were regular vans, police vans, around the area. And over the week or so after...like ten days after the Thursday attack, by then nothing really had happened. We'd seen them still, riding around on their bikes, in full view of the

police, and the police said they knew who these kids were and things like that. But obviously you can't arrest someone for riding around on a bike. The police said they knew that these kids in the area...a lot of their crime is bike theft. Push bike theft. They said they were aware of who they were, their names and everything, ...where they lived.⁶⁶

Police kept the students up to date with developments:

They told us that after Thursday's attack, three of them were arrested, released on bail with conditions that they couldn't come...they couldn't approach the university or any of the students. There was a restriction of like a hundred metres, I'm not certain exactly. I'm not too sure what has happened to those three who were arrested.⁶⁷

Not untypically some students were wary about making police statements and attending an identity parade:

A lot of the Muslim students who were attacked were asked to give statements and a couple of them were asked to go to ID parades. Some of them did those things; a lot of them just didn't want to, like we mentioned before. A lack of feeling that anything would happen or just that they didn't really want to go to the station and things like that. Some of them were asked to give DNA...they were a bit concerned about that. Which...we sort of understand that they want to try and match the DNA but there's another...for other reasons, they were a bit concerned about doing that, so once they were asked to give DNA, they kind of like, in their minds, kind of shut off all cooperation with the investigation. So I'm not sure what has happened to those three that were arrested, but this was over a month ago now, since the Thursday attack...Thursday the fifth actually. And since then, we haven't really had any problems, which is good.68

As a student representative our interviewee was closely involved with the media:

We got a lot of requests from Islington newspapers... Islington Tribune, Islington Gazette, Eastern Eye.... I think BBC Radio Asia were in touch. Some media outlets from overseas, from the Middle East, from India. Just quite a lot of media attention. 69

⁶⁴ Ihid ⁶⁵ Ibid. 66 Ibid. ⁶⁷ Ibid. ⁶⁸ Ibid.

However, despite his clarity and the clarity of the students' own accounts the media reports described the stabbings as racially motivated, not once as anti-Muslim hate crime. In fact media reports followed the lead taken by police and university press statements (see appendix A). Our interviewee explains the student's confusion:

In my five years at this university, we've not had any trouble with any locals. The students at the university were made aware of the problems, but a lot of the media outlets who reported on it, and university statement...they were keen too...well, not keen, but they focused on the fact that it was a racial attack. And they said 'Asian students.' As opposed to the fact that it was clearly Muslim students! OK, most of the Muslim students are Asians, but the basis of the attack wasn't that they were Asian. We mentioned that we were called 'terrorists' 'suicide bombers' and 'pakis' and things like that. Just all kinds of vile language. But almost all the initial outlets that were reporting on it...I think the BBC had an article on their website: 'Asian students were attacked'. The university statement, even after we'd spoken with them: 'Asian students were attacked.' And it was a bit...: 'Asian students??' And then once we'd seen all this, we were a bit like: 'Come on! Let's tell it how it is!'70

To conclude this account we illustrate our interviewee's points by reproducing headlines from relevant press releases and reports:

City University press release, 9 November, 2009 A message from Acting Vice-Chancellor Professor Julius Weinberg in response to student attacks University students were victims of assault near the University in St John Street

On Thursday 5 November at approximately 7.45pm, some University students were victims of "racially aggravated assault" near the University in St John Street, two sustained stab wounds described as "non-life threatening" (City University 2009).

Press report: London Evening Standard. Asian students attacked by gangs. 9 November, 2009.

⁷⁰ Ibid.

⁷¹ Interview reference AMHC 22.

Police were today investigating at least two racist attacks on Asian students outside a London university (Davenport, 2009).

BBC News report: Attacks on Asian students probed. 9 November.

Four people were stabbed when a group of up to 30 armed with metal poles and bricks targeted Asian students in a suspected race attack in north London. Two others were badly beaten in St John Street, close to City University in Islington, on Thursday evening. Three teenagers – aged 17, 18 and 19 – have been arrested over the attack.

Officers are checking if this is linked to an incident the previous Monday when several black men shouted racist abuse and threw bricks at Asian students (BBC, 2009).

2.5. Gang attack on Muslim student Yasir Abdelmouttalib

Yasir Abdelmouttalib was a remarkably gifted and dedicated student who had just begun his PhD research when his future plans were cut short. Distinctively dressed as a Muslim he was on his way to Friday jumma prayer at the London Central mosque in Regents Park when he was seriously injured during an unprovoked gang attack in June 2004. He was waiting at a bus stop in Willesden when his young assailants set upon him. During the course of the attack he was struck repeatedly on the head with a road sweeper's broom (Muir, 2004). After the attack it was feared that he would not recover consciousness from the severe head injuries he sustained and he remained in a coma for three months. In the event, he regained consciousness and the extent of his recovery has surprised the doctors who treated him. Nevertheless, he has been left severely disabled and he and his family have endured extreme difficulties during the last six years.

Before moving to London to look after her injured son, Malika, Yasir's mother lived in Morocco. She was so impressed with the reputation of the UK for fair treatment that she chose to pay for her children to receive higher education here: Yasir at Edinburgh and his two younger brothers at Oxford.⁷¹ Edinburgh and Oxford have proved to be safe and welcoming. 'I chose the UK ahead of France' she said, 'because in France there is a bad

32

attitude towards Muslims.⁷² 'The UK is good for Muslims...' she paused, realising as she spoke that the actions of a teenage London gang had shattered that positive image.⁷³

Yasir was therefore a guest of the UK when he was attacked; a fee paying student contributing to society intellectually and economically. The bus journey he chose to undertake – from Wembley to Regents Park, via Harlesden and changing buses at Willesden – took him through an area of London noted for violent street crime:

It did not occur to Yasir Abdelmouttalib to be afraid. And he paid little heed to friends warning him against wearing Islamic white robes to prayers. That decision seems to have cost him his health and his future. It almost cost him his life... He believes his tunic and beard may have singled him out. "All the time television talks about Osama bin Laden and I think they thought, 'Let's take revenge.' (Muir, 2004).

Yasir was waiting at a bus stop in Willesden for a bus to take him to jumma prayers at the London Central Mosque near Regents Park when the attack took place. He had already travelled on one bus from his friend's house in Wembley and needed to wait for a second bus to complete his journey. The youths upstairs on the bus caught his attention as the bus stopped at the bus stop. They were shouting abuse towards him and next proceeded to disembark from the bus and attack him. Yasir's own recollections of the attack are blurred but he remembers being punched and kicked to the ground, one assailant in front of him and two behind.⁷⁴ Witnesses at a subsequent court case were clear that the motive for the attack was Yasir's distinctive Muslim appearance.

Looking back on that dreadful day Yasir concedes that he may have been naive. It had not occurred to him that he would be viciously attacked simply because he was a Muslim:

It was claimed that trouble flared after the three 14-yearolds spotted [Yasir] wearing traditional Muslim clothes at a bus stop. Steven Perian, prosecuting, said that following a "barrage of spitting", they threw a street bin at him and then snatched a broom from a nearby road sweeper's dustcart. "It was used by at least one person ... to hit him on the head a number of times, with one witness describing it as if it was a croquet mallet hitting a ball." The barrister claimed that even when the victim slumped helplessly to the ground, that was "not good enough" for the teenage defendants. "More hits with the broomstick followed until finally a person stepped in." [Yasir] had not only suffered a number of skull fractures but had been struck so hard his brain had moved inside his skull (London Evening Standard, 2004).

Malika and Sara, his mother and sister, bravely endured the ordeal of a subsequent court case:

Yesterday the trial ended of three 14-year-old boys accused of a vicious attack on the 22-year-old university graduate as he waited for a bus in Willesden, north-west London, one Friday afternoon in June. Mr Abdelmouttalib, a tall, slight figure, was repeatedly punched and kicked and struck in the head with a heavy roadsweepers' broom. One teenager was convicted at Harrow crown court of causing grievous bodily harm with intent and will be sentenced on December 20. Two others, who denied taking part in the attack, were acquitted. Mr Abdelmouttalib was unable to give evidence (Muir, 2004).

Remarkably transcending her own personal grief Maleka memorably expressed pity for her son's attacker:

Malika, sat in the court's public gallery. Afterwards she said of her son's attacker: "I am sad for him because I just don't think he knows any better." She added: "I am sad for this society, too" (Muir 2004).

When we interviewed Malika in December 2009 she endorsed that compassionate sentiment. 'He was just a boy [Yasir's convicted assailant]' she said, 'he could have been my son'.⁷⁵ Mailika and Yasir are now channeling that same compassion by promoting efforts to reduce the risk of such incidents happening in the future. That is a project we are honoured to assist.

Although Yasir Abdelmouttalib was attacked in 2004 his case highlights issues that still need to be addressed in the new decade. A gang of three or four youths first saw Yasir as their bus pulled up at a bus stop in Willesden Green on a Friday morning. They were upstairs on the bus and saw Yasir waiting at the bus stop.⁷⁶ It has not yet been possible to interview the assailants but from what we have gleaned of their backgrounds so far, it appears absolutely certain that they had no connection to or affinity with nationalist politics of any kind. Instead they appeared to be a typical local street gang that pose threats to local residents in terms of robberies and related street crime.

⁷² Ibid.

⁷³ Ibid.

⁷⁴ Interview reference AMHC 21.

⁷⁵ Interview reference AMHC 22.

According to our interviewees who are London youth workers with experience of dealing with gang street crime over the last two decades, the gang that attacked Yasir probably saw him as an enemy because over the last ten years Muslims have assumed that position in local gang culture, largely for three reasons.⁷⁷ One reason is the generally negative portrayal of Muslims that has arisen post 9/11:

Muslims are now understood to oppose everything these kids aspire to. Flash cars, nightclubs, expensive clothes, jewellery, drugs, alcohol, casual sex, glamour, dancing, music, you name it! One kid [member of London street gang] said after the ...those attacks on the nightclubs [reference to falied terrorist attack on London nightclubs in June 2007] ... that he hated Muslims because they wanted to take all the fun out of life. I said this was not a Muslim attack and he said it doesn't matter they either bomb the nightclubs or they tell you not to go there.⁷⁸

The second reason arises from the role of convert Muslims with their own backgrounds who condemn their anti-social gang behaviour and drug oriented lifestyles:

Often they know someone who has left their scene and become a devout Muslim. That is like a defection. And whether they do or don't they say they know this or that terrorist who used to be a great person till he joined the Muslims.⁷⁹

Most importantly, thirdly, street gangs like the ones that attacked Yasir and the City University students are increasingly coming into violent conflict with rival gangs who purport to be Muslim or who adopt aspects of Muslim dress for the sake of a new 'street' image:⁸⁰

Big issue. Just like a handful of terrorists give Muslims a bad name, now these new so called Muslim gangs are causing the same problem, well, on the streets they are, in the gang scene they are. Big fights. Stabbings, guns...⁸¹

The issue of motivation for the gang that attacked Yasir and for

other London street gang attacks on Muslims is one that we will develop in our next report (EMRC July 2010). For now by highlighting some of the context it is sufficiently clear to see that descriptions of this and other gang attacks as racist are almost certainly inadequate.

Notwithstanding some evidence about the motivation for the attack being anti-Muslim, police did not describe it as an anti-Muslim or Islamophobic hate crime. Like many other cases of this kind it appeared that police did not have a policy that allowed them to deal with an attack on a Muslim with the same legal and procedural clarity and priority as in racially motivated attacks.

Even though disappointed that two gang members were acquitted and that CCTV cameras at the crime scene were not working, Yasir's mother was reasonably satisfied with the police investigation that led to the conviction of one of the gang members.⁸² However, she was frustrated and angry when it became apparent that the police appeared to be treating Yasir as a terrorist suspect. 'He was lying in a coma in hospital and we thought he might not live and the police were asking questions about which mosque did he go to'.⁸³ 'Fortunately', she said, 'I got support from Massoud [chairman of the Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC), the only community group in London with case workers to help Muslim victims of hate crimes like Yasir] and that helped us to pull through'.⁸⁴ This aspect of the case raises issues concerning the extent to which post 9/11 policing has on occasions unnecessarily alienated Muslim families and their friends and is one we will explore nationally and report on fully in our next report (EMRC July 2010).

2.6. Murder of Ikram Syed ul-Haq

It is with deep regret that we record the fact that in September 2009, Ikram Syed ul-Haq, a retired care worker, became a murder victim when he died from brain injuries he sustained in an anti-Muslim gang attack outside his local mosque in Tooting. On the evening of 3 I August Ikram, described by his friends as a quiet, kind and compassionate man, was with his three-year-old granddaughter Marian ul-Haq when a gang savagely beat him to the ground. 'Witnesses said the hysterical toddler [his granddaughter] ran screaming into the *Idara-e-Jaaferiya* Islamic

⁷⁷ Interview references AMHC 25-29.

⁷⁸ Interview references AMHC 25.

⁷⁹ Interview references AMHC 25.

⁸⁰ Interview references AMHC 25.

⁸¹ Interview references AMHC 26.

⁸² Interview reference AMHC 22.

⁸³ Ibid. ⁸⁴ Ibid.

centre in Church Lane, Tooting, south London, at around 9pm' when 'most of the congregation were still inside as they shared a meal to break their Ramadan fast' (Bauras, 2009). The gang assaulted other victims outside the mosque. According to a newspaper report 'one of the other victims described how a gang of 20 teenagers in hoodies ambushed them outside the mosque, on Church Lane, as they emerged from a prayer session' (Allen 2009). 'Minicab driver Imdad Buhkari, 39, who was standing with another victim, who is in his 70s, said:

They came down the road and about six of them broke off from the rest and surrounded the two of us. They asked me for the time. I said I don't wear a watch and suddenly someone from behind punched me hard on the jaw. I was attacked from behind with no warning. Then they hit the old man, whose name is Atameer, and ran off.... I went round the corner and I was shocked when I saw Ikram lying unconscious on the ground. He was bleeding from his mouth and ear. Now he is in a coma. The doctors want to turn off his life support machine but his family say no. It is terrible. Who would do such a thing? (Buaras, 2009).

The attacks were captured on CCTV and arrests quickly followed - four boys - one aged 12, two of 14 and one of 15. Clearly we have no wish to interfere with the course of justice but we can usefully highlight an important feature of this case and what has become a recurring feature in cases of this kind. Just as politicians prefer to call Nick Griffin's anti-Muslim rhetoric 'antiracist' so too do police chiefs regularly choose to interpret anti-Muslim hate crimes as anti-racist. Both are potentially misleading and counter-productive. Thus, police have described the murder of Ikram Syed ul-Haq as possibly 'racist' or possibly 'casual violence' but not once as 'anti-Muslim' or 'Islamophobic' (Davenport, 2009a; Buaras, 2009). This is problematic given that members of the same gang attacked other Muslims at the same mosque at the same time and also given that a Muslim was subsequently attacked by a gang at the nearby Gatton Road Mosque (also known as the Al-Muzzammil Mosque) a week later. In this subsequent attack the victim was attacked with a weapon and required hospital treatment for head injuries (Buaras, 2009). Moreover, given the prevalence of routine, low level anti-Muslim hate crime in the neighbourhood it would normally be the case that local community policing would be aware of the problem, even when victims were not formally reporting the incidents as crimes.

According to an interviewee who knows the local gang scene well, Muslims are despised by certain gangs and often targeted for attack, albeit not usually with such deadly force.⁸⁵ This is not to say that local gangs are purely focused on Muslim targets nor that they are not capable of casual violence as well. On the contrary one of the features of gang violence in this and surrounding parts of South London is that rivalry has developed in recent years between gangs that are involved in street crime and gangs that have adopted some superficial appearance of Muslim adherence. As an interviewee, a local youth worker explains:

On the one hand you have gangs like the Muslim Boys who have become attracted to what they like about being or rather looking Muslim. Looking like a terrorist you might say. Thats how they see it. They like to rob the kind of gangs they used to belong to. Take their drugs. Take their guns. Say look we used to deal drugs now we confiscate them. Money goes to a new cause. Then you get a response from the gangs they are attacking. They hate Muslims even more and maybe are afraid to attack the Muslim gangs directly so they attack soft Muslims, real Muslims, elderly Muslims instead.⁸⁶

We will return to the question of motive in this and other cases in our next report (EMRC July 2010). For now, we wish to draw attention to a local phenomenon that suggests that anti-Muslim sentiment is very likely to play a part when local gangs are picking targets to attack. According to the same interviewee, the typical make up of local gangs that regard themselves as being strongly anti-Muslim in terms of their image and street reputation includes male and female youths aged between 10 and 20 from a wide variety of ethnic and racial backgrounds.⁸⁷ It is therefore inaccurate to describe their attacks on Muslims as anti-racist, both because they are principally anti-Muslim and also because they are themselves multi-cultural or multi-ethnic in their make-up.

In addition to serious attacks by gangs several local Muslim interviewees described being subjected to anti-Muslim abuse, assault and harassment by individuals. That topic is discussed below (2.2).

We have not sought to interview Ikram Syed ul-Haq's family while they are coming to terms with his brutal murder and while his young assailants are being brought to justice. We have however approached a trusted family friend and with his guidance will seek to interview family members at a later date for inclusion in our next report (EMRC July 2010).

⁸⁵ Interview reference AMHC 26.

⁸⁶ Ibid

⁸⁷ Ibid

2.7. Serious assault on Imam at London Central Mosque

In August 2007 an imam at the London Central Mosque (LMC) in Regent's Park was brutally assaulted by Brian Donegan, a forty year old Londoner from Hammersmith, who gained entry to the mosque in the early hours of the morning to carry out his attack. The imam was subjected to a frightening ordeal and required emergency optical treatment after his assailant repeatedly gouged his eyes. The imam underwent emergency surgery after suffering injuries to both eyes. Donegan was charged with grievous bodily harm and assault and was detained at a mental health facility.

In this interview with Muslim News, Dr Ahmad Al-Dubuyan, director of the London Central Mosque and Islamic Cultural Centre (ICC), explains how the attack took place:

Dr Al-Dubayan said that the 58-year old imam, who did not want to be named, was attacked on Friday morning after the man, who was wearing a cross, entered the mosque claiming that he wanted to be converted to Islam. The imam offered him dates and explained to him about Islam and suddenly the man threw himself on the ground and began saying something the imam did not understand. Then he suddenly got up and began punching the imam on his forehead until the imam fell on the floor. The man then stood on top of the imam and began poking into the eyes of the imam with his fingers, damaging them badly. The imam tried to defend himself but could not free himself. The imam began shouting and the security came and called the police. The man was apprehended after much difficulty as he resisted the arrest (Muslim News, 2007).

For over two decades LMC cultivated a close working relationship with the MPS so when the attack happened there was effective support:

[MPS] Chief Superintendent David Morgan said: 'We have a close working relationship with worshippers and staff at the mosque and will continue to work together to offer reassurance to the community with extra patrols in and around the area' (Muslim News, 2007) When asked about the background to the attack, Dr Al-Dubuyan offered the following comment:

[He] said that he suspected the assault was religiously motivated. He added: 'We are worried about Islamophobic feelings and racial attacks. I believe there has been an increase in Islamophobia. We have received threatening and insulting letters and emails.' Mr Dubayan said the mosque was reviewing its security following the attack. It was considering hiring extra security staff and restricting its opening hours to boost the protection for its team of imams. He also blamed some of the media, with their repeated use of such phrases as 'Islamic terrorist' or 'Muslim terrorist', for creating 'an atmosphere of Islamophobia' in the past year [Muslim News, 2007].

Donegan was subsequently declared 'insane' at Southwark Crown Court (BBC, 2008). However, there is nothing in the insanity verdict or the circumstances of the attack that detract from the fact that the assailant was motivated to enter London's premier mosque and attack the imam. We see no reason to suppose that an insane man is any less capable of anti-Muslim hatred than any one sane. Indeed, Donegan was sufficiently coherent to make his hatred strikingly clear to his victim.⁸⁸ We make this observation because there is a natural and erroneous tendency to conclude that mentally unsound assailants are incapable of forming coherent motivations. That may be true in terms of forming mens rea the necessary criminal intent, but we are merely seeking to establish the fact that anti-Muslim sentiment is so pervasive in London that a man such as Donegan is as likely as his sane neighbours to have formed a highly pejorative view of Muslims.

London Central Mosque probably has the best security of any mosque in London and therefore the attack sent shockwaves around London's other mosques, Islamic centres and prayer rooms that number over 200, where in most cases precious little exists in terms of robust security to prevent attacks.

The attack also sent shock waves around Muslim London because it coincided with a spate of attacks around the UK. There is a recognised phenomenon of 'spikes' or sudden

⁸⁸ Interview reference AMRC 27.

increases in anti-Muslim attacks in the immediate aftermath of terrorist incidents, and in this case they were connected to attempted terrorist attacks in London and Glasgow on 29 and 30 June:

Attacks on Muslims and mosques in Glasgow, Manchester and Bradford have been blamed on heightened community tensions since the bungled terror attacks in London's West End on 29 June and at Glasgow airport the next day. Strathclyde Police said the number of racially motivated attacks it dealt with rose from 201 in June to 258 in July. It said 31 of those were definitely connected to the airport incident. Among the attacks they are investigating is a Glasgow newsagent's being gutted after a car crashed into it in an apparent imitation of the airport attack in the city. A fire that severely damaged a mosque in Lidget Green, Bradford, is also being treated as suspicious (Muslim News, 2007).

Inayat Bunglawala, spokesman for the MCB, summed up the mood:

There has definitely been an upsurge in prejudice against Muslims. It appears people are taking out their frustrations about the failed attacks on Muslims. Some sections of the media have been very active in fomenting that prejudice (Muslim News, 2007).

Muslim News editor Ahmed Versi 'called on the Government and the police to ensure that Muslims and their places of worship are protected in the current hostile climate'. 'Such Islamophobic attacks should not be tolerated' he said. 'They are causing further alienation in the community and add to the dangers of radicalising young people' (Muslim News, 2007).

2.8. Arson attack on Greenwich Islamic Centre

To underline the point Bunglawala and Versi were making, there have been a significant number of arson and criminal damage attacks against Mosques and Islamic centres in the UK since they made their warnings in 2007. The majority have not taken place in London and we will be reporting on them in our next report (EMRC July 2010). However, the risk of further attacks against mosques will be significant throughout the new decade in London as elsewhere in the UK and so we have chosen to illustrate the dreadful impact such attacks have by reference to an arson attack on the Greenwich Islamic Centre in June 2009. In fact the centre was petrol bombed twice in one week as the following press report makes clear:

A brave caretaker was hurt as he risked his life to save a mosque torched by arsonists in the second petrol bomb attack in a week. Mohamed Koheeallee, 62, raced to tackle 7ft flames at the Greenwich Islamic Centre in Plumstead Road at 12.15am on Tuesday. Grabbing a bucket of water, he extinguished the fire as it spread inside but when he opened a fire exit, he was engulfed by flames burning his arm and his face. Choking with smoke inhalation and despite his injuries, he carried on dousing the fire until the mosque was safe but when he tried to tackle the source of the blaze he was pushed back by its intensity. Holy texts, including the most sacred in Islam – the Koran – were burned (Bexley Times, 2009).

It is disappointing but hardly surprising to note that the outstanding bravery of the caretaker Mr. Koheeallee was not taken up by the mainstream, national media. Nevertheless, the report in the local paper properly captures the importance of his role and the negative community impact that is sustained when a Mosque and its precious contents are damaged or destroyed:

Mr Koheeallee, who believes the attack was racially motivated, was taken to Queen Elizabeth Hospital by ambulance to be treated for smoke inhalation and burns and was later discharged. He said: 'It makes me feel really bad to see the burnt holy scriptures. If these people have a problem they should be brave enough to say it to my face, but not like this' The caretaker had also dealt with another arson attack at the mosque which had been less serious but had taken place a week before at approximately the same time of night (Bexley Times, 2009).

Calls for enhanced local police support, as reported here, will clearly be strengthened if the issue is addressed and co-ordinated nationally:

The centre's director, Dr Tariq Abbasi, said 'enough is enough,' and has called on the new Greenwich borough commander Richard Wood to take action. Dr Abbasi said: 'This is as bad as it can get. Nobody deserves this. Seeing burnt copies of the Koran, the emotional impact has been devastating. Monetary loss is one thing, the building can be re-built, but the emotional scars can last for years. The Muslim community see this as a racist attack on a place of worship.' He said a racist minority may have been encouraged after BNP members won seats in the European elections (Bexley Times, 2009).

Research Findings

We note the reference to the incident as a 'racist attack' and that remains a common and reasonable perception in Muslim communities, especially those with family backgrounds in India, Pakistan and Bangladesh who often have extended firsthand experience of racism in London. Our research project therefore has an additional purpose of educating communities as well as politicians, policy makers, police, media and academics about the changing nature of anti-Muslim hate crimes. It is also worth noting that there is a vast range of experience in Muslim London with the most telling experience generally found amongst those who are in touch with the street (or grass roots).

Hate crimes involving arson and criminal damage are substantively different from the kind of violent gang attacks we have described previously. While the general motivation may be the same an arson attack often involves a degree of research, planning and preparation that is absent in most street attacks on Muslims. Our interviewees with experience of London's violent extremist nationalist milieu express concern that arson attacks against mosques have become more prevalent because of increased anti-Muslim sentiment generally and adverse publicity surrounding the building of new mosques in London in particular.⁸⁹ The same interviewees confirm that violent extremist nationalists (including those convicted for manufacturing or possessing bombs such as Lewington (see 2.2) and Gavan (see 2.3) above) regard attacks on mosques as another tactical option alongside others like vandalizing Muslim graves in cemeteries.⁹⁰

 $^{\rm 89}$ Interview references AMHC 30-33. $^{\rm 90}$ Ibid.

3. Low level street assaults, abuse and intimidation of Muslims

As we noted in the introduction, evidence presented in this report suggests that a significant number of Muslim Londoners have been the victims of hate crimes during the last decade and especially since 9/11. While some of the more serious attacks of the kind we have illustrated have been reported to police, the overwhelming majority of Muslim victims of hate crimes appear not to have reported the incidents to police. Sometimes, interviewees suggest, that failure to report a crime to police is because of a lack of confidence in the police and other times because of a failure to appreciate that an incident merits police attention. Typical incidents that have not been reported to police include men spitting at Muslim women wearing burkas⁹¹ or hijabs⁹² in the street. Invariably in incidents of this kind the male attacker does not know his female victim and makes an abusive comment to indicate to the victim, and sometimes to bystanders, why he is committing the crime. To illustrate the point in one such incident in August 2008, a male passenger leaning out of the front seat window of a white Renault van shouted "f****** terrorist c***" at a Muslim woman who was waiting at a bus stop in Tooting High Street.⁹³ Immediately prior to hearing this abuse the victim had been struck on the chin by phlegm that her unknown assailant spat at her.94

On this occasion the victim described her assailant as a white male with a London accent, someone she said who looked 'a bit like the footballer Paul Gascoigne'.⁹⁵ In many other unreported incidents of this kind, however, assailants have often been described by their victims as sharing the same or a similar ethnic background as their own. Thus, for example, in another unreported hate crime involving spitting and threatening abuse the female Muslim victim described her assailant as a "Jamaican" and a "Yardie".⁹⁶ When talking to other black Londoners who had converted to Islam, friends she called her "Salafi sisters"⁹⁷ the victim in this incident discovered that what had happened to her had become commonplace.⁹⁸ Indeed, in one of the most serious unreported incidents disclosed during our research we

- ⁹³ Interview reference AMHC 27.
- 94 Ibid.
- ⁹⁵ Ibid.
- ⁹⁶ Interview reference AMHC 28.
- ⁹⁷ *Ibid.* See Robert, 2005 for London Salafi womens' perspective.

⁹⁸ Ibid.

⁹¹ Burka or chador - a full length garment covering a woman from head to foot, generally black.

⁹² Hijab or veil – a headscarf.

discovered that a female black Londoner was punched and abused by an unknown male black Londoner in front of her infant daughter because she was a "f****** Muslim slave".⁹⁹

Other victims of unreported hate crimes attest to the same largely unacknowledged fact: Muslim Londoners have been attacked by fellow Londoners who sometimes share the same ethnic backgrounds as their victims. Incidents disclosed to our research team reveal victims and assailants sometimes sharing broad South Asian, Near East, North African, Sub-Saharan African, Afro-Caribbean as well as English and European ethnic backgrounds. In addition, in some instances, victims have identified their assailants as sharing the same ethnic or family connections to specific countries, such as France, Algeria, Egypt, Tunisia, India, Bosnia, Iran and Pakistan. In addition, in other cases, Muslim Londoners who have been the victims of hate crimes have described their assailants as being immigrants from Poland and other European countries.

None of which is to intended to divert attention from the fact that the majority of assailants appear to be local Londoners who are described by their victims as being white and English. Rather, our purpose is to highlight the fact that a significant minority of unreported anti-Muslim hate crimes do not sit easily within preexisting notions of racist hate crimes and more especially suggests that the familiar use of the term 'anti Muslim racism' may need to be re-assessed. More importantly, our research highlights what victims know only too well - they have been attacked because they are Muslims, not because they are Asian, Afro-Caribbean, African, or immigrants. It therefore follows, we conclude, that if assailants and victims are clear that the victims' Muslim identity is a motivation for hate crime, it behaves policy makers, public servants (especially police), political commentators, think-tanks and academics to formulate responses that take that fact into account.

To help that process we have asked former members and associates of the British National Party (BNP), English Defence League (EDL), National Front (NF), Combat 18 and other extremist nationalist groups to explain how they have come to target Muslims for vilification and physical attacks. Their answers

- ¹⁰² ZOG a term of abuse for Jews based on the notion of a Zionist
- Occupation [or Occupied] Government, an anti-Semitic conspiracy theory.

¹⁰⁴ Interview reference AMRC 33.

are unambiguous and coherent as in this example: "Muslims either want to blow us up or piss on our way of life".¹⁰⁰ Certainly Nick Griffin, leader of the BNP, has been absolutely clear throughout the decade that Muslims pose a serious threat to social cohesion in parts of London and those other poor urban areas where they are concentrated in large numbers (Allen, 2009; Griffin 2007, 2008). According to an experienced NF and Combat 18 street activist in London, Muslims began to replace Asians, Afro-Caribbeans, Jews and gays as targets for vilification and attack after the riots in Burnley, Oldham and Bradford in June and July 2001.¹⁰¹ "We still hated ZOG¹⁰² but Muslims with their bombs and breeding like rabbits were totally unacceptable."¹⁰³

Similarly, an experienced BNP activist in London, explains that he believes that most BNP supporters simply followed the lead set by their favourite tabloid commentators that they read every day.¹⁰⁴ When these commentators singled out Muslims as threats to security and social cohesion, he says that it was perfectly natural for BNP supporters to adopt the same thinking.¹⁰⁵ Similarly, BNP supporters would learn from newspaper commentators who sought to disprove the charge that they were racists by demonstrating their friendships with Asians and Afro-Caribbeans.¹⁰⁶ Thus it became commonplace for many former racists to accept that their former targets had become less problematic, even sometimes potential allies in the far more important task of tackling the Muslim threat.¹⁰⁷

Similarly, a former extremist nationalist activist in London explains that most BNP supporters simply followed the lead set by the tabloid journalists and radio phone-in hosts they read and heard every day.¹⁰⁸ So that when they constantly read and heard that Muslims were threats to security and social cohesion it was perfectly natural for BNP supporters to adopt the same thinking.¹¹² Similarly, BNP supporters would learn a useful tactic from the same commentators who often sought to disprove the charge that they were racists by demonstrating their friendships with Asians and Afro-Caribbeans.¹¹³ Thus it became commonplace for many former racists to argue and demonstrate that their former targets had become less problematic, even sometimes potential allies in the far more important task of tackling the Muslim threat.¹¹⁴

¹¹² Interview reference AMRC 33.

⁹⁹ Interview reference AMRC 29.

¹⁰⁰ Interview reference AMRC 30.

¹⁰¹ Interview reference AMRC 31.

 $^{^{\}rm 103}$ Interview reference AMRC 3 I .

¹⁰⁵ Interview reference AMRC 33.

¹⁰⁶ Ibid.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

¹⁰⁸ Interview reference AMRC 33.

 ¹⁰⁹ Richard Littlejohn – *Daily Mail* columnist, previously columnist for *The Sun*.
 ¹¹⁰ John Gaunt, known as Gaunty, radio talk show host, former columnist for *The Sun*.

¹¹¹ Melanie Phillips – author of *Londonistan* and columnist for the *Daily Mail* and *The Spectator.*

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Ibid.

Research Findings

3.1. Death threats and threats of harm

Another important aspect of routine, everyday anti-Muslim hate crime is anonymous telephone, email and postal death threats and threats of harm. Indeed on occasion they require to be classified as serious hate crimes. Since 9/11 hundreds of death threats, threats of serious physical harm, along with more general violent threats and abuse have been received by national Muslim organisations, most of whom have their headquarters in London. While it is impossible to quantify, it is absolutely clear that many of the more serious ones have come from members, supporters or sympathisers of the violent extremist nationalist milieu in the UK.¹¹⁵ Naturally the threats spread the full gamut from extremely serious to the very minor. Nevertheless, even the most minor contribute to a sense of siege especially in the immediate aftermath of terrorist incidents in the UK, attributed to al-Qaida when the volume of such threats often increase alarmingly. According to one interviewee who has had responsibility for incoming post, emails and telephone calls at a prominent national Muslim organisation, there is a danger that staff can get so used to these kind of threats that they may overlook ones that are serious.¹¹⁶

We should explain the context and background for these kinds of death threats. As our experienced police interviewees have emphasised a death threat may be serious or it may be little more than a throw away remark. Broadly speaking, seriousness will depend on the perpetrators intention and ability to affect his or her purpose. Death threats may be serious when they are hoaxes provided the perpetrator of the hoax has the actual capability to make the threat credible and compelling. Death threats may be closely related to threats of serious harm made by the same individual or on behalf of the same group or organization. Finally death threats may be made by an individual or group known to the victim or they may be made anonymously, by a variety of means, by an unknown individual sometimes on behalf of a group or organisation that may also be known or unknown.

In addition two of our interviewees from the violent extremist nationalist milieu recall that death threats have always been a staple in that arena. 'Bomb threats, death threats, yeh, mobile phone from the pub after a few drinks! But it can get very nasty. Let's be honest. Ten years if you get caught.¹¹⁷ Rather like delivering leaflets is a bread and butter activity for non violent extremists such as local BNP activists, so too do those that graduate to street violence often become used to the routine business of intimidating enemies in a number of ways, one of which involves the communication of death threats, bomb threats and the like:

Its both ways. The BNP probably get more death threats and bomb threats than anyone! Who would ever have wanted to spend the night in the bookshop! [reference to the BNP bookshop in Welling that was in a constant state of siege from violent anti-fascist activists in the 1990s]¹¹⁸

In 2008 a leading member of a London based national Muslim organisation was subjected to serious death threats that required police attention. For personal security reasons we do not wish to provide details of this case or many other cases brought to our attention where prominent, respectable members of mainstream Muslim organisations have been subject of death threats and threats of violence. Rather simply by recording a representative case we intend to highlight a significant and widespread occurrence worthy of attention.

The 2008 death threat case is typical of the overwhelming number of death threats and threats of serious physical harm that have been made to Muslim individuals and organisations in London since 9/11 – they are made on a false premise. To explain: from the perspective of most activists in the violent extremist nationalist milieu Muslim organisations that are linked directly or indirectly to the al-Qaida terrorist threat to the UK are considered worthy targets for attack and intimidation, and death threats are part of their panoply of tactical options. Like their counterparts in non violent extremist nationalist politics (most notably the BNP) these street activists have spent the last decade getting their instruction on who al-Qaida's active and tacit supporters are in London from highly visible, obvious yet problematic sources.¹¹⁹ Thus violent extremist nationalist tabloid readers have become convinced that *Londonistan* is home to several national Muslim organisations that purport to condemn al-Qaida but are in fact part and parcel of the same threat.

¹¹⁵ Interview references AMHC 5, 30-33, 42.

¹¹⁶ Interview reference AMHC 6.

¹¹⁷ Interview reference AMHC 30.

¹¹⁸ Ibid.

¹¹⁹ Interview references AMHC 30-31, 40-42.

In consequence, for activists in groups like the English Defence League (EDL), a leading member of a mainstream national Muslim organisation will be understood to be a wolf in sheep's clothing, every bit as much as an enemy target Anjem Choudary, a well known London based extremist al-Qaida apologist. This conflation of mainstream Muslim figures with extremists like Choudary is problematic for many reasons but in this current context it results in death threats being made to responsible London citizens because of false and often malicious assertions that they pose a security threat to the UK.

At the time of writing, in January 2010, Anjem Choudary is also receiving police support because of a death threat (Daily Mail, 2010):

Metropolitan police officers have been told to give his protection priority above other local policing jobs such as muggings, theft and foot patrols. Officers tasked with carrying out these patrols have privately expressed their fury at being diverted away from what they regard as 'proper policing'. Their concerns intensified after a Facebook campaign against the march attracted the support of more than 250,000 Britons and led to threats against Choudary's life. A police source said that since the checks began last week, they had already taken up around £2,500 of police time, often occupying beat officers for entire shifts if counter-terror detectives are not available.

Daily Mail readers have been left in no doubt that police resources might be better deployed:

'We [the police] are being diverted away from other jobs to carry out these checks and they are given priority over other things, such as house break-ins,' the source said. 'Choudary has deliberately made himself a target among far-Right groups and his recent plans to protest at Wootton Bassett have stirred up even more anger. 'His address is widely known and police fear it's a powderkeg atmosphere. Senior officers are frightened of having a race war on their hands. 'If something were to happen to him, we would be blamed.' (Daily Mail, 2010).

In fact, the Mail's police source is describing one of policing's most critical roles: defending the universally despised from the lynch mob (Kleinig, 1996; Alderson, 1998). Protecting Anjem Choudary and protecting Nick Griffin is therefore as important for the police as protecting paedophiles. Similarly, many

Londoners will recall that the Metropolitan Police protected the Islamophobic author Salman Rushdie when he faced a death threat emanating from Ayatollah Khomeini in Iran. This is all part of an MPS tradition of protecting free speech in London.

'They [referring to London's violent extremist nationalist milieu] would love to get him [Choudary]' our interviewee suggested, 'he's the number one enemy in every pub in England'.¹²⁰ 'lf someone like Gavan who knows what he's doing [reference to his military skill] gets half a chance, bosh, he's dead, goodbye.'¹²¹ Our point is that Choudary deserves public disapprobation and police protection from violent extremists.

3.2. Unreported anti-Muslim hate crimes

As our research clearly indicates that Muslims are specifically targeted by assailants in unreported hate crimes it is not surprising that the same should be true in respect of hate crimes that are reported to police. However, whereas since the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry (Macpherson, 2006), MPS officers have been under a strict duty to take the victims perspective into account when reporting a race hate crime (Sharp, 2002; Souhami, 2007) this imperative has sometimes proved problematic in respect of attacks on Muslims.¹²² On this key issue the report presents compelling accounts from members of the MSF and case workers for the Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC) who have been at the forefront of efforts to enhance police support for Muslim victims of hate crimes during the last decade.

The problem of unreported hate crime is one that policy makers and police have tackled with some success in partnerships with representatives of other minority communities during the same decade. However, our research suggests that pro-active responses to hate crimes against ethnic and lifestyle minorities in London have not been extended to Muslim Londoners with the same success. Black and Asian Londoners who also happen to be Muslims provide compelling evidence on this point. For example, two experienced representatives for South Asian and Afro-Caribbean origin Muslim Londoners have witnessed a sharp contrast between the two approaches.¹²³ On the one hand both recall attending productive and pro-active anti-racist meetings with members of the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) Racial and Violent Crime Task Force (subsequently renamed the Diversity Directorate) before 9/11 when their Muslim identity was not an issue and they were treated instead as Black or Asian Londoners. Subsequently, after 9/11, their Muslim identity became an issue, often a problem, and inhibited the kind of support they had previously received from police.

¹²⁰ Interview reference AMRC 31.

¹²¹ *Ibid.*

¹²² Interview reference AMRC 05.

¹²³ Interview references AMRC 01 and 10.

Research Findings

We will develop strategies for tackling under-reporting in our next report but for now it will be helpful to note Tim Parson's observations (see appendix). Here is an important extract:

Identifying underlying reasons for the under-reporting of hate crime and Islamophobic hate crime in particular, is far harder to achieve. We might speculate that many in the Muslim community or communities are either distrustful of the police, distrustful of democratic institutions generally or perceive that their complaints won't be taken seriously. There may be additional reasons for under-reporting or not reporting hate crime and further contributing factors that might exert a negative influence. These might include language barriers, with victims having insufficient grasp of English to make them confident enough to explain their situation to a public official; cultural influences, whereby there is pressure from within the community not to involve outside agencies such as the police, may also have an influence (Parsons, 2010).

Ahmed,¹²⁴ recalls how after 9/11 he found himself at odds with MPS police officers for the first time when complaining that many young Muslims were facing the double jeopardy of hate crime attacks – as part of a backlash to 9/11 – and an increased risk of being subjected to widespread 'stop and search' counterterrorism policing tactics and approaches by counter-terrorism police and security service officers to become informants.¹²⁵ Abdullah, for his part, recalls how quickly he was re-cast by police as a member of a suspect community simply because terrorist suspects had used the same Mosque as law abiding Muslims.¹²⁶ Typically, both Ahmed and Abdullah concede that the post 9/11 terrorist threat to London placed a responsibility on Muslim communities to support reasonable and effective counter-terrorism measures. From their perspective, however, much that was done domestically and internationally in the name of the 'war on terror' was counter-productive, alienating and contributed to the popular, negative image of Muslims that fuelled anti-Muslim hate crimes.127

Of particular significance to the next phase of our research, Parsons' contribution (see appendix) highlights good MPS practice:

The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) does have a crime recording system sufficiently sophisticated to breakdown religiously motivated hate crimes by the specific religion subject to such hostile action. Current data shows that the vast majority of religiously motivated hate crimes reported in London are either anti-Semitic, (in this context meaning targeted at Jewish individuals, Jewish premises or communities) or Islamophobic hate crime. The most recent dataset, (the precise figures I am not authorised to publish here) show a close similarity of numbers between the two types of religiously motivated offence - i.e. either anti-Semitic or Islamophobic. This near parity in numbers of crimes reported/recorded needs to be considered against the background of two very different population groups (Parsons, 2010, see appendix A).

A comparison of statistics here between Islamophobic (or anti-Muslim) hate crimes and anti-Semitic hate crimes in London is relevant to our future research. One of our interviewees has urged us to recommend that Muslim businesses should be encouraged to fund the MSF substantially so that it can be as effective as the Community Security Trust (CST) has been during the last two decades in encouraging, facilitating and monitoring the recording and dissemination of anti-Semitic hate crimes. 'If we could be half as effective as the CST we would begin to see the real scale of the problem, at the moment it's just the tip of an iceberg'.¹²⁸ We accept that the CST has an outstanding record of service to Jewish Londoners in this field but we will complete the next phase of our research before making detailed recommendations.

3.3. Impact of British National Party

We have already dealt with the influence of BNP politics in respect of serious anti-Muslim hate crime and it necessarily follows that the same malign influence is at play in respect to low level anti-Muslim hate crimes. In support of this last point we refer to recent research that demonstrates links between local BNP activity and a rise in hate crime:

One of the biggest increases in hate crime came in Barking's Eastbury ward, where racially motivated

 $^{\rm 127}$ Interview references AMRC 01 and 10.

¹²⁸ Interview reference AMHC 7.

¹²⁴ Ahmed – assumed name for research purposes, interview reference AMRC 02.

¹²⁵ Interview reference AMRC 01.

¹²⁶ Abdullah – assumed name for research purposes, Interview reference AMRC 10.

violence, theft and criminal damage more than doubled in the year after Jeffrey Steed won a council seat for the BNP in May 2006. A year later, hate crime rose again and 45 racial incidents were reported in 12 months (Booth, 2010).

The fact that this increase is referred to in terms of racial incidents is one we have already addressed in this report: we have numerous examples of anti-Muslim hate crimes that have been recorded as race hate crimes. However, given that the BNP has started campaigning in Barking ahead of the 2010 general election and in support of the BNP leader Nick Griffin it will be useful for the MPS to consider just how much BNP vitriol is reserved in this campaign exclusively for Muslims. 'Griffin would not want to see Hindus being attacked but he won't lose any sleep if the local Mosque gets torched' is how a former member of the violent extremist nationalist milieu expressed the implications of BNP campaign policy in Barking.¹²⁹ We mention this because our emphasis on Muslims as prime targets for attack from violent extremist nationalists appears to run counter to Searchlight's threat assessment in Barking. This is worth noting because *Searchlight* has an outstanding record of assessing this kind of threat in London and we do not demur from their findings lightly.

As part of its support for anti-BNP campaigners in Barking and across the UK in the run up to the general election *Searchlight* has prepared an informative website *Hope not Hate* (Searchlight, 2010). We make our point about our competing analyses by highlighting the fact that *Hope not Hate* is overwhelmingly dedicated to describing the BNP as racist, anti-Semitic, homophobic and anti-immigrant and not as anti-Muslim or Islamophobic:

The British National Party is becoming a household name. In the process it is trying to appear more moderate and respectable. But it is not. Scratch the surface and you find the same old racist organisation it always was. It is run by hardline nazis who believe that the Holocaust did not happen. Its rule book remains firmly entrenched in the principles of racial superiority and the banning of racial integration (Searchlight, 2010).

We have no interest in defending the BNP from these charges. Indeed we do not doubt they are accurate. Our concern is that police in Barking should have a clearer understanding of how the violent extremist nationalist milieu that gravitates around BNP campaigning is more likely to be focused on Muslims and Muslim buildings as prime targets.

4. Conclusion: Londoners' resilience and good citizenship

We will conclude by putting our research topic into context. The overwhelming majority of Londoners display courtesy and respect to their neighbours irrespective of religion or race. It is often forgotten that it was only a minority of Londoners who were openly hostile to Commonwealth immigrants in the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s. Racist violence was always a fringe minority activity just as anti-Muslim violence has become. However, it only needs a small number of individuals and gangs to make life a misery for minority communities.

Although resilience has become a popular term with academics and policy makers, it is a notion like radicalisation that is hard to pin down and describe conceptually. Nevertheless, for us, resilience properly describes the capacity of Londoners to respond positively and phlegmatically to the challenges of living and working in one of the world's most populous and diverse cities. At key moments in London's history this innate quality in its citizens has become heroic when defeating attempts by political extremists to stigmatise members of London's minority communities. Ultimately the divisive anti-Semitic rhetoric of Mosley's Blackshirts in the 1930s, and the divisive racist rhetoric of the National Front in the 1970s, were defeated by ordinary Londoners who rejected messages of hate towards their neighbours and instead respected and embraced the differences they were encouraged to despise.

Even though the challenge is far greater, we are equally confident that Londoners will defeat the divisive anti-Muslim rhetoric of the British National Party (BNP) in the same way in the next decade. Many visible displays of Londoners' resilience have occurred so far during our research study to help illustrate the solid basis for this optimistic assessment. One example will suffice. On a warm Bank Holiday afternoon in Regents Park orthodox Muslim families, the BNP's target community for vilification, and orthodox Jewish families, no longer a target community for vilification by the BNP, stood out from the majority of secular Londoners. While all London families - and visitors to the capital - were enjoying the delights of the day both orthodox Muslim and Jewish Londoners were immediately identifiable because they were wearing formal and traditional clothes dictated by religious and cultural imperatives derived from their respective renditions of Abrahamic faith. Whereas the majority of secular Londoners were celebrating the good weather by wearing as little as possible, their Muslim and Jewish neighbours were equally comfortable in clothes that concealed most of their flesh from the Sun's rays and public view. Casual observation

Research Findings

suggested no discernable friction arising from such opposite approaches to enjoying the Bank Holiday. On the contrary, secular, Muslim and Jewish parents shared the same emotional enjoyment while their children excitedly paddled small boats and relaxed with ice creams.

But the BNP, like their predecessors in the Blackshirts and the NF, do not seek to recruit in Regents Park on a sunny Bank Holiday. Such scenes of multi-cultural harmony and resilience depress and frustrate them. Instead the BNP spreads its message of anti-Muslim bigotry to London audiences when their real Muslims neighbours are absent and are misrepresented instead as extremist, dangerous, subversive and uncongenial.

Both John Denham (UK Secretary for Communities and Local Government) and Sir Paul Stevenson (Metropolitan Police Commissioner) express satisfaction that the last decade witnessed significant improvements in tackling racism and achieving equality and justice for minority ethnic communities. Denham therefore anticipates this new decade's challenge having more to do with achieving equality and justice for citizens disadvantaged through class, thus shifting away from notions of race and ethnicity (Sparrow and Owen, 2010). Stevenson anticipates a decade of policing without institutional racism (Dodd, 2009). We would urge both of them when reading this report to take seriously the suggestion that the new decade should also be marked by a commitment to achieve equality and justice for the capital's poorest and most unfairly stigmatised citizens – Muslim Londoners.

Equality and social justice are certainly the political imperatives that will guide the recommendations we will make when we report on the national situation in *Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime in the UK* in six months time and then across Europe throughout the new decade. Moreover, equality and social justice are clearly the qualities that will be needed to underpin efforts to tackle the problem over the next ten years. We will aim to provide examples of what this might look like in practical terms based on successful grass roots initiatives we encounter in our research. We conclude by giving one illustration from our preliminary research in London. London Citizens is an established grass roots initiative that empowers poor and marginalised Londoners to campaign effectively in their local communities to reduce the hardships of urban poverty. For example in Whitechapel Muslims from the East London Mosque have joined campaigns to persuade companies in nearby Docklands to pay a minimum wage to cleaners and more recently to persuade nearby City bankers to restrict excessive interest rates on loans. London Citizen campaigns of this kind are bottom up and have the intrinsic benefit of bringing disadvantaged London citizens from all faiths and none together for a common purpose.

We believe the London Citizens model can be employed to reduce the ignorance and hatred that breeds Islamophobia and anti-Muslim hate crime. Yasir Abdelmouttalib and his family certainly agree with this assessment. Through their local mosque and community centre they have been introduced to the work of London Citizens and found it enormously empowering. In addition meeting the organisers of London Citizens has reassured them that Londoners are compassionate and that the Londoners who attacked Yasir might become so too if they were educated about good citizenship.



Appendix

Islamophobia: Islamophobic Hate Crime and the Challenge that Western Societies must rise to Tim Parsons

Introduction

The potential threat posed by Islamophobia to community cohesion in Europe's increasingly multicultural and multi-faith societies, is steadily becoming the focus for increasing attention and scrutiny by governments, inter-governmental organisations, (IGO) such as the European Union and the United Nations, as well as numerous research institutes, community-based nongovernmental organisations, (NGO) journalists and faith leaders.

In May 2009 the Organisation of the Islamic Conference, (OIC) presented their second Observatory Report on Islamophobia to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights.

In the foreword to the report, Professor Ekmeleddin Ihsanoglu, Secretary General of the OIC comments that:

"Islamophobia signifies the contemporary proliferation of discrimination against Muslims and distortion of Islam and is partly due to the ignorance and lack of understanding of Islam in the West. It would be an unfortunate error in judgement in believing that Islam is linked to terror; that it is intolerant of other religious beliefs, that its values and practices are not democratic; that it favours repression of freedom of expression and undermining human rights.

Religion being an integral component of every civilization and culture, the misperception and lack of understanding of Islam in the West poses a potent threat to the peace and security of the present and the future generations. Islamophobia is a manifestation of racial discrimination. It constitutes a two stranded form of racism anchored in both the different physical appearance of Muslims as well as the intolerance of their religion and cultural beliefs. It has now spread to the level of mainstream political activity and needs to be considered and addressed as one of the most serious threats to the world's stability."¹

Institutionalised Islamophobia, often operating beneath the surface on a subliminal level, can manifest itself in anti-Muslim

- ³ http://www.newstatesman.com/blogs/mehdi-hasan/2010/01/burkaniqab-bat-french-france
- ⁴ http://www.archives.chicagotribute.com

policy decisions, (the proposed vote on banning the wearing of the burqa in France^{2,3} and the existing ban on wearing the hijab in public buildings) or in populist but discriminatory political agendas such as the recent referenda decision in Switzerland to ban the building of minarets^{4,5} by mosques.

At a local level, on the street and within communities Islamophobia may manifest itself as religiously motivated hate crime. These crimes, often consisting of incidents of verbal abuse, minor assault or low-level criminal damage can sometimes move into the category of very serious offences; arson, serious assault or murder. Perhaps surprisingly the use of precise legal definitions for such offences whereby the element of religious hatred is clearly articulated is not widespread in Europe and the reporting and recording of such offences is often either inconsistent or non-existent.

Western Responses

The Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE)⁶ is the largest security organisation in the world with 56 member states including the U.S.A and Russia. The OSCE publishes an Annual Report of Hate Crimes, Incidents and Responses.⁷ Their 2008 report in the chapter titled *Crimes Against Muslims;* states: "Although 15 participating States informed the OSCE that they collect data on anti-Muslim hate crimes, only Austria and Sweden submitted figures on such crimes in 2008. Statistical data from Canada and the United States was not available in time for this report and will be published at a later date."

The report further states that: "France did not submit any data on anti-Muslim hate crimes. *Collectif Contre l' Islamophobie en France* ⁸ reported eight cases of arson or vandalism of mosques, the desecration of three cemeteries and that 59 individuals had been the victims of hate-motivated incidents.

The NGO Cojep International reported three cases of the destruction of property; there were two incidents of the use of insulting graffiti reported."⁹

The absence of any official submission of data from the French state on Islamophobic hate crime should be seen within the context of France's very significant Muslim population, estimated to number over 5 million.

⁷ The OSCE/ODIHR, *Hate Crimes in the OSCE Region* –

¹ 2nd OIC Observatory Report on Islamophobia, June 2008 to April 2009, p 1

² http://www.csmonitor.com;

⁵ http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2009/nov/ 29/ Switzerland-bans-mosque-minarets
⁶ http://www.osce.org

Incidents and Responses, Annual Report for 2008 p. 47 ⁸ Collective Action against Islamophobia, an NGO.

⁹ Ibid, p. 47

Appendix

In the United Kingdom the Criminal Justice Act 2003¹⁰ introduced the offence categories of *incitement to religious hatred* and *religiously motivated offences*. Such offences are now recorded and statistics on such offences can be found on the Ministry of Justice website. Latest figures show a total of 46,000 hate crimes or incidents recorded in the UK (2008-09) of which 1700 were religiously motivated.¹¹ However, across the 43 Home Office police forces in England and Wales the recording and monitoring of religiously motivated offences is not sufficiently detailed to identify crimes motivated specifically by Islamophobia, or hostility to Muslims.

The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) does have a crime recording system sufficiently sophisticated to breakdown religiously motivated hate crimes by the specific religion subject to such hostile action. Current data shows that the vast majority of religiously motivated hate crimes reported in London are either anti-Semitic, (in this context meaning targeted at Jewish individuals, Jewish premises or communities) or Islamophobic hate crime. The most recent dataset, (the precise figures I am not authorised to publish here) show a close similarity of numbers between the two types of religiously motivated offence - i.e. either anti-Semitic or Islamophobic. This near parity in numbers of crimes reported/recorded needs to be considered against the background of two very different population groups. The Jewish community in Britain is estimated to number around 320,000 (there is in fact no reliable data, the 2001 Census data¹² is now long out of date although some reasonably reliable projections can be made form that dataset).

The UK Jewish population is reasonably static, with an ageing profile, the consequence of a falling birth rate. This population does not benefit from any replenishment through immigration.

The Muslim population in the UK (now estimated at around 2 million) ¹³ is extremely diverse in terms of nationality, ethnicity and culture. Around half of the UK's Muslim population is estimated to be below the age of 25.¹⁴ This population, which continues to experience some increase through migration to the UK is clearly set to grow. Within this context it might be assumed

¹⁰ The Criminal Justice Act 2003, Sub Sections 145 & 146

- 13 http://www.guardian.co.uk, Tuesday 8th April, 2008.
- 14 http://www.opendemocracy.net

that the numbers of reported Islamophobic hate crimes/incidents would be significantly higher from the Muslim communities.

Reasons for under-reporting

The persistent phenomena of under-reporting of hate motivated crime is well established and in the Government's Cross-Government Action Plan, clearly reiterated: "Large numbers of people who experience hate crime do not report these crimes to the police."¹⁵

Identifying underlying reasons for the under-reporting of hate crime and Islamophobic hate crime in particular, is far harder to achieve. We might speculate that many in the Muslim community or communities are either distrustful of the police, distrustful of democratic institutions generally or perceive that their complaints won't be taken seriously. There may be additional reasons for under-reporting or not reporting hate crime and further contributing factors that might exert a negative influence. These might include language barriers, with victims having insufficient grasp of English to make them confident enough to explain their situation to a public official; cultural influences, whereby there is pressure from within the community not to involve outside agencies such as the police, may also have an influence.

The age and gender of the victim or victims, may also have a bearing on their ability to come forward and report such incidents to the police or; there may be a sense of weariness and resignation to the perceived inevitability of religious persecution from a hostile and largely agnostic ethnic majority.

In fact the evidence to support any of these assertions is not at all clear-cut. For instance a study conducted by Gallup for the Coexist Foundation (2009) found that "British Muslims (76%) are more likely than the British public (67%) as a whole to say they trust their police force." ¹⁶ This would seem to imply that British Muslims would not be reticent about coming forward and reporting matters to the police if they became the victims of crime – including hate crime.

¹⁵ Hate Crime – The Cross-Government Action Plan, p. 9

¹⁶ The Gallup Coexist Index 2009: A global Study of Interfaith Relations, The Coexist Foundation, 2009 p.24



¹¹ Source: Race Confidence and Justice Unit – OCJR.

¹² http://www.boardofdeputies.org.uk

However a different piece of research conducted by the European Union¹⁷ across the 27 states within the EU found that "Overall 51% of Muslims compared to 20% of non-Muslim ethnic minorities surveyed believe discrimination on grounds of religion or belief to be "very" or "fairly" widespread." ¹⁸ It also found that "11% of all Muslim respondents considered that they were a victim of a racially motivated assault, threat or serious harassment in the last 12 months." The report goes on to say that: "Although in percentage terms the number may not appear to be so high, in real terms, if we translate this to the entire Muslim population in the member states where Muslim respondents were surveyed, the level of victimisation would extend into thousands of cases every year that are not recorded by the police as racist incidents in the majority of member states." ¹⁹

Perhaps the most significant finding in the report and the one that might give an indication towards some of the fundamental reasons for the under-reporting of hate crime is the observation that: "The majority of Muslim respondents are largely unaware that discrimination against them might be illegal. Furthermore, even more respondents are unaware of any organisation in their country that might be able to assist them if they are discriminated against."²⁰

Of course these findings must be handled with care and their wider context fully considered; for instance the survey was conducted across the whole of the European Union and not concentrated around the situation in the UK, and it must be remembered that in many EU states the entire national attitude towards immigration, ethnic and religious diversity, and pluralism in society is far less positive than it is in Britain.

Conclusions

The picture for policymakers attempting to reduce the incidence of Islamophobic hate crime and increase the levels of reporting of such crimes, is clearly incomplete. At the very least, one could assert from the evidence available that a problem exists, that perceptions are as important in shaping a community's attitude towards the police and officialdom generally, as well as feelings about how safe people might feel in their homes and in public spaces.

¹⁷ EU-MIDIS European Union Minorities and Discrimination

More research needs to be conducted into the underlying issues; the fundamentals of hate crime offending, the propensity or otherwise of individuals to report incidents of discrimination, harassment or assault and what Muslim communities themselves would like to see changed or improved in regard to an appropriate police response.

Attempting to change or influence the overlaying social and political background, against which Islamophobic hate crimes might proliferate, is a far more challenging issue to address. It should be a matter of concern to the majority, not just those within Muslim communities themselves that mainstream political parties in countries such as France and Switzerland should be seen to pursue blatantly Islamophobic domestic policies, or propagate a strongly Islamophobic national political discourse.

Too often in Western countries popular discourse on the importance of "valuing" equality, diversity and human rights does not feed through into the actions of governments; either towards their own Muslim citizens or towards the majority Muslim countries that they seek relations with. Such an inconsistency in approach I would argue, serves only to undermine all efforts to combat Islamophobia within a domestic context, and to build a sustainable and enduring sense of belonging and equal status among the diverse Muslim communities we seek to engage with.

It must surely be even more damaging to the promotion of equality and human rights to be glib and insincere in our commitment to diversity; to write and publish policies, strategies, action plans and organisational goals that in reality only a small minority have any interest in pursuing, developing or delivering. If that is the level of our commitment then we are surely condemned to fail and worse to further alienate the very people we claim to want to help.

Survey, 2009

¹⁸ Ibid, p. 10

¹⁹ Ibid, p. 12 ²⁰ Ibid, p. 11

1990 Trust, 2006. Survey, Muslim Views: Foreign Policy and its Effects. London: 1990 Trust.

Abbas, Tahir, 2004. After 9/11: British South Asian Muslims, Islamophobia, Multiculturalism, and the State. *American Journal of Social Sciences.* 21 (3), pp. 26-38.

Abbas, Tahir, 2005. Recent Developments to British Multicultural Theory, Policy and Practice: the Case of British Muslims. *Citizenship Studies.* 9 (2), pp. 153-166.

Abbas, Tahir, 2005. British South Asian Muslims: State and Multicultural Society. *In:* Tahir Abbas, ed., *Muslim Britain: Communities Under Pressure.* London: Zed Books, pp. 3-18.

Abbas, Tahir, 2007. Muslim Minorities in Britain: Integration, Multiculturalism and Radicalism in the Post 7/7 Period. *Journal of Intercultural Studies* 28, pp. 287 – 300.

Abdullah, Daud, 2002. September 11 as Cover for Mayhem. *In:* The Quest for Sanity: Reflections on September 11 and the Aftermath. London: Muslim Council of Britain, pp. 131-136.

ACPO (Association of Chief Police Officers), 2005. *Hate Crime: delivering a better service. Good practice and tactical guidance.* London: ACPO.

Ahmed, Zaheer, 2008. Million miles from reality. Jane's Police Review. 21 March.

Ahsan, Muhammad Aanazir and Abdul Raheem Kidwai, 1991. Sacrilege versus civility: Muslim perspectives on the Satanic Verses affair, Leicester: Islamic Foundation.Akhtar, Parveen, 2005. '(Re)turn to Religion' and Radical Islam. *In:* T. ABBAS, ed. *Muslim Britain: Communities Under Pressure*. London: Zed Books, pp. 164-176.

Alderson, John, 1998. Principled Policing: Protecting the Public with Integrity. Winchester: Waterside Press.

Al Faruqi, Ismail, 1983. Islam and Zionism. *In:* John L. ESPOSITO, ed., *Voices of Resurgent Islam.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 261-267.

Allen, Chris, 2004. Justifying Islamophobia: A Post-9/11 Consideration of the European Union and British Contexts. *American Journal of Islamic Social Sciences.* 21 (3), pp. 1-25.

Allen, Chris, 2005. From Race to Religion: the New Face of Discrimination. *In:* T. Abbas, ed. *Muslim Britain: Communities Under Pressure.* London: Zed Books, pp.49-65.

Allen, Chris, 2006. *Islamophobia: contested concept in the public space*, Ph.D dissertation, University of Birmingham.

Allen, Chris, 2007a. "Down with multiculturalism, book-burning and fatwas": the death of multiculturalism and its implications for Muslims. *Journal for Culture and Religion* 8 (2) pp. 125-138.

Allen, Chris, 2007b. Islamophobia in Europe. University of Birmingham: Institute of Applied Social Studies.

Allen, Chris, 2009. The Rise of the British National Party: Anti-Muslim Policies and the Politics of Fear. University of Birmingham: Institute of Applied Social Studies.

Allen, Chris, 2010 (forthcoming). Islamophobia. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Allen, Chris and Jorgen Nielsen, 2002. *Summary report on Islamophobia in the EU after 11 September 2001*, European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia (EUMC), Vienna.

Allen, Felix, 2009. Mosque fear over pensioner attack. *London Evening Standard.* 4 September. *http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/ standard/article-23740215-mosque-fear-over-pensioner-attack.do* accessed 3.1.10.

All-Party Parliamentary Group Against Anti-Semitism, 2006a. *Report of the All-Party Parliamentary Inquiry into Anti-Semitism*. London: Stationary Office.

Al-Aswany, Alaa, 2009. Western hostility to Islam is stoked by double standards and distortion', *Guardian Comment is Free* 20 July. http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/belief/2009/jul/20/islam-west-muslimsmediaprejudice accessed 3.12.09.

Al-Janabi, Koutabi, director, 2003. My Friend Nasir; film of a refugee's attack by racists. London: Real Art Films. Featured in Refuge in Film, see Guardian article 20 June 2008 *http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/video/2008/jun/20/nasir* accessed 30.12.09.

Al-Qaradawi, Yusuf, 1991. *Islamic Awakening Between Rejection & Extremism.* London: Zain International.

Al-Qaradawi, Yusuf, 2003. *The Lawful and the Prohibited in Islam.* Trans. Kamal El-Helbawy, *et al.* London: Al-Birr Foundation.

Altikriti. Anas, 2007. The New Fundamentalism. *Guardian Unlimited* - *Comment is Free*, 2 July.

Alvesson, Mats and Sköldberg, Kaj, 2000. *Reflexive Methodology*. New Vistas For Qualitative Research. London: Sage.

Ameli, Saied Reza, 2002. *Gobalization, Americanization and British Muslim Identity.* London: ICAS Press.

Ameli, Saied R., Elahi, Manzur and Merali, Arzu, 2004. *British Muslims' Expectations of Government: Social Discrimination: Across The Muslim Divide.* London: Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC).

Ameli, Saied R. and Merali, Arzu, 2004. *British Muslims' Expectations of Government: Dual Citizenship: British, Islamic or Both? Obligation, Recognition, Respect and Belonging.* London: Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC).

Amin, Ash, 2009. The Racialisation of Everything, in Asha Amin and Michael O'Niell (eds.) *Thinking About Almost Everything* London: Profile.

Anderson, Benedict, 1983. *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism.* London: Verso.

Ansari, Farhad, 2006. *British Anti-Terrorism: A Modern Day Witch-Hunt: Updated Version.* London: Islamic Human Rights Commission (IHRC).

Ansari, Humayan, 2004. '*The Infidel Within': Muslims In Britain since 1800.* London: Hurst.

Ansari, Humayan, 2005. Attitudes to Jihad, Martyrdom and Terrorism among British Muslims. *In:* T. ABBAS, ed. *Muslim Britain: Communities Under Pressure*. London: Zed Books, pp. 144-163.

Austin, Greg, 2005. *The Next Attack.* London: The Foreign Policy Centre.

Baker, Abdul Haqq, 2010. Countering Terrorism in the UK: A Convert Community Perspective. PhD. University of Exeter.

Bamford, Bradley W. C., 2004. The United Kingdom's "War Against Terrorism". *Terrorism and Political Violence*. 16(4), pp. 737-756.

Bauras, Elham Asaad, 2009. 3 year-old girl witnesses fatal assault on grandfather outside mosque. *Muslim News*. 25 September.

BBC News online, 2002. Islamophobia "explosion" in UK. 24 May. http://news.bbc.co.uk/I/hi/uk/2005943.stm accessed 2.1.10.

BBC News online, 2004. BNP activists admit to race crime. 15 July. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/3894529.stm accessed 2.1.10.

BBC News online, 2004. Going undercover in the BNP. 15 July. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/magazine/3896213.stm accessed 2.1.10.

BBC News online, 2005. Full text of Blair speech on terror. 5 August. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/4689363.stm accessed 9.2.09.

BBC News online, 2006. Full text: writers' statement on cartoons. | March. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/4764730.stm* accessed 6.11.09.

BBC News online, 2007. Ex-BNP man jailed over chemicals. 3 I July. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/lancashire/6923933.stm* accessed 16.1.10.

BBC News online, 2008. Man who attacked imam is 'insane'. 5 June. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/london/7438538.stm* accessed 4.12.09.

BBC News online, 2009a. Man grabbed Muslim woman's veil. 14 December. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/leicestershire/ 8412968.stm accessed 20.12.09.

BBC News online, 2009b. Pensioner attacked in street dies. 7 September. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/london/8242496.stm* accessed 3.1.10.

BBC News online 2009c. Griffin attacks Islam on BBC show. 23 October.

BBC News online, 2009d. Attacks on Asian students probed. 9 November. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/london/8350556.stm accessed 8.12.09.

BBC News online, 2010. Jail sentence for nail bomb maker. 15 January. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/bradford/8460696.stm* accessed 15.1.10.

BBC TV Panorama, 2000. The Nailbomber. Documentary, 30 June. Transcript at http://news.bbc.co.uk/hi/english/static/audio_video/ programmes/panorama/transcripts/transcript_30_06_00.txt accessed 8.1.10.

BBC TV Newsnight, 2007. Jeremy Paxman Interview with Dean Godson, 12 December. http://news.bbc.co.uk/player/nol/ newsid_7140000/newsid_7142300/7142300.stm accessed 4.10.08.

BBC TV Panorama, 2009. Hate on the Doorstep. Amil Khan and Tamanna Rahman. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/panorama/hi/front_page/newsid_8310000/8310825.stm* accessed 30.12.09.

Begg, Moazzam, 2006. *Enemy Combatant: A British Muslim's Journey to Guantanamo and Back*. London: Free Press.

Benard, Cheryl, 2003. *Civil Democratic Islam: Partners, Resources and Strategies*. Santa Monica: Rand.

Bexley Times, 2009. Greenwich Islamic Centre petrol bombed twice in a week. *Bexley Times.* 17 June.

Birt, Yahya, 2005. Lobbying and Marching: British Muslims and the State. *In:* T. ABBAS, ed. *Muslim Britain: Communities Under Pressure.* London: Zed Books, 2005, pp.92-106.

Birt, Yahya, 2006. Sir Trevor, the Muslims and the new Equalities Commission. *Muslim News*, 210, 27 October. Reprinted at Yahya Birt's *Musings on the Britannic Crescent* blog: *http://www.yahyabirt.com/?page id=40* accessed 29.12.09.

Birt, Yahya, 2006. Notes on Islamophobia. *Musings on the Britannic Crescent* blog. http://www.yahyabirt.com/?p=48 accessed 30.12.09.

Birt, Yahya, 2007. Response to Ed Husain ref. Ken Livingstone. London Evening Standard. 3 July. http://www.yahyabirt.com/ ?page_id=81 accessed 29.12.09.

Birt, Yahya, 2009. Islamophobia in the construction of British Muslim identity politics; in Peter E. Hopkins and Richard Gale (eds.) *Muslims in Britain: Race, Place and Identities* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, pp. 210-227.

Birt, Yahya, 2009. Don't repeat this mistake. *Guardian cif.* 14 September.*http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/belief/2009/* sep/14/islam-extremism-far-right-terrorism accessed 29.12.09.

Birt, Yahya, 2009. Defining Islamophobia today: the state of the art. *Musings on the Britanic Crescent* blog. 15 September. *http://www.yahyabirt.com/?p=175* accessed 29.12.09.

Birt, Yahya, 2010. Governing Muslims after 9/11 in S. Sayyid and Abdoolkarim Vakil (eds) *Thinking Through Islamophobia* London: Hurst (forthcoming).

Blair, Sir Ian, 2005. The Dimbleby Lecture, London – transcript. http://cms.met.police.uk/news/policy_organisational_news_and_gen eral_information/commissioner/the_richard_dimbleby_lecture_2005 _by_sir_ian_blair_qpm accessed 11.10.09.

Blair, Tony, UK Prime Minister, 2003. Statement to Parliament after visit to President Bush, 3 February. *http://www.number10.gov.uk/output/Page1770.asp* accessed 22.12.07.

Blair, Tony, UK Prime Minister, 2006. Transcript of speech on Middle East to Los Angeles World Affairs Council. I August. http://www.number10.gov.uk/output/Page9948.asp accessed 2.8.09.

Blears, Hazel, 2008. DCLG Secretary. Speech at Policy Exchange. 17 July. *http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/Events.aspx?id=688* accessed 12.10.08.

Blick, Andrew, Choudhury, Tufyal and Weir, Stuart, 2006. *The Rules of the Game: Terrorism, Community and Human Rights.* York: Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust.

Bonnefoy, Laurent, 2003. Public institutions and Islam: a new stigmatization? *International Institute for the study of Islam in the Modern World* 13, December, pp. 22-23.

Booth, Robert, 2010. Rise in hate crime follows BNP council election victories. *The Guardian.* 16 January.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/jan/15/hate-crime-bnplocal-council-elections accessed 16.1.10.

Bowling, Ben and Phillips, C, 2007. Disproportionate and Discriminatory: Reviewing the Evidence on Police Stop and Search. Modern Law Review. 70 pp. 936-61.

Briggs, Rachel, Fieschi, Catherine and Lownsbrough, Hannah, 2006. *Bringing it Home: Community-based approaches to counter-terrorism.* London: Demos.

Bright, Martin, 2006. *When Progressives Treat With Reactionaries.* London: Policy Exchange. *http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/ libimages/176.pdf* accessed 3.3.08.

Bright, Martin, 2009. We must lead fight against extremists. *Jewish Chronicle.* 19 November.

Brighton, S., 2007. British Muslims, multiculturalism and UK foreign policy: 'integration' and 'cohesion' in and beyond the state. International Affairs 83 (1), pp. 1-17.

British National Party, 2006. *Nationalism and Islam*. BNP News. 28 July. http://web.archive.org/web/20071014195726/ http://www.bnp.org.uk/news_detail.php?newsId=1057 accessed

21.10.09.

British National Party, 2009. *Islamification of Britain.* BNP video. *http://tv.bnp.org.uk/2009/07/islamification-of-britain* accessed 24.11.09.

Brodeur, Jean-Paul, 1983. High Policing and Low Policing: Remarks about the Policing of Political Activities. *Social Problems.* 30 (5), pp. 507-520.

Brodeur, Jean-Paul, 2007. High policing and Low Policing in post 9/11 times. *Policing: a Journal of Policy and Practice*. 1(1), pp. 25-37.

Brown, Andrew, 2010. Is Islamophobia Real? *Guardian cif.* 12 January.http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/andrewbrown/ 2010/jan/12/religion-islam accessed 13.1.10.

Brown, Eric, 2005. After the Ramadan Affair; New Trends in Islamism in the West. *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology,* vol 2, Hudson Institute, pp. 7 - 29.

Brown, Malcom D., 2000. Conceptualizing Racism and Islamophobia, in Jessica Ter Wal and Maykel Verkuyten, eds., *Comparative Perspectives on Racism*, Aldershot: Ashgate, pp. 73-90.

Buaben, Jabal Muhammad. *Image of the Prophet Muhammad in the West.* Leicester: Islamic Foundation.

Buaras, Elham Asaad, 2009. 3 year-old girl witnesses fatal assault on grandfather outside mosque. *Muslim News.* 25 September. http://www.muslimnews.co.uk/paper/index.php?article=4258 accessed 3.1.10.

Bunglawala, Iniyat, 2002. Its getting harder to be a British Muslim. *Observer.* 19 May. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2002/may/19/ race.uk* accessed 29.12.09.

Bunglawala, Iniyat, 2006. A referendum on Islam. Guardian cif. 3 May. http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2006/may/03/ thebnpsreferendumonislam accessed 29.12.09.

Bunglawala, Iniyat, 2008. Social cohesion – excluding Muslims. *Guardian cif* 3 | July. http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/ 2008/jul/31/religion.race accessed 29.12.09.

Bunglawala, Iniyat, 2008. Zero tolerance of religious discrimination. *Guardian cif* 18 September. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/ commentisfree/2008/sep/18/islam.religion* accessed 29.12.09.

Bunting, Madeleine, ed., 2005. *Islam, Race and Being British* London: Guardian Books.

Bunzi, Matti, 2007. Anti-semitism and Islamophobia: Hatreds Old and New in Europe. Chicago: Chicago University Press.

Burke, Anthony, 2004. Just war or ethical peace? Moral discourses of strategic violence after 9/11. *International Affairs.* 80 (2), pp.329-353.

Burke, Jason, 2009. Fears of an Islamic revolt in Europe begin to fade. *The Observer* 26 July http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2009/jul/26/ radicalisation-european-muslims accessed 27.10.09 accessed 23.10.09.

Burnett, Jonathan, 2004. Community, cohesion and the state. *Race and Class.* 45(3). pp. 1-18.

Burnett, Jonny and Whyte, Dave, 2005. Embedded Expertise and the New Terrorism. *Journal for Crime, Conflict and the Media.* 1(4) pp.1-18.

Burnham, Peter, Gilland, Karin, Grant, Wyn and Layton-Henry, Zig, 2004. *Research Methods in Politics*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. Burgat, Francois, 2003. *Face to Face with Political Islam*. London: I.B. Taurus.

Butt, Hassan, 2007. My Plea to Fellow Muslims: You Must Renounce Terror. *Guardian Unlimited – Comment is Free*, 1 July.

Caldwell, Christopher, 2009. *Reflections on the Revolution in Europe: Immigration, Islam and the West* London: Penguin.

Campbell, Alistair and Stott, Richard, 2008. *The Blair Years: extracts from the Alistair Campbell Diaries*. London: Arrow Books.

Campusalam.org, 2009. Campus conflict competition. Hijabis vs. Skinheads: shock ending! *Campusalam.org.* 15 December. http://www.campusalam.org/events/2009/Dec/15/campus-conflictcompetition.html accessed 14.1.09.

Casciani, Dominic, 2002. UK 'Islamophobia' rises after 11 September. *BBC News online* 29 August. *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/2223301.stm* accessed 2.1.10.

Casciani, Dominic, 2004. Islamophobia pervades UK – report. *BBC News online.* 2 June *http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/3768327.stm* accessed 2.1.10.

Catterall, Peter, 1994. The Battle of Cable Street. *Contemporary British History.* 8 (1), pp. 105 – 132.

Cesari, Jocelyne, 2006. Securitization and religious divides in Europe: Muslims in Western Europe after 9/11 – Why the term Islamophobia is more a predicament than an explanation, Paris: Challenge, p.6.

Cesari, Jocelyne, 2008. Muslims in Europe and the Risk of Radicalism. in R. Coolsaet, ed., *Jihadi Terrorism and the Radicalisation Challenge in Europe.* Aldershot: Ashgate, pp. 97-107.

Chakraborti, Neil, 2007. Policing Muslim Communities, in M. Rowe (ed.) *Policing Beyond Macpherson: Issues in Policing, Race and Society.* Collumpton: Willan, pp, 107-127.

Chakraborti, Neil & Garland, Jon, 2009. *Hate Crime: Impact, Causes and Responses.* London: Sage.

Clarke, Peter, 2007. *Learning from Experience*. Colin Cramphorn Memorial Lecture. London: Policy Exchange.

Clegg, Nick, 2008. Clegg attacks think-tank's "underhand" briefing on 'Unity' festival. *http://www.politicshome.com/ Landing.aspx?Blog=4060&perma=link#* accessed 4.8.09.

Commission on Anti-Semitism, 1994. *A very light sleeper: the persistence and dangers of anti-Semitism*, London: Runnymede Trust.

Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 1997. ed. Robin Richardson, *Islamophobia: a challenge for us all*. London: Runnymeade Trust.

Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 2001. ed. Robin Richardson, and Kaushika Amin. *Addressing the Challenge of Islamophobia: progress report, 1999-2001.* London: Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia.

Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 2004, ed. Robin Richardson. *Islamophobia: issues, challenges and action.* Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books.

Commission for Racial Equality Safe Communities Initiative, 2006. Anti-Terrorism Laws: The Experiences of the Irish and Muslim Communities in the UK . Report from a seminar held at the University of Birmingham, 21 April. *http://83.137.212.42/sitearchive/ cre/downloads/birmingham_seminar_report.pdf* accessed 18.5.09.

Community Security Trust, 2009. Anti-Semitic Incidents: January-June 2009. London: CST.

Cooper, Zaki and Lodge, Guy, 2008. *Faith in the Nation: Religion, identity and the public realm in Britain today.* Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR), London.

Cox, Caroline and Marks, John, 2006. *The West, Islam and Islamism: Is Ideological Islam Compatible with Liberal Democracy?* London: Civitas.

Corbyn, Jeremy, 2005. www.epoltix Jeremy Corbyn report, February.http://www.epolitix.com/Resources/epolitix/MPWebsites/ Images/i-II/Jeremy%20Corbyn%20FEBReport.pdf accessed 4.10.09.

Croft, Stuart, 2007. British Jihadis and the British War on Terror. *Defence Studies* 7(3), pp. 17-337.

CPS (Crown Prosecution Service), 2006. Racist & Religious Incident Monitoring Report. *http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/rms05-*06.pdf accessed 27.9.09.

Daily Express, 2007. *Nurses Told to Turn Muslims' Beds to Mecca*. 4 December.

Daily Mail, 2008. Government renames Islamic Terrorism as "anti Islamic activity" to woo Muslims. *http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/ article-508901/Government-renames-Islamic-terrorism-anti-Islamic-activity-woo-Muslims.html*. accessed 28.12.09.

Daily Mail, 2010. My benefits belong to Allah: Hate preacher Choudary defends £25,000 a year payments from British taxpayers. 13 January. http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1242704/Mybenefits-belong-Allah-Hate-preacher-Anjem-Choudary-defends-25-000-year-payments-British-taxpayers.html accessed 16.1.10.

Davenport, Justin, 2009a. Police hunt teenage girls over murder at mosque. *London Evening Standard.* http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/ standard/article-23742020-police-hunt-teenage-girls-over-murder-at-mosque.do accessed 8.1.10.

Davenport, Justin, 2009b. Met PC faces internal inquiry after being cleared of race assault. *London Evening Standard* 4 November. http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23764252-met-pc-faces-internal-inquiry-after-being-cleared-of-race-assault.do accessed 2.1.10.

Davenport, Justin, 2009c. Asian students attacked by gangs. *London Evening Standard*. 9 November. http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/ standard/article-23766710-asian-students-attacked-by-gangs-nearuniversity.do accessed 20.12.09.

de Goade, M, 2008. The Politics of Preemption and the War on Terror in Europe. *European Journal of International Relations*. 14 pp. 161-85.

de Guzman, Melchor C., 2002. The changing roles and strategies of the police in time of terror. *ACJS Today*, 22 (3) p.8-13.

Desai, Meghnad, 2007. *Rethinking Islamism: The Ideology of the New Terror.* London: I. B. Taurus.

Dispatches, 2007. *Undercover Mosque* Channel 4, UK, first broadcast 15 January. *http://www.hardcashproductions.com/ recent29.html* accessed 27.1.09.

Dodd, Vikram, 2005. Two thirds of Muslims consider leaving the UK. *The Guardian.* 26 July, p. 5.

Dodd, Vikram, 2009a. Al-Qaida fantasist tells court: I'm a professional liar. Manchester man admits to tricking media into believing he was a jihadi. *The Guardian*. 9 February.

Dodd, Vikram, 2009b. Met no longer institutionally racist, says commissioner. *The Guardian*. 24 February. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2009/feb/24/racism-police-lawrence-met* accessed 10.1.10.

Dodd, Vikram, 2009c. Police fear far-right terror attack. *The Guardian.* 6 July. http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2009/jul/06/ far-right-terrorism-threat-police/ accessed 3.1.10.

Dodd, Vikram, 2009d. Spying is morally right, says think-tank. Guardian. 16 October. http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2009/oct/16/ spying-morally-right-says-thinktank accessed 2.11.09.

Dorril, Stephen, 2007. *Blackshirt: Sir Oswald Mosley and British Fascism.* London: Penguin/Viking.

Doughty, Steve, 2010. Islam divides us say the majority of Britons. *Daily Mail*. 11 January. *http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1242048/ Almost-half-Britons-oppose-mosque-built-area-finds-study.html* accessed 12.1.10.

Elworthy, Scillia and Rifkind, Gabrielle, 2005. *Hearts and Minds: Human security approaches to political violence.* London: Demos. Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2009. BNP: Commission takes action over potential breach of race discrimination law, 23 June. http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/media-centre/bnpcommission-takesaction-over potential-breach-of-racediscrimination-law/ accessed 16.12.09.

Engage, 2009. Greeenwich Islamic Centre firebombed twice in one week. 18 June. *http://iengage.org.uk/component/content/article/ 1-news/395-greenwich-islamic-centre-firebombed-twice-in-one-week* accessed 3.1.10.

English Defence League, 2009. Who are the English Defence League? EDL website: http://www.englishdefenceleague.org/ Who-are-the-edl-english-defence-league.html accessed 29.12.09.

English Defence League, 2009. A message to John Denham, MP. EDL website: http://www.englishdefenceleague.org/message-to-johndenham-from-the-english-defence-league.html accessed 29.12.09.

English Defence League, 2009. Latest news: Welcome to Luton. Link to Caroline Malone article in News of the World (see below). *http://www.englishdefenceleague.org/index.html* accessed 29.12.09.

Esposito, John L., 1999. *The Islamic Threat: Myth or Reality?* 3rd ed., Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Esposito, John L., 2003. Islam and the West after September II: Civilizational Dialogue or Conflict? *In:* Aftab Ahmad Malik, ed., *The Empire and the Crescent: Global Implications for a New American Century.* Bristol: Amal Press, pp. 112-129.

Esposito, John L., ed., 2003. *The Oxford Dictionary of Islam*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Esposito, John L., and Dalia Mogahed, 2008. *Who Speaks for Islam?: What a Billion Muslims Really Think* London: Gallop Press.

European Monitoring Centre on Racism & Xenophobia, 2005. *The Impact of 7 July 2005 London Bomb Attacks on Muslim Communities in the EU.* Vienna: EUMC.

European Monitoring Centre on Racism & Xenophobia, 2006. Antisemitism - Summary overview of the situation in the European Union 2001-2005, Vienna: EUMC.

FAIR (Forum Against Islamophobia and Racism), 2002. *The Religious Offences Bill 2002: A response.* London: FAIR.

Fekete, Liz, 2004. Anti-Muslim racism and the European security state. *Race & Class.* 46 (1), pp. 3-29.

Fekete, Liz, 2009. *A Suitable Enemy: Racism, Migration and Islamophobia in Europe.* London: Pluto Press.

Fielding, Nick and Abul Tahir, 2005. Hamas link to London Mosque. Times Online, 13 February. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/article513868.ece* accessed 21.10.09.

Fitzgerald, Marion and Hale, Chris, 2006. Ethnic minorities and community safety. *In:* Peter Squires, ed., *Community Safety: Critical perspectives on policy and practice.* Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 71-92.

Fortier, Anne-Marie, 2005. Pride politics and multiculturalist citizenship. *Ethnic and Racial Studies.* 28 (3) pp. 559-578.

FOSIS (Federation of Student Islamic Societies), 2009. Statement Regarding Attacks on Muslim Students at City University. 8 November. http://fosis.org.uk/media/press-releases/624-fosis-statement-regardingattacks-on-muslim-students-at-city-university accessed 2.1.10.

Franks, Myfanwy, 2000. Crossing the borders of whiteness? White Muslim women who wear the hijab in Britain today. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 23 (5), pp. 917–929.

Frost, Diane, 2008. Islamophobia: examining causal links between the media and "race hate" from "below". International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy 28 (11/12), pp. 564-578.

Fuller, Graham, 2002. The Future of Political Islam. *Foreign Affairs* 81 (March-April).

Gallup & Coexist Foundation, 2009. The Gallup Coexist Index 2009: A Global Study of Interfaith Relations. *Muslim West Facts Project: What the People Really Think* Gallup Press: Washington.

Gargini, Richard, 2008. ACPO reply. Jane's Police Review. 21 March.

Garland, Jon, Spalek, Basia and Chakraborti, Neil, 2006. Hearing Lost Voices: Issues in Researching Hidden Minority Ethnic Communities *British Journal of Criminology* 46 pp 423-437.

Garton Ash, Timothy, 2008. Standing Together Against Extremism. Speech at Quilliam Foundation Launch: 'Reviving Western Islam & Uniting Against Extremism'. British Museum, London 22 April. http://www.quilliamfoundation.org/index.php/component/content/ article/142 accessed 9.2.09. Ghanoushi, Soumayya, 2005. The Origins of Extremism: Theory or Reality? *In:* Aftab Ahmad Malik, ed., *With God On Our Side: Politics & Theology of the War on Terrorism.* Bristol: Amal Press, pp. 291-298.

Ghazali, Abdus Sattar, 2005. Rand reports attempt to change Islam. *Islamic Awakening.Com*.p.14. http://www.islamicawakening.com/ viewarticle.php?articleID=1214 accessed 12.5.09.

Gillespie, M., 2006. Transnational Television Audiences after September II. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 32, (6) 903-921.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan, 2006. *Myths and Memories of the Easter Rising: Cultural and Political Nationalism in Ireland*. Dublin: Irish Academic Press.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan, 2007. Myths of Massacre and Nationalist Mobilisation: Ireland and Algeria in Comparative Perspective. In *Ireland and the Middle East*, edited by R. Miller. Dublin: Irish Academic Press.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan, 2008b. Variations on a Theme: Radical Violent Islamism and European North African Radicalisation. *PS: Political Science and Politics* 41 (1).

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan, 2010. Mobilisation, Recruitment and Violence: Radical violent takfiri Islamism in early 21st Century Britain. In. Roger Eatwell and Matthew Goodwin, eds. *New Extremism in 21st Century Britain*, forthcoming.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2009a. The demonisation of British Islamism. *Guardian cif.* 1 April. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/belief/2009/mar/31/religion-islam* accessed 17.1.10.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2009b. Quilliam on Prevent: the wrong diagnosis. *Guardian cif.* 19 October. http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/belief/2009/oct/19/ prevent-quilliam-foundation-extremism accessed 17.1.10.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2009c. Re-shaping Prevent. *Guardian cif.* 31 October. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/ commentisfree/belief/2009/oct/31/counter-terrorism-preventmuslims* accessed 17.1.10.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2009d. Lets be honest about Prevent. *Guardian cif.* 9 December. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/belief/2009/dec/09/ prevent-denham-violent-extremism* accessed 17.1.10.

Githens-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2010. *Islamophobia* and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime: a London case study. Exeter: EMRC, University of Exeter.

Githesn-Mazer, Jonathan and Robert Lambert, 2010. *Islamophobia and Anti-Muslim Hate Crime in the UK.* Exeter: EMRC, University of Exeter.

Glees, Anthony, and Pope, Chris, 2005. *When Students Turn to Terror: Terrorist and Extremist Activity on British Campuses.* London: Social Affairs Unit.

Goddard, Hugh, 2000. *A History of Christian-Muslim Relations.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. Godson, Dean, 2005. You'll never guess who's to blame for 7/7. *The Times.* 13 December. http://www.timeonline.co.uk/article/ 0,,1922518,00.html accessed 12.10.09.

Godson, Dean, 2006a. Already Hooked on Poison. *The Times.* 8 February. http://www.timesonline.co.uk/article/ 0,,1072-2029734,00.html accessed 2.8.08.

Godson, Dean, 2006b. The feeble helping the unspeakable. *Times* online. 5 April. http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/comment/ columnists/guest_contributors/article702053.ece

Godson, Dean, 2007a. The Old Bill Should Choose its Friends Carefully: What on Earth are West Midlands Police up to? *The Times*, 23 August. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/comment/.../guest.../ article2310437.ece* accessed 8.7.09.

Godson, Dean, 2007b. Introduction to Peter Clarke's Colin Cramphorn Lecture. *Policy Exchange.*

http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/libimages/260.pdf accessed 12.12.08.

Gottschalk, Peter, 2007. *Islamophobia: Making Muslims the Enemy* London: Rowman & Littlefield.

Gove, Michael, 2006. We must engage with moderate Muslims. *The Guardian.* 23 August.

Gove, Michael, 2006. Celsius 7/7. London: Weidenfield & Nicholson.

Green, Alan and Leon Silver, 2009. Letter to editor: response to Martin Bright. *Jewish Chronicle.* 27 November.

Greenstein, Tony, 2007. Stop conflating anti-Zionism and antisemitism, Guardian comment is free. 12 April.

http://commentisfree.guardian.co.uk/tony_greenstein/2007/04/an_a ttack_on_free_speech.html accessed 23.11.09.

Grieve, John G.D & Julie French, 2000. Does Institutional Racism Exist In the Metropolitan Police Service? In David G. Green, ed. *Institutional Racism and the Police: Fact or Fiction?* London: Institute for the Study of Civil Society (Civitas).

Grieve, Hall and Savage, 2009. A watershed for British policing. Guardian cif. 23 February. http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/ 2009/feb/23/race-lawrence accessed 29.11.09.

Griffin, Nick, 2007. *Islamization of Europe*, Clemson University, 24 October 2007, Part 2, *http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=* 916qkfhT8DU accessed 21.11.09.

Griffin, Nick, 2008. *By their fruits (or lack of them) shall you know them.* BNP website. http://web.archive.org/web/20071014195717/ http://www.bnp.org.uk/columnists/chairman2.php?ngld=30 accessed 3.4.09.

Griffin, Tom, 2008. Conrad Black's favourite Commissar. *Spinwatch*, 15 May. *http://www.spinwatch.org.uk/-articles-by-categorymainmenu-8/49-propaganda/4908-dean-godson--conrad-blacksfavourite-commissar* accessed 12.12.09.

Griffith-Dickson, Gwen, 2008. Countering Extremism and the Politics of "Engagement". Gresham College lecture, Allen & Overy, London Docklands. 29 April. *http://www.gresham.ac.uk/ event.asp?PageId=108&EventId=658* accessed 2.1.09.

Guardian, 2010. BNP member given 11 years for making bombs and guns. 15 January. http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2010/jan/ 15/bnp-member-jailed-guns-bombs accessed 16.1.10.

Haddad, Yvonne Yazbeck, ed., 2002. *Muslims in the West: From Sojourners to Citizens* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hall, Nathan, 2005. Hate Crime. Cullompton: Willan Publishing.

Halliday, Fred. Islamophobia reconsidered. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 22 (5), pp. 892-902.

Hancock, Lee, 2008. Mickey Mouse should be killed says Muslim cleric. *BNP News*, 16 September. *http://bnp.org.uk/2008/09/mickey-mouse-should-be-killed-says-muslim-cleric/* accessed 17.10.09.

Hancock, Lee, 2008. Islam4UK: Hate on our streets. *BNP News*, 5 October. *http://bnp.org.uk/2008/10/islam4ukhate-on-our-streets/* accessed 10.11.09.

Hancock, Lee, 2009. Muslim population rising ten times faster than rest of the UK. *BNP News*, | February. *http://bnp.org.uk/2009/02/muslim-population-rising-10-times-faster-than-rest-of-the-uk/* accessed 18.11.09.

Hann, Dave and Tilzey, Steve, 2003. *No Retreat: The Secret War Between Britain's Anti-Fascists and the Far Right.* Lytham, Lancs: Milo Books.

Harcourt, Bernard, 2006. Muslim profiles post 9/11: Is racial profiling an effective counterterrorist measure and does it violate the right to be free from discrimination? Paper presented at the Oxford Colloquium on Security and Human Rights, Oxford University, 17 March. *http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=896153* accessed 3.2.09.

Hasan, Mehdi, 2009. Know your enemy. *New Statesman.* 9 July. *http://www.newstatesman.com/2009/07/mehdi-hasan-muslim-terrorism-white-british* accessed 16.1.10.

Hilllyard, Paddy, 1993. *Suspect Community: People's Experience of the Prevention of Terrorism Acts in Britain*. London: Pluto Press.

Hillyard, Paddy, 2005. The 'War on Terror': lessons from Ireland. *Essays for civil liberties and democracy in Europe*. http://www.ecln.org/essays/essay-1.pdf accessed 12.7.08.

Hizb ut Tahrir website, 2009. British Foreign Secretary 'Glorifies Terrorism' In Radio Interview. 16 August. *http://www.hizb.org.uk/ hizb/press-centre/press-release/british-foreign-secretary-glorifiesterrorism-in-radio-interview.html* accessed 20.8.09.

Holland, Mary, 2006. Commons terrorism debate 1974. New Statesman, July.

Home Office, 2006a. *Countering International Terrorism: the United Kingdom's Strategy.* July, London: HMSO.

Home Office. 2006b. *Covert Human Intelligence Sources: Code of Practice.* London: HMSO.

Home Office. 2008. The Prevent Strategy: A Guide for Local Partners in England. June. *http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/violentextremism/ downloads/Prevent%20Strategy%20A%20Guide%20for%20Local %20Partners%203%20June%202008.pdf* accessed 8.9.09.

Honderich, Ted, 2006. *Humanity, Terrorism, Terrorist War: Palestine, 9/11, Iraq, 7/7.* London: Continuum.

Hopkins, Nick and Sarah Hall, 2000. David Copeland: a quiet introvert, obsessed with Hitler and bombs. *The Guardian*. 30 June.

Hopkins, Nick and Kahani-Hopkins, Verad, 2004. The antecedents of identification: A rhetorical analysis of British Muslim activists' constructions of community and identity. *British Journal of Social Psychology.* 43, pp. 41-57.

Hopkins, Peter and Richard Gale, eds., 2009. *Muslims in Britain: Race, Place and Identities.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Hosken, Andrew, 2008. *Ken: The Ups and Downs of Ken Livingstone*. London: Arcadia.

Hourani, Albert, 1991. *Islam in European Thought.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

House of Commons Home Affairs Committee, 2005. *Terrorism and Community Relations.* Sixth Report of Session 2004-5, HC 1656-1. London: The Stationary Office.

Husain, Ed, 2007. The Islamist. London: Penguin.

Husain, Ed, 2007. Appeasement is not an answer to the bombs. *London Evening Standard* 2 July. Reprinted at Yahya Birts's Musings on the Britanic Crescent blog *http://www.yahyabirt.com/?page_id=81* accessed 29.12.09.

Husain, Ed, 2008. Stop pandering to the extremists. *London Evening Standard*. 7 July. *http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23511284-stop-pandering-to-the-islamist-extremists.do accessed 29.12.09*.

Hussain, Serena, 2008. *Muslims on the Map: A National Survey of Social Trends in Britain (International Library of Human Geography).* London: I.B. Taurus.

Iganski, Paul, 2008. *Hate Crime and the City.* Bristol: Policy Press. Ignatieff, Michael, 2001. Its war *The Guardian*. I October. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/Archive/Article/0,4273,4267406,00.html* accessed 3.2.09.

Independent, 2006. BNP call for May elections to be "Referendum on Islam". http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/ bnp-touse-prophet-cartoonin-campaign-467359.html accessed 3.8.09.

Innes, Martin, 2006. Policing Uncertainty: Countering Terror Through Community Intelligence and Democratic Policing. *Annals of the American Academy.* 605, May, pp. 1 – 20.

Innes, Martin, Abbot L, Lowe, T, and Roberts, C. 2007. *Hearts and Minds and Eyes and Ears: Reducing Radicalisation Risks Through Reassurance-Oriented Policing.* London: ACPO.



Innes, Martin and Thiel, Daniel, 2008. Policing Terror. in. Newburn, Tim, ed. *The Handbook of Policing* 2nd ed. Cullompton: Willan. pp. 553-579.

Islam, Yusuf, et al, 2005. 'Preventing Extremism Together' Working Groups: August – October 2005. London: Home Office.

Islamophobia Watch, 2010. Islamophobia: definition by al-Maktabi from *Salaam* website. *http://www.islamophobia-watch.com/islamophobia-a-definition/* accessed 13.1.10.

Islington Gazette, 2009. Race hate gangs attack students. *Islington Gazette*. 11 November. *http://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/content/islington/gazette/news/story.aspx?brand=ISLGOnline&category=news&tBrand=northlondon24&tCategory=newsislg&itemid=WeED11%20Nov%202009%2013%3A03%3A32%3A110* accessed 13.1.10.

Ismail, Salwa, 2006. *Rethinking Islamist Politics: Culture, the State and Islamism.* London: I.B. Taurus.

Insted, 2007. *The search for common ground: Muslims, non-Muslims and the UK media* London: GLA.

Jackson, Richard, 2005. *Writing the War on Terrorism: Language, Politics and Counter-Terrorism.* Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Jackson, Richard, 2008. Counter-terrorism and communities: an interview with Robert Lambert. *Critical Studies on Terrorism.* August, pp. 293-308.

James, Lucy, 2009. *In defence of British Muslims: a response to BNP racist propaganda.* London: Qulliam Foundation.

, Neil, 2009. Letter to editor: response to Martin Bright. *Jewish Chronicle.* 27 November.

John, Peter et al, 2006. *The BNP: the roots of its appeal* Colchester: Democratic Audit, University of Essex.

Johnson, Alan, 2009. Letter to Guardian. 20 October. http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2009/oct/20/prevent-terrorismmuslims-radicalisation accessed 13.11.09.

Kauffman, Phillipa, 2009. Counsel for claimant: opening submission to High Court. Babar Ahmad v. Commissioner of Metropolitan Police. 18 March. *http://www.freebabarahmad.com/* accessed 2.10.09.

Kelly, Ruth, 2006a. DCLG Secretary. Our values, our responsibilities – speech to Muslim community groups, 11 October. http://www.communities.gov.uk/archived/speeches/corporate/valuesresponsibilities accessed 27 December 2009.

Kelly, Ruth, 2006b. DCLG Secretary. Speech at launch of Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 24 August. http://www.communities.gov.uk/speeches/corporate/commissionintegration-cohesion accessed 27 December 2009.

Kelly, Ruth, 2006c. DCLG Secretary. Speech at launch of Sufi Muslim Council, 19 July *http://www.communities.gov.uk/speeches/ corporate/sufi-muslim-council* accessed 27 December 2009.

Kepel, Gilles, 2004. *The War for Muslim Minds: Islam and the West.* London: Harvard University Press.

Kepel, Gilles, 2005a. The Roots of Radical Islam. London: Saki.

Kepel, Gilles, 2005b. *Radical secularism*, *The Independent* opinion page, 22 August, p. 12.

Kerbaj, Richard and Kennedy, Dominic, 2008. Terrorism adviser to Met is on wanted list: Interpol notice urges arrest of Islam TV chief. *Times online*. http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/crime/ article5342730.ece accessed 7.8.09.

Kilcullen, David, J., 2007. Subversion and Counter-Subversion in the Campaign against Terrorism in Europe. *Studies In Conflict and Terrorism*, 30 (8).

Kleinig, John, 1996. *The Ethics of Policing*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kundnani, Arun, 2007. *The End of Tolerance: Racism in 21st Century*. London: Pluto.

Kundnani, Aron, 2008. Islamism and the Roots of Liberal Rage. *Race* & *Class.* 50 (2) pp. 40-68.

Kundnani, Aron, 2009. *Spooked. How not to prevent violent extremism.* London: Institute of Race Relations.

Lambert, Robert, 2008a. Empowering Salafis and Islamists Against Al-Qaida: A London Counter-terrorism Case Study. *PS: Political Science and Politics* 41 (1).

Lambert, Robert, 2008b. Salafi and Islamist Londoners: Stigmatised minority faith communities countering al-Qaida. *Crime, Law & Social Change*. 50, pp.73-89.

Lambert, Robert, 2010. *The London Partnerships: An insider's analysis of legitimacy and effectiveness.* Unpublished PhD. University of Exeter.

Leiken, Robert S., 2005. Europe's Angry Muslims. *Foreign Affairs.* July, pp. 1-8.

Leiken, Robert S.and Brooke, Steven. The Moderate Muslim Brotherhood *Foreign Affairs* 86 (2) March/April 2007.

Leppard, David, 2009. Bomb seizures spark far-right terror plot fear. Sunday Times, 5 July. http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/ crime/article6638139.ece accessed 3.1.10.

Lewis, Philip, 2002. *Islamic Britain: Religion, Politics and Identity among British Muslims.* London: I.B. Taurus.

Lewis, Philip, 2007. *Young, British and Muslim.* London: Continuum. Livingstone, Ken, 2006. Islamophobia on the march. *Morning Star.* 4 November.

Loader, Ian and Mulcahy, Aogan., 2003. *Policing and the Condition of England: Memory, Politics and Culture.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

London Evening Standard, 2004. *Graduate blinded in street attack.* 11 November. http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/news/article-14435350-graduate-blinded-in-street-attack.do accessed 20.12.09.

London Evening Standard, 2007. Is Islam Good for London? Public debate, 13 November. *http://www.esadvertising.co.uk/me* accessed 30.9.08.

London Metropolitan University Research Unit, 2005. Suspect communities: The real war on terror. *http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research-units/hrsj/events/conferences/suspect-communities-the-real-war-on-terror.cfm* accessed 4.4.09.

Lyons, William, 2002. Partnerships, information and public safety: community policing in a time of terror. *Policing: an International Journal of Police Strategies & Management.* 25 (3) pp. 530-542.

MacEoin, Dennis, 2007. *The Hijacking of British Islam.* London: Policy Exchange. *http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/libimages/* 307.pdf accessed 4.1.09.

Macpherson, Lord, 1999. *The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry: Report*, Cm. 4262-1.

Maher, Shiraz and Martin Frampton, 2009. *Choosing our friends wisely: Criteria for engagement with Muslim groups.* London: Policy Exchange. http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/publications/ publication.cgi?id=108 accessed 20.3.09.

Mail on Sunday, 2010. Outrage as Muslim extremists hijack war heroes' town Wootton Bassett. *Mail on Sunday*. 3 January. http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1240044/Outrage-Muslimextremists-hijack-war-heroes-town-Wootton-Bassett.html accessed 8.1.10.

Malik, Aftab Ahmad, 2006. The State We Are In. *In:* Aftab Ahmad Malik, ed., *The State We Are In: Identity, Terror and the Law of Jihad.* Bristol: Amal Press, pp. 14-31.

Malik, Kenan, 2005. Islamophobia Myth. Prospect. 20 February.

Malik, Kenan, 2005. Multiculturalism has fanned the flames of Islamic Extremism. *The Times,* 16 July. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,1072-1695604,00.html* accessed 24.9.09.

Malik, Kenan, 2009. *From Fatwa to Jihad: The Rushdie Affair and its Legacy. London* Atlantic Books.

Malik, Maleiha, 2006. Muslims are now getting the same treatment Jews had a century ago. *Comment is Free: Guardian Online* 2 February. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/story/* 0,2004258,00.html accessed 25.1.08.

Malik, Maleiha, ed., 2009. Anti-Muslim Prejudice in the West: Past and Present *Patterns of Prejudice* (special issue), 43/3-4, July-September.

Malik, Maleiha, ed. 2010. *Anti-Muslim Prejudice: Past and Present* London: Routledge.

Malone, Caroline, 2009. Muslim thugs are Warsicase scenario. *News* of the World. 6 December. http://www.newsoftheworld.co.uk/ columnists/630634/Muslim-thugs-are-Warsicase-scenario-Carole-Malones-News-of-the-World-column.html accessed 29.12.09.

Manji, Irshad, 2004. *The Trouble With Islam: A Wake-Up call for Honesty and Change.* Edinburgh: Mainstream Publishing.

McCulloch, Jude, 2003. 'Counter-terrorism', human security and globalisation – from welfare to warfare state? *Current issues in Criminal Justice*, March, 14 (3) pp.283-298.

Manningham-Buller, Eliza, 2006. *The International Terrorist Threat to the UK*. Speech by the Director General of the Security Service at Queen Mary College, London, 9 November.

http://www.mi5.gov.uk/output/Page568.html accessed 12.12.09.

Mayor of London, 2005. Why the Mayor of London will maintain dialogues with all of London's faiths and communities: a reply to the dossier against the Mayor's meeting with Dr Yusuf al-Qaradawi. London: Greater London Authority.

Mayor of London, 2006. *Muslims in London*. London: Greater London Authority.

Mayor of London, 2006. Ken Llvingstone's plenary address, State of London Debate, 13 May, 2006, QE II Conference Centre, Westminster. *http://www.london.gov.uk/stateoflondon/transcript.jsp* accessed 12.8.09.

Mayor of London, 2007. The search for common ground: Muslims, non-Muslims and the UK media. London: Greater London Authority. *http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor/equalities/docs/ commonground_report.pdf* accessed 5.5.09

McCulloch, Jude and Pickering, Sharon, 2005. Suppressing the Financing of Terrorism. *British Journal of Criminology.* 45, pp. 470-486.

McGhee, Derek, 2005. *Intolerant Britain? Hate, citizenship and difference*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

McGhee, Derek, 2008. *The End of Multiculturalism: Terrorism, Integration and Human Rights.* Maidenhead: Open University Press.

McRoy, Anthony, 2006. *From Rushdie to 7/7: The Radicalisation of Islam in Britain.* London: Social Affairs Unit.

McRoy, Anthony, 2009. The BNP Win: What it means for Muslims. *Muslim Weekly* http://www.themuslimweekly.com/ DetailView.aspx?NEWSID=TW00013219 accessed 17.11.09.

Meer, Nasar, 2006. "Get off your knees!" Print media public intellectuals and Muslims in Britain *Journalism Studies*, 7 (1) pp. 35–59.

Meer, Nasar, 2008. The politics of voluntary and involuntary identities: are Muslims in Britain an ethnic, racial or religious minority? *Patterns of Prejudice*, 42 (1), pp. 61-81.

Meer, Nasar and Noorani, Tehseen, 2008. A sociological comparison of anti-Semitism and anti-Muslim sentiment in Britain. *The Sociological Review.* 56 (2). pp. 195-219.

Meijer, Roel, 2009. *Towards a Political Islam.* Clingendael Diplomacy Papers No. 22. Netherlands Institute of International Relations, The Hague.

Metro, 2009. Four stabbed in racist mob attack. *Metro*. 9 November. *http://www.metro.co.uk/news/765168-four-stabbed-in-racist-mob-attack* accessed 12.1.10.

Metropolitan Police Authority, 2007. Counter-Terrorism: The London Debate. London: MPA.



Metropolitan Police Service, 2007. *Hate Crime Policy.* www.met.police.uk/ foi/pdfs/policies/hate_crime_policy.pdf accessed 9.1.10.

Michot, Yahya, 2006. *Muslims Under Non-Muslim Rule: Ibn Taymiyya.* Oxford: Interface.

Mirza, Munira, 2007. *Living Apart Together: British Muslims and the paradox of multiculturalism.* Policy Exchange, London.

Modood, Tariq, 2005. *Multicultural Politics: Racism, Ethnicity and Muslims in Britain.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Moeckli, D, 2007. Stop and Search under the Terrorism Act 2000. A comment on R (Gillan) v. Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis. *Modern Law Review* 70, pp. 659-70.

Moore, Charles, 2004. It is Muslims who have the most to fear from Islamists *Daily Telegraph* 18 December.

Moore, Charles, 2004. Is it only Mr Bean who resists this new religious intolerance? *Daily Telegraph* 11 December.

Moore, Charles, 2008. How To Beat the Scargills of Islam. The 2008 Keith Joseph Memorial Lecture. Centre for Policy Studies, 10 March. *http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/libimages/362.pdf* accessed 2.12.08.

Modood, Tariq, 1992. *Not Easy Being British: colour, culture and citizenship* Stoke-on-Trent: Trentham Books.

Modood, Tariq, 2006. British Muslims and the politics of multiculturalism. *In:* Tariq Modood, Anna Triandafyyllidou, and Richard Zapata-Barrero, eds., *Multiculturalism, Muslims and Citizenship: A European Approach.* London: Routledge, pp. 37 – 56.

Moore, Charles, 2008. How To Beat the Scargills of Islam. The 2008 Keith Joseph Memorial Lecture. Centre for Policy Studies, 10 March. *http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/libimages/362.pdf* accessed 12.10.09.

Morris, Chris, 2007. The absurd world of Martin Amis. *Guardian cif.* 25 November.

Morris, Nigel, 2007. Imam attacked as anti-Muslim violence grows. Independent. 14 August. http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/ crime/imam-attacked-as-antimuslim-violence-grows-461483.html accessed 4.12.09.

Moussaoui, Abd Samad (with Florence Bouquillat), trans. Simon Pleasance & Fronza Woods, 2003. *Zacarias Moussaoui: The Making of a Terrorist.* London: Serpants Tail.

Murad, Abdul-Hakim, 2001. *Recapturing Islam from the Terrorists*. http://www.masud.co.uk/ISLAM/ahm/recapturing.htm accessed 23.2.09.

Muir, Hugh, 2004. Boy, 14, beat Muslim student in racist attack. *Guardian.* 30 November. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2004/nov/ 30/race.ukcrime* accessed 20.12.09.

Murrey, Andrew and German, Lindsey, 2005. *Stop the War*. London: Bookmarks.

Muslim Council of Britain, 2003. Response to Islamophobia -Identity, Inclusion, Cohesion, and equality in Modern Britain, a report by the Runnymede Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 20 November. *http://www.mcb.org.uk/library/ Islamophobia.pdf* accessed 28.12.08.

Muslim Council of Britain, 2004. Counter-Terrorism Powers: Reconciling Security and Liberty in an Open Society. August http://www.mcb.org.uk/library/ATCSA.pdf accessed 28.12.08.

Muslim Council of Britain, 2009. MCB alarmed over neo-Nazi victory. 8 June. *http://www.mcb.org.uk/media/presstext.php?ann_id=356* accessed 17.10.09.

Muslim News, 2007. London imam seriously injured in brutal attack. 13 August.

Muslim Safety Forum, 2007. *Islamophobia: the Impact on London.* London: MSF. http://muslimsafetyforum.org/docs/ Islamophobia&ImpactonLondon.pdf accessed 3.11.09.

Muslim Safety Forum, 2008. Annual report. London: MSF www.muslimsafetyforum.org accessed 3.11.09.

Nafi, Bashir, 2004. The Rise of Islamic Reformist Thought and its Challenge to Traditional Islam *In:* Nafi, Bashir M., and Taji-Farouki, Suha, eds., *Islamic Thought in the Twentieth Century*. London: I. B. Taurus.

Nahdi, Fuad, 2003. Young, British, and Ready to Fight: New laws and the war have pushed our Islamic radicals underground. *The Guardian*. | April. http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2003/apr/01/ religion.uk accessed 4.8.09.

Naqshbandi, Mehmood, 2006. *Islam and Muslims in Britain: a Guide for Non-Muslims.* London: City of London Police.

Neuman, Peter, R, 2006. What precisely constitutes a moderate Muslim? *http://www.madrid11.net/node/114* accessed 2.11.09.

Nimer, Mohamed, ed., 2007. *Islamophobia and Anti-Americanism: Causes and Remedies* Mayland: Amana Publications.

NPIA (National Police Improvement Agency), 2008. Practice Advice on Stop and Search in Relation to Terrorism. London: NPIA.

Oborne, Peter, 2006. *The Use and Abuse of Terror: The Construction of a False Narrative on the Domestic Terror Threat.* London: Centre for Policy Studies.

Oborne, Peter and James Jones, 2008. Muslims under Siege: Alienating Vulnerable Communities. Colchester: Democratic Audit, Human Rights Centre, University of Essex.

Ofcom, 2008. Broadcast Bulletin, 97. 19 November. Ofcom: London http://www.ofcom.org.uk/tv/obb/prog_cb/obb97/ accessed 2.11.08.

Oliveti, Vincenzo, 2002. *Terror's Source: The Ideology of Wahhabi-Salafism and its Consequences.* Birmingham: Amadeus Books.

O'Neil, Sean, 2009. White supremacist Neil Lewington guilty of 'non-British' bomb plot *Times*. 16 July. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/ tol/news/uk/crime/article6714985.ece* accessed 30.12.09.

O'Neil, Sean and McGrory, Daniel, 2006. *The Suicide Factory: Abu Hamza and the Finsbury Park Mosque.* London: Harper Perennial.

Open Society Institute, 2005. *British Muslims – Discrimination, Equality and Community Cohesion.* London: Open Society Institute.

Open Society Institute, 2005. *British Muslims and the Criminal Justice System*. London: Open Society Institute.

Open Society Institute, 2009. *Ethnic Profiling in the European Union: Pervasive, Ineffective, and Discriminatory*. New York: Open Society Institute.

Open Society Institute, 2009. *Muslims in Europe: a report on 11 EU Cities*. London: Open Society Institute. *http://www.soros.org/initiatives/home/articles_publications/publications/muslims-europe-20091215* accessed 30.12.09.

Pantazis, Christina and Simon Pemberton, 2009. From the 'Old' to the 'New' Suspect Community: Examining the Impacts of Recent UK Counter-Terrorist Legislation. *The British Journal of Criminology* 49, pp. 646–666.

Peach, Ceri, 2006. Muslims in the 2001 Census of England and Wales: Gender and economic disadvantage. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*. 29 (4) pp. 629-55.

Pelfrey, William V., 2005. Parallels between Community Oriented Policing and the War on Terrorism: Lessons Learned. *Criminal Justice Studies.* 18 (4) pp. 335-346.

Pendlebury, Richard and Stephen Wright, 2010. Could this finally be the year for justice for Stephen Lawrence? *Daily Mail.* 5 January. *http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1239768/Could-finallyyear-justice-Stephen-Lawrence.html* accessed 8.1.10.

Perry, Barbara, 2003. Anti-Muslim retaliatory violence following the 9/11 terrorist attacks. B. Perry (ed.) *Hate and bias crime. A reader.* New York: Routledge, pp. 183-201.

Perry, Barbara, 2005. A crime by any other name: the semantics of "hate". *Journal of Hate Studies,* 4 (1), pp. 121-37.

Phillips, Melanie, 2006. *Londonistan: How Britain Is Creating a Terror State Within.* London: Gibson Square.

Phillips, Melanie, 2008a. Lunacy at the Yard. *The Spectator.* 15 December. *http://www.spectator.co.uk/melaniephillips/3088576/ lunacy-at-the-yard.thtml* accessed 4.8.09.

Phillips, Melanie, 2008b. *Master of Islamist doublespeak*. The Australian, 3 March. *http://www.melaniephillips.com/articles-new/?p=570* accessed 23.4.08.

Phillips, Richard, 2008. Standing together: the Muslim Association of Britain and the anti-war movement. *Race & Class* 50 (2) pp.101-113.

Pierce, Gareth, 2008. Was it like this for the Irish? Gareth Pierce on the position of Muslims in Britain. *London Review of Books.* 10 April.

Pipes, Daniel, 2003. *Militant Islam Reaches America.* London: W.W. Norton & Company.

Pipes, Daniel, 2007. My debate with London mayor. www.danielpipes.org. http://www.danielpipes.org/blog/2007/01/mydebate-with-london-mayor-ken-livingstone.html accessed 19.2.09.

Poole, Elizabeth, 2000. Framing Islam: an analysis of newspaper coverage of Islam in the British press, in Kai Hafez, ed. *Islam and the mass media: fragmented images in a globalizing world* Cresskill: Hampton Press, pp. 157-179.

Poole, Elizabeth, 2002. *Reporting Islam: Media Representations of British Muslims.* London: I.B.Taurus.

Poole, Elizabeth, 2006. The Effects of September 11 and the War in Iraq on British Newspaper Coverage. In: Poole, Elizabeth and John E. Richardson, eds., *Muslims and the News Media*. London: I.B. Taurus, pp. 96-97.

Poole, Elizabeth, and John Richardson, eds., 2006. *Muslims and the News Media*. London: I.B. Taurus.

Poynting, Scott and Victoria Mason, 2006. Tolerance, Freedom, Justice and Peace? Britain, Australia and Anti-Muslim Racism since 11 September 2001. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 27, pp. 365-91.

Poynting, Scott and Victoria Mason, 2007. The resistible rise of Islamophobia: Anti-Muslim racism in the UK and Australia before 11 September 2001. *Journal of Sociology*, 43 (1), pp. 61-86.

Quilliam Foundation, 2008. Pulling Together to Defeat Terror. Policy document. April. http://www.quilliamfoundation.org/images/stories/ pdfs/pulling-together-to-defeat-terror.pdf accessed 29.8.09.

Quilliam Foundation, 2009. Press release: Quilliam trains over 1,000 public sector workers. 23 December.

Qutb, Sayyid, 1990. *Milestones.* Indianapolis: American Trust Publications.

Rai, Milan, 2006. *7/7: The London Bombings, Islam & The Iraq War.* London: Pluto Press.

Ramadan, Tariq, 1999. *To Be A European Muslim.* Leicester: The Islamic Foundation.

Ramadan, Tariq, 2004. *Western Muslims and the Future of Islam.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ramadan, Tariq, 2005. The Global Ideology of Fear or the Globalisation of the Israel Syndrome. Online article. http://www.tariqramadan.com/article.php3?id_article= 523&lang=en accessed 13.9.09.

Rehman, J., 2007. Islam, "War on Terror" and the Future of Muslim Minorities in the United Kingdom: Dilemmas of Multiculturalism in the Aftermath of the London Bombings. *Human Rights Quarterly* 29, pp. 831-878, .

Reiner, Robert, 2000. 2nd ed. *The Politics of the Police.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Robert, Na'ima, R., 2005. From My Sister's Lips. London: Bantam.

Roberts, Laura, 2010. 'Lone wolf' BNP member jailed for 11 years for building up explosives arsenal. *Daily Telegraph.* 16 January. http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/newstopics/politics/bnp/6996980/ Lone-wolf-BNP-member-jailed-for-11-years-for-building-upexplosives-arsenal.html accessed 16.1.10.

Roy, Olivier, 2004. *Globalised Islam: The Search for a New Ummah.* London: Hurst.

Rushdie, Salman, The Satanic Verses, London: Viking, 1988.

Saggar, Shamit, 2009. *Pariah Politics: Understanding Western Radical Islamism and What Should be Done.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Said, Edward, 1995. *Orientalism: Western Conceptions of the Orient.* London: Penguin.

Said, Edward W., 1997. Covering Islam. London: Vintage.

Said, Tazeen, 2004. The Impact of Anti Terrorism Powers on the British Muslim Population. London: Liberty. *www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/resources/policy-papers/index.shtml* accessed 3.8.09.

Sardar, Ziauddin, 2004. *Desperately Seeking Paradise*. London:Granta Sayyid, S., and Abdoolkarim Vakil (eds.), 2010. *Thinking Through Islamophobia* London: Hurst.

Scarman, Lord, 1982. *The Scarman Report: The Brixton Disorders 10-12 April, 1981.* London: Pelican.

Scott, J, 1990. A Matter of Record. Cambridge: Polity.

Scraton, Phil, 2002. In the Name of a Just War. *In:* Phil Scraton, ed., *Beyond September 11: an Anthology of Dissent.* London: Pluto Press, pp. 216–233.

Searchlight, 2010. *Hope not hate website. http://www.hopenothate.org.uk/?page=home* accessed 16.1.10.

Shadjareh, Massoud, 2004. Whose rights are they anyway? Reaching a critical understanding of human rights-speak in the 21st century. *In:* British Council ed., *Do human rights travel?* London: British Council, pp. 26-41.

Sharp, Douglas, 2002. Policing after Macpherson: some experiences of Muslim police officers. *In:* Basia Spalek, ed., *Islam, Crime and Criminal Justice.* Cullompton: Devon. pp. 76-93.

Sheridan, Lorraine, 2006. Islamophobia pre and post September | 1th 2001. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21, pp. 317-336.

Sheridan, Lorraine, and North, A.C., 2004. Representations of Islam and Muslims in psychological publications. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 14, pp. 147-157.

Smyth, Marie and Jeroen Gunning, 2007. The abuse of research. Guardian comment, 13 February. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/ politics/2007/feb/13/thinktanks.uksecurity* accessed 3.6.09.

Sookhdeo, Patrick, 2006. The Schools That Divide the Nation. *London Evening Standard*, 14 September, p. 15.

Sookhdeo, Patrick, 2004. *Understanding Islamic Terrorism.* Pewsey: Isaac Publishing.

Souhami, A., 2007. Understanding Institutional Racism: the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry and the police service reaction in: *Policing beyond Macpherson: Issues in policing, race and society.* Devon: Willan pp 66-87.

Spalek, Basia, 2002. Religious diversity, British Muslims, crime and victimisation. *In:* Basia Spalek, ed., *Islam, Crime and Criminal Justice.* Cullompton: Devon. pp. 50-71.

Spalek, Basia, 2005. Muslims and the Criminal Justice System in: T.Choudhury (ed) Muslims in the UK: policies for engaged citizens Budapest: Open Society Institute, 253-340.

Spalek, Basia, 2006. Disconnection and Exclusion: pathways to radicalisation ? in: T. Abbas (ed) *Islamic Political Radicalism* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Spalek, Basia, 2005. British Muslims and Community Safety post-September 11th. *Community Safety Journal.* 4(2) pp. 12-20.

Spalek, Basia, and El-Hassan, Salah, 2007. Muslim Converts in Prison. *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice* Vol. 46 (2) pp. 99-114.

Spalek, Basia, and Imtoul, A., 2007. 'Hard' Approaches to Community Engagement in the UK and Australia: Muslim communities and counter-terror responses. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs* Vol. 27 (2).

Spalek, Basia and Lambert, Robert, 2008. Muslim Communities, Counter-terrorism and Counter-radicalisation: a critically reflective approach to engagement. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice.* 36 (4) pp. 257-270.

Spalek, Basia and Lambert, Robert, 2007. Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Muslim Community Engagement post 9/11. *Social Justice and Criminal Justice conference papers* Centre for Crime & Justice Studies, Kings College, London. July, pp. 202-215.

Spalek, Basia, El-Awa, Salwa, and McDonald, Liza Z., 2008. *Police-Muslim Engagement and Partnerships for the Purposes of Counterterrorism: and Examination.* Summary report. 18 November. University of Birmingham. *http://muslimsafetyforum.org/docs/ summary%20report%20ct%20police%20community%20partner ship%20bham* accessed 2.2.09.

Sparrow, Andrew and Paul Owen, 2010. Minister: ethnic minorities 'no longer automatically disadvantaged'. *The Guardian*. 14 January. http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/jan/14/john-denhamracism-ethnic-minorities accessed 16.1.10.

Standing, Edmund, 2009. *The BNP and the Online Fascist Network* London: Centre for Social Cohesion.

Stokes, Paul, 2006. Islam is a wicked, vicious faith, BNP leader tells court. *The Telegraph*, 26 January. http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/ uknews/1508787/Islam-is-a-wicked-viciousfaith-BNP-leader-tellscourt.html accessed 23.11.09.

Sughra, A., 2009. *Seen and Not Heard: Voices of Young British Muslims*. Policy Research Centre. Leicester: Islamic Foundation.

Suleiman, Yasir, 2009. *Contextualising Islam in Britain: Exploratory perspectives*. Cambridge: HRH Prince Alwaleed Bin Talal Centre of Islamic Studies, University of Cambridge, in association with the Universities of Exeter and Westminster.

Sylvester, R & Thompson, A. 2007. Dr Bari - Government Stoking Muslim Tension *Daily Telegraph* 12 November.

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/main.jhtml?xml=/news/2007/ 11/10/nbari110.xml accessed 28.9.09.

Tamimi, Azzam, 2001. *Rachid Ghannouchi: a Democrat within Islam.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Tamimi, Azzam, 2002. Human Rights – Islamic & Secular Perspectives. *In: The Quest for Sanity: Reflections on September 1 / and the Aftermath*. London: Muslim Council of Britain, pp. 229-236.

Taseer, Aatish, 2005. A British Jihadist: An interview with Hassan Butt. *Prospect.* August, pp. 18 – 24.

Taylor, Rebecca, 2008. Rock against Racism's 30th Anniversary: interview with Matthew Collins. *Time Out.* 25 March.

Thiel, Darren, 2009. Policing Terrorism: A Review of the Evidence. London: The Police Foundation.

Thorne, John and Hannah Stuart, 2008. *Islam on Campus: A survey of UK student opinions* London: Centre for Social Cohesion.

Tibawi, A. L., 2000. English-Speaking Orientalists. *In:* A. L. MACFIE, ed., *Orientalism: A Reader.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, pp. 57 – 78.

Tilly, Charles, 2003. *The Politics of Collective Violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Times online, 2007. Policy Exchange apology to Dr Mohammad Abdul Bari. 17 December: *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/ uk/article3059836.ece* accessed 23.8.09.

Toynbee, Polly, 1997. In Defence of Islamophobia *Independent*, 23 October.

Travis, Alan, 2008. Officials think UK's Muslim population has risen to 2m *The Guardian*, 8 April *http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2008/ apr/08/population.islam* accessed 29.11.09.

Travis, Alan, Clare Dyer, and Michael White, 2005. Britain 'sliding into police state' *The Guardian*, 28 January.

Ulph, Stephen, 2004. Londonistan. *Terrorism Monitor*. Jamestown Foundation 2 (4) 26 February. *http://jamestown.org/terrorism/news/ article.php?issue_id=2914* accessed 3.8.08.

Verkaik, Robert, 2005. Rise in race crimes 'due to war on terror'. *Independent*, 18 January. Versi, Ahmed J., 2006. Interview with Sir Ian Blair, Commissioner, Metropolitan Police. *Muslim News.* 29 September, pp. 4 - 5.

Vertovec, Steven, 2002. Islamophobia and Muslim Recognition in Britain; in Y. Haddad ed, *Muslims in the West: From Sojourners to Citizens* Oxford: Oxford University Press. Vidino, Lorenzo, 2005. The Muslim Brotherhood's Conquest of Europe. *Middle East Quarterly* Winter 12 (1). http://www.meforum.org/687/the-muslim-brotherhoods-conquest-of-europe accessed 10.9.09.

Vidino, Lorenzo, 2009. Europe's New Security Dilemma. *Washington Quarterly.* Centre for Strategic and Internal Studies. October 32 (4) pp. 61-75.

Ware, John, 2009. Panorama's Faith, Hate and Charity: standing by the allegations. Guardian Organ Grinder blog.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/organgrinder/2009/mar/03/panora ma-stands-by-charity-allegations accessed 3.8.09.

Weir, Stuart, 2006. *Unequal Britain: Human Rights as a Route to Social Justice.* London: Politicos.

Werbner, Pnina, 2000. Divided Loyalties, Empowered Citizenship? Muslims in Britain. *Citizenship Studies.* 4 (3) pp. 307-324.

Werbner, Pnina, 2005. Islamophobia: Incitement to religious hatred – legislating for a new fear? *Anthropology Today.* 21 (1) pp. 5-9.

Whine, Michael, 2005a. The Penetration of Islamist Ideology in Britain. *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology* | Hudson Institute.

Whine, Michael, 2005b. The Advance of the Muslim Brotherhood in the UK. *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology* 2 Hudson Institute pp. 30-40.

Wight, Colin, 2003. The Agent–Structure Problem and Institutional Racism. *Political Studies*. 51 pp. 706–721.

Winnett, Robert and Leppard, David, 2004. Britain's secret plans to win Muslim hearts and minds. *Times Online*. 30 May. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/article436135.ece*

accessed 2.8.09.

Winnett, Robert and Leppard, David, 2005. Young Muslims and Extremism. Times Online. 10 July. *http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/article542420.ece* accessed 3.6.09.

Wolfendale, Jessica, 2006. Terrorism, Security, and the Threat of Counterterrorism. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*. 29 pp. 753-770.

Yacoob, Salma, 2007. British Islamic Political Radicalism. in. Abbas, Tahir, ed. *Islamic Political Radicalism: A European Perspective.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. pp. 279-294.

Yaqoob, Salma, 2009. Tackling the 'cancer' of BNP fascism. *Asian News*, 16 July. *http://www.theasiantoday.com/ article.aspx?articleId=1469* accessed 19.10.09.

Younge, Gary, 2009. I've changed my mind about racism. *Guardian cif*, 28 December. *http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2009/dec/28/goodbye-noughties-race-relations* accessed 30.12.09.

Yusuf, Khalida, 2006. *A Counter-Productive Extradition Policy – The Effect of the Babar Ahmad Case in Radicalising Muslims in Britain.* London: Free Babar Ahmad Campaign.



www.exeter.ac.uk/emrc



